Examining Associations of Community Food Environments with Individual Diet Quality and Body Weight Status of Canadian Children

by

Shannon Sim

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Epidemiology

School of Public Health University of Alberta

© Shannon Sim, 2019

Abstract

Reducing the prevalence of unhealthy eating is an important challenge to address in order to reduce the burden of obesity and chronic disease. Approximately 1.6 million or one-third of Canadian children and youth are overweight or obese, and about 70% of children and youth consume less than five servings of vegetables and fruit daily. It is being increasingly recognized that food environments in which children live influence their diets and body weights. However, study findings are inconsistent, partly due to different approaches to measure the food environment. In addition, no study has examined the combined effect of the absolute and relative densities of unhealthy food outlets on diet quality and body weight status in Canadian children.

The objective of this thesis was to examine the associations of community food environments with individual diet quality and body weight status in a sample of Canadian school-aged children. The specific objectives were to: 1) assess which food environment indicator and geographic area is better able to capture associations with individual diet quality and body weight status, and 2) use the better performing indicator and geographic area to assess whether the community food environment affects individual diet quality and body weight status.

These objectives were addressed using data from Raising healthy Eating and Active Living Kids in Alberta (REAL Kids Alberta), a population-based survey of grade 5 students in Alberta, in addition to food retailer data provided by the Environmental Public Health Department of Alberta Health Services.

In the first study of this thesis, comparison of two food environment indicators revealed that the novel indicator, which considers the types of foods sold or served at an establishment, was better able to capture associations with diet and weight status compared to the indicator

ii

based on store type. When geographic areas were compared, 1600m buffers around schools were better able to capture associations compared to smaller geographic areas. In the second study of this thesis, attending a school in an area with a higher relative density (proportion) of unhealthy food outlets was associated with lower diet quality, predominantly in areas where the absolute density (number) of unhealthy food outlets was also high.

These findings provide evidence that the community food environment plays a role in the development of unhealthy eating and increased body weights of school-aged children. Interventions to reduce unhealthy eating and excess weights may be most effective in areas with a higher number of unhealthy food outlets, specifically where there are few alternative healthy options available. The present findings also support the need for more precise assessment of the community food environment.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Shannon Sim. Chapters 2 and 3 of this thesis were written in collaboration with P.J. Veugelers, C.I.J. Nykiforuk, R. Prowse, and K. Maximova. No part of this thesis has been previously published, other than in abstract form.

The studies conducted in this thesis were part of the Raising healthy Eating and Active Living Kids in Alberta (REAL Kids Alberta) study, which received ethics approval from the Human Research Ethics Board (REB) of the University of Alberta.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincerest thanks to my supervisor, Dr. Katerina Maximova, for her support, encouragement, and guidance throughout this degree. Katerina, thank you for being patient with me, for teaching me, and for guiding me, both personally and professionally. You are truly an inspiration and I feel extremely fortunate to have been taught by someone who loves epidemiology as much as you do. I would also like to thank my committee member, Dr. Paul Veugelers for his consultation, feedback, and insights, which have been invaluable to me. I would also like to extend my thanks to my external examiner, Dr. Sentil Senthilselvan, for his time and commitment.

Thank you to the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) and the University of Alberta Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research (FGSR), who supported this graduate research through the Frederick Banting and Charles Best Canada Graduate Scholarship - Master's award, and the Walter H. Johns Graduate Fellowship.

Participant data for this project was from the Raising healthy Eating and Active Living Kids in Alberta (REAL Kids Alberta) survey. Thank you to all grade five students of the participated schools and their parents for their participation in the survey, the evaluation assistants and school health facilitators for their contribution during data collection and processing, and Megan Purcell and Connie Lu for leading the data collection, management, and validation. The REAL Kids Alberta is funded by a contract with Alberta Health and the present study was further funded through a Canada Research Chair in Population Health, an Alberta Research Chair in Nutrition and Disease Prevention and an Alberta Innovates Health Solutions Scholarship to PJV. All interpretations and opinions in the present study are those of the authors. Food environment data was provided by the Policy, Location and Access in Community Environments (PLACE) Research Lab and the Alberta Nutrition Report Card on Healthy Food Environments for Children and Youth. I would also like to thank Candace Nykiforuk, Rachel Prowse, Freja McGetrick, Alexa Ferdinands, Darcy Reynard and John Paul Ekwaru for their contributions to this research.

To my friends (who are also fellow students), I feel so incredibly grateful to have went through this journey with you. Thank you for supporting me and encouraging me throughout this entire process. To my husband and best friend, Matthew, thank you for your patience, unconditional love, and support. I could not have done this without you by my side. To my very big family, thank you for always cheering me on. Lastly, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my parents, who have always encouraged me and believed in me.

Table of Contents

Chapter I: Introduction	1
1.1 Healthy Eating, Overweight and Obesity, and Chronic Disease	1
1.1.1 Overweight, Obesity, and Chronic Disease Burden in Canada and Globally	1
1.1.2 Current Trends of Overweight and Obesity in Canada and the United States	3
1.1.3 Components of Healthy Diets and Canadian Health Eating Trends	5
1.2 Introduction to Food Environments	7
1.2.1 Individual Change in Supportive vs. Un-supportive Environments	7
1.2.2 Defining the Food Environment	9
1.2.3 International and Canadian Government Strategies that call for Change in the Foo Environment	d 9
1.3 Measurement Methods	12
1.3.1 Measuring the Community Food Environment	12
1.3.2 Measuring Diet Intake and Diet Quality	15
1.3.3 Measuring Overweight and Obesity	18
1.4 Associations of Community Food Environments with Diet and Overweight and Obesit	ty 20
1.4.1 Studies Examining Adults	21
1.4.2 Studies Examining Children	27
1.5 Objectives	35
1.6 Structure of Thesis	35
1.7 References	36
Chapter 2: Capturing associations of community food environments with diet quality and we status: A suggested approach to standardize methodologies	eight 44
2.1 Introduction	44
2.2.0 Methods	46
2.2.1 Study Design and Participants	46
2.2.2 Outcome of Interest: Diet Quality, Vegetables and Fruit Consumption, and Body Weight Status	47
2.2.3 Exposure of Interest: Community Food Environments	47
2.2.4 Statistical Analysis	50
2.3 Results	51
2.4 Interpretation	55

2.5 Conclusion
2.6 References
Chapter 3: Associations of Absolute and Relative Density of 'Choose Least Often' Food Outlets with Diet Quality and Weight Status of Canadian Children
3.1 Introduction
3.2.0 Methods
3.2.1 Study Design and Participants
3.2.2 Outcome of Interest: Diet Quality, Vegetable and Fruit Consumption, and Body Weight Status
3.2.3 Exposure of Interest: Community Food Environments
3.2.4 Statistical Analysis
3.3 Results
3.4 Interpretation
3.5 Conclusion
3.6 References
4.0 Discussion
4.1 Summary
4.2 Embedding in Existing Literature
4.3 Strengths and Limitations
4.4 General Implications 100
4.5 Conclusion
4.6 References
Bibliography
Appendix A: Food Retailer Classifications for CMO/CS/CLO and mRFEI 116
Appendix B: Fully adjusted associations of %CLO and #CLO food outlets with dietary and weight status outcomes within 1600m of schools in the REAL Kids Alberta Study (n=851) 117

List of Tables

Table 2.1		
	Characteristics of grade 5 students residing in Edmonton and Calgary participating in the 2014 REAL Kids Alberta study (n=851)	59
Table 2.2	A verse a shaply to and relative densities of food outlat tyras within each	60
	geographic area	00
Table 2.3	A service of wheelther free densite with distand he drawsisht enternance	61
	according to mRFEI and CMO/CS/CLO within 1600m of schools	01
Table 2.4		()
	Associations of absolute and relative density of CLO outlets with diet- and weight- related outcomes for different geographic areas (buffers)	62
Table 2.5		
	Associations of absolute and relative density of CLO outlets with diet- and weight- related outcomes for standard geographic areas/boundaries (FSA	64
T 11 2 1	and CT)	
Table 3.1	Characteristics of grade 5 students residing in Edmonton or Calgary, 2014	84
	REAL Kids Alberta study (n=851) and 1600m food outlet availability	
Table 3.2	around schools	
	Associations of absolute and relative density of CLO food outlets within 1600m of schools with dist and weight status in the REAL Kids Alberta	86
	study (n=851)	
Table 3.3	Associations of shaply to density of all food outlats and relative density of	07
	CLO food outlets within 1600m of schools with diet and weight status in	0/
Table 2 1	the REAL Kids Alberta study (n=851)	
1 able 5.4	Associations of %CLO with diet quality and weight status for each level of	88
Table 2.5	absolute exposure to #CLO outlets within 1600m buffers around schools	
1 able 5.5	Associations of %CLO with diet quality and weight status for each level of	89
	absolute exposure to #Total outlets within 1600m buffers around schools	

List of Figures

Figure 3.1		
Figure 3.2	Number of CLO food outlets within 1600m of schools in Edmonton	83
	Number of CLO food outlets within 1600m of schools in Calgary	84
	Number of CLO food outlets within footm of schools in Calgary	84

List of Abbreviations

BMI	Body Mass Index
CHMS	Canadian Health Measures Survey
WHO	World Health Organization
DALY	Disability-Adjusted Life-Years
CCHS	Canadian Community Health Survey
SES	Socioeconomic Status
NHANES	National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
REAL Kids Alberta	Raising healthy Eating and Active Living Kids in Alberta
PAQ-C	Physical Activity Questionnaire for Children
FFQ	Food Frequency Questionnaire
YAQ	Harvard Food Frequency Questionnaire for Children and Youth
NAICS	North American Industry Classification System
mRFEI	Modified Retail Food Environment Index
CMO/CS/CLO	Choose Most Often/Choose Sometimes/Choose Least Often
СМО	Choose Most Often
CS	Choose Sometimes
CLO	Choose Least Often
FSA	Forward Sortation Area
СТ	Census Tract
Y-HEI	Youth Healthy Eating Index
DQI-I	Diet Quality Index-International
LR	Likelihood Ratio
ICC	Intraclass Correlation Coefficient
AIC	Akaike Information Criterion
GIS	Geographic Information Systems
FFR	Fast Food Restaurant

Chapter I: Introduction

1.1 Healthy Eating, Overweight and Obesity, and Chronic Disease

Over the past 30 years, the prevalence of overweight and obesity has dramatically increased both in Canada and globally, constituting a pandemic. Body Mass Index (BMI) is a measure of weight status, and is calculated by dividing an individual's weight in kilograms by his or her height in square metres. Overweight among adults is defined as a BMI between 25 to <30, and obese is defined as a BMI of 30 or more.¹ Overweight and obesity is a consequence of an enduring imbalance between energy intake and energy expenditure, and constitutes an established risk factor for a number of chronic conditions, including type 2 diabetes mellitus, high blood pressure, cardiovascular disease, stroke, osteoarthritis, and some forms of cancer.^{2–4} Together, these conditions present a major public health challenge. Please note: the discussion on disease burden, unhealthy eating, and obesity trends focuses on adults, as there is limited information available on children.

1.1.1 Overweight, Obesity, and Chronic Disease Burden in Canada and Globally

Excess body weight and consequent chronic diseases have placed an enormous burden on society. The 2012-2013 Canadian Health Measures Survey (CHMS) reported that 62% of Canadians were either overweight or obese, making up more than half of the Canadian population.⁵ In an assessment of premature mortality of Canadian adults, defined as death before age 65, researchers estimated that approximately 20% of all premature deaths in Canada are attributable to obesity.² In 2011, they estimated that 10,648 of the total 52,713 premature deaths were attributed to obesity.² The economic burden of overweight and obesity also warrants

consideration. The direct costs of overweight and obesity were estimated to be \$6 billion in 2006, making up 4.1% of all health expenditures. Overweight costed \$2 billion or approximately one-third of the direct costs, and obesity costed \$4 billion or two-thirds of the total direct costs.⁶ The indirect costs of overweight and obesity were estimated to be \$5 billion, with \$1.8 billion or 36% due to overweight, and \$3.2 billion or 64% due to obesity.⁶ This substantial demand on the health care system is due in part to the comorbidities of overweight and obesity, namely, type 2 diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, and cancer, among several others.^{6–8} The World Health Organization (WHO) reported that 88% of deaths in Canada are from chronic diseases.⁹ While more than one-fifth or 20% of Canadians live with a chronic condition,¹⁰ individuals who are overweight or obese are more likely to have a chronic condition than those in the normal weight status range.^{2,3,5} For instance, high blood pressure was more than two times more likely to occur in adults who were overweight or obese compared to those who were a normal weight in the 2012-2013 CHMS.⁵ A review examining the burden of obesity in Canada reported that a striking number of chronic conditions are attributable to obesity.² Most notably, 61% of all diabetes cases in men and 74% of all cases in women are attributable to obesity.²

In 2016, over half of the global population was classified as overweight or obese, thus highlighting the severity of this pandemic.¹¹ Four million deaths in 2015 were related to overweight and obesity, which made up more than 7% of deaths from all causes.⁷ Moreover, there were 120 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) attributable to overweight and obesity. The leading cause of overweight and obesity-related deaths was cardiovascular disease, followed by type 2 diabetes.⁷ Countries with middle-high sociodemographic index (SDI) experienced the greatest death rate (68.1 per 100,000 population) and the highest DALYs (1890 per 100,000 population), while high SDI countries had the lowest death rate (52.6 per 100,000)

and DALYs (1530 per 100,000). As previously mentioned, overweight and obesity serve as a precursor for chronic diseases, which ultimately lead to a larger disease burden. The WHO estimated that in 2016, 41 million or 71% of all deaths were attributable to various chronic diseases, making chronic disease a leading global cause of death. More specifically, cardiovascular disease constituted 44% (17.9 million) of all chronic disease deaths, cancer constituted 22% (9 million), chronic respiratory disease constituted 9% (3.8 million), and diabetes constituted 4% (1.6 million) of all chronic disease deaths.^{9,12}

1.1.2 Current Trends of Overweight and Obesity in Canada and the United States

The prevalence of overweight and obesity is rapidly increasing around the world, and both Canada and the United States are no exception. Physically measured height and weight data from the 1978/79 Canada Health Survey showed that 13.8% of Canadians were obese, and 49.2% of all Canadians were either overweight or obese at the time.³ Recent data from the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) – Nutrition revealed that 68% of men and 54% of women are overweight or obese, and together, 16.9 million or approximately 60% of Canadians are now overweight or obese.¹³ Further, the prevalence of obesity has increased two-fold since 1978/79, with 26.7% of Canadians now classified as obese. In terms of children and youth, approximately 1.6 million (31.5%) are overweight or obese.¹⁴ There is a clear variation in obesity prevalence between provinces, with Saskatchewan having the highest prevalence of obese people (45.9%), followed by Newfoundland and Labrador (38.9%). British Columbia has the lowest prevalence (21.4%) of obesity, followed by Quebec (23.1%).

Overweight and obesity prevalence varies for different subsets of the Canadian population. When considering both sexes together, overweight and obesity increases with age.¹³

However, the pattern is less consistent when considering males and females separately. For women, the prevalence of overweight and obesity consistently increases with age, but for men, the prevalence tends to remain steady from 45-64 years and onward.¹³ Obesity prevalence also differs according to the amount of area-level or neighbourhood deprivation. Neighbourhoods with the highest deprivation experience higher obesity prevalence compared to those with the least deprivation.⁴ For example, in Regina, Saskatchewan, 26% of people who reside in low socioeconomic status (SES) areas are obese, and only 14% of people who reside in high SES areas are obese.⁴ Associations of overweight and obesity with individual SES factors such as education and income, tend to differ between men and women. Women with less than high school education are more likely to have a higher BMI than women with higher levels of education, demonstrating a clear gradient in the association between education and overweight and obesity.^{3,4,15} While there is no evidence of a linear gradient for men¹⁵, those with high school graduation only tend to have a higher BMI than those with university education.^{3,4} In terms of income, women living on a lower income are more likely to be obese, while there is no clear association for men.³

The prevalence of adult obesity in the United States is approximately 39.8%, triumphing obesity prevalence in all other countries in the world.^{16,17} The prevalence of overweight and obesity together makes up more than 70% of the American population, and there are currently no signs of it slowing down.^{17,18} The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), which collects measured height and weight data from American adults, revealed that in 1960-62 the prevalence of obesity was 13.4% and by 2013-14 it had nearly tripled.¹⁹ At the same time, the prevalence of overweight was relatively stable, only increasing by ~1%.

As is the case in Canada, U.S. obesity prevalence varies with different subgroups of the population. In the U.S., obesity prevalence is lower among young adults (35.7%) compared to both middle-aged adults (42.8%) and older adults (41%), but it does not significantly differ by gender for each age group.¹⁶ However, when only comparing men and women without considering age group, women's prevalence (38.3%) is higher than men's (34.3%).²⁰ Education, income, and race have a more complex relationship with obesity prevalence. Similar to the pattern observed by Canadian researchers¹⁵, women in the U.S. with a lower household income are more likely to be obese than women with a high household income, but this association is not evident for men.²⁰ In regards to education, both women and men who have graduated college are less likely to be obese compared to those with high school graduation or less.²⁰ The associations between education, income, and obesity also vary across race.²⁰

1.1.3 Components of Healthy Diets and Canadian Health Eating Trends

Poor eating habits is a well-established risk factor for overweight and obesity, and the future development of chronic disease.^{3,4,21,22} Prior research confirms that diets high in energy-dense foods are associated with increased BMI, while consumption of healthy foods, such as vegetables and fruit, is associated with lower BMI and a lower likelihood of obesity.^{23–26} Canadians are increasingly reaching for nutrient-poor, energy-dense foods, as demonstrated by the rapid increase in obesity over the past 40 years.^{3,27}

Limiting consumption of energy-dense foods and drinks and increasing consumption of vegetables, fruit and whole grains, are emphasized as priorities for obesity and chronic disease prevention.²¹ These recommendations are reflected in Canada's Food Guide, the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Adults, and the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth.^{28–}

³⁰ Canada's Food Guide recommends regular consumption of vegetables, fruits, whole grains, and plant-based proteins such as beans and legumes, while limiting highly processed foods and beverages that consist of sodium, sugar, and saturated fats. It also recognizes that surrounding food environments play a role in what people consume. Both versions of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines categorize foods as 'Choose Most Often', 'Choose Sometimes' and 'Choose Least Often', based on the amount of total fat, saturated fat, sodium, sugar and fibre. Vegetables and fruit, whole grain products, and plant-based proteins are ranked as 'Choose Most Often', underlining the importance of having a diet rich in a variety of healthy foods.

Despite the recommendations presented in Canada's Food Guide, the overwhelming majority of Canadians do not comply with these recommendations. According to the 2016 CCHS, only 8.6 million or approximately 30% of Canadians aged 12 years or older reported consuming five or more servings of vegetables and fruit per day.^{31,32} Males were less likely to report consuming five servings of vegetables and fruit per day (22.9%) compared to females (36.9%), and the proportion of males consuming five servings per day decreased from 24.8% in 2015 to 22.9% in 2016.³³ Vegetables and fruit consumption was highest for males in the 12-17 age range (27.7%), and for females in the 35-49 age range (40.4%).³² Consumption patterns also differed by income and education levels. The proportion of individuals who reported consuming five servings of vegetables and fruit per day was highest for individuals with higher household incomes (33%). Additionally, those who completed post-secondary education were more likely to consume five servings of vegetables and fruit (31.7%) compared to those with less than post-secondary education (24.1%).³² Evidence from the CCHS also suggests that daily vegetables and fruit consumption varies across Canada. Only 18.3% of Newfoundland and Labrador residents

reported eating at least 5 servings of vegetables and fruit per day, while 38.4% of Quebec residents reported eating at least five servings.³²

Consumption of vegetables and fruit is low, and Canadians appear to be replacing healthy foods with high-fat, energy-dense diets.²¹ Approximately 62% of the Canadian diet consists of ready-to-go meals⁸, and of the respondents who completed the 2004 CCHS, 25.4% aged 19 and older reported consuming fast-food the day before being interviewed.³³ According to the 2014 Alberta Community Health Survey, 43.3% of those who reside in Calgary and 45.4% of those who reside in Edmonton reported eating at a restaurant or fast-food outlet between one and three times per week.³⁴ In addition to the abundance of individuals consuming restaurant and fast-food, snack foods account for 23% of adults' diets.³⁴

Many of the patterns observed for overweight and obesity, are complementary to vegetables and fruit consumption trends. For example, men and individuals with lower income and education levels tend to consume fewer vegetables and fruit and have a higher prevalence of obesity compared to women and individuals with higher income and education.^{3,4,13,32} This inverse relationship is plausible, as vegetables and fruit consumption is a proxy for healthy eating and overall diet quality.³⁵ Individuals with healthy eating habits consume fewer calories and have a lower likelihood of being overweight or obese.

1.2 Introduction to Food Environments

1.2.1 Individual Change in Supportive vs. Un-supportive Environments

People's food "choices" are influenced by their environments, and it is increasingly being recognized that surrounding food environments play an important role in the types of foods that

people choose and consume.³⁶⁻⁴⁰ The obesogenic environment refers to an environment that supports unhealthy choices such as consuming energy-dense food and drinks and maintaining sedentary behaviour. On the other hand, the leptogenic environment promotes healthy choices such as the consumption of vegetables and fruits and active lifestyles that includes moderate to vigorous physical activity.⁴¹ Traditional strategies to combat the increasing prevalence of obesity focus on individual change. These strategies include promoting dieting, calorie counting and encouraging healthy habits through public health messages.⁴² Non-traditional strategies include creating healthy environments that remove the illusion of choice from the individual. The obesogenic environment greatly affects individual "choices," and the environment often wins against individual reasoning.^{42,43} Many studies have observed associations between characteristically unhealthy food outlets, such as fast food restaurants and convenience stores, with increased BMI and poorer eating habits.^{37,40,44–47} The increasing number of fast food restaurants introduces ample opportunity for individuals to eat unhealthy high-calorie meals without consideration of the health consequences. Decisions essentially become subconscious.⁴³ Healthy choices are more likely to be made in supportive, leptogenic environments, where individuals are encouraged to make healthier choices that would otherwise be undermined in an obesogenic environment.^{4,21} Supportive environments are crucial in changing obesogenic behaviours. Without them, the system will continue to implement less-effective programs in an attempt to reduce obesity prevalence.^{12,42} The current approach to reducing obesity prevalence is reactionary; implementing prevention at a population level through modifications in the environment will not only proactively prevent and reduce obesity prevalence, but will also make the healthy choice the easy choice.

1.2.2 Defining the Food Environment

Food environments are defined as the social, economic, and physical factors that affect accessibility, availability and adequacy of food within geographic areas such as communities, and they are hypothesized to influence people's food purchasing behaviours, as well as their diets.⁴⁸ Glanz et al. proposed a foundational conceptual model of the nutrition (food) environment. They identify four main types of food environments that are hypothesized to influence eating behaviours.⁴⁹ First, the community nutrition environment refers to the availability and accessibility of food outlets within a geographic area. Second, the consumer nutrition environment refers to the availability of healthy food options in stores, the price and promotion of foods, as well as the availability of nutritional information. Third, the organizational nutrition environment examines the food source availability for defined groups of people, such as the home, work or school environment. Last, the information environment considers media and advertising of certain foods and food sources. The information environment is assumed to influence the community, organizational, and consumer nutrition environments, and individual sociodemographic factors are hypothesized to modify the relationship between these nutrition environments and individual eating patterns. Of the 4 outlined nutrition environments, community and consumer nutrition environments were highlighted as research priorities.⁴⁹ This thesis will focus on the community nutrition environment.

1.2.3 International and Canadian Government Strategies that call for Change in the Food Environment

Creation and implementation of food and nutrition policies are necessary in order to alter the national and global increase in unhealthy eating, overweight and obesity, and chronic disease. The WHO Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases 2013-2020 underscores the importance of creating health-promoting environments.⁵⁰ Multiple aspects of the food environment are mentioned as areas for change. Suggestions include improving the nutritional quality of food (e.g. reduce the level of sodium in food and eliminate trans fats), engaging food retailers to improve the availability and affordability of healthy food, promotion of healthy foods in public institutions, implementation of taxes to discourage the consumption of unhealthy foods, and promotion of standardized nutrition labelling.⁵⁰ Countries that successfully implement policies and programs to encourage health-promoting environments will contribute to the WHO's voluntary global targets. These targets include a 30% relative reduction in the mean population intake of sodium, a 25% reduction in the prevalence of high blood pressure, and a pause in the increasing prevalence of diabetes and obesity.⁵⁰ Additionally, health-promoting environments will help reduce the prevalence of noncommunicable disease risk factors and premature mortality.⁵⁰

Health Canada's Healthy Eating Strategy also aims to create environments that promote making the healthy choice the easy choice for individuals. It proposes that all sectors, including health professionals, government, industry, non-government organizations, and academia, must work together to change the food environment.⁵¹ Specific objectives proposed in the eating strategy include improving healthy eating information, strengthening food labels, improving the nutritional quality of foods, protecting vulnerable populations, and increasing access and availability of healthy foods.⁵¹ Health Canada offers a number of strategies to implement these objectives. First, they pledge to revise Canada's Food Guide to include accurate and reliable dietary advice; this pledge has been met with the release of the new Canada's Food Guide in 2019. Second, they propose to prohibit the commercial marketing of unhealthy foods to children.

Third, vitamin-rich foods such as vegetables and fruit will be marked with health claims to promote consumption. Fourth, accurate and standardized food labels and front of package labeling for unhealthy foods that may be high in sugar, sodium and saturated fats will be employed. Fifth, Health Canada promises to reduce the amount of sodium in prepackaged foods, develop targets for restaurants and fast-food establishments to reduce sodium content, and to completely remove industrially-produced trans fat from all foods. Lastly, they propose the Nutrition North Canada program to increase access and availability of healthy foods to northern communities.⁵¹ Successful implementation of these strategies will inevitably change the food environment in Canada.

The 2018 Alberta Nutrition Report Card on Food Environments for Children and Youth examines and assesses multiple aspects of the food environment across Alberta.⁵² There were two key indicators assessing Alberta's community food environment: 1) the high availability of healthy food vendors, and 2) the limited availability of unhealthy food vendors. Both indicators received a poor letter grade, as the benchmarks were not met, and there was no policy or program currently in place. Report Card recommendations to improve these indicators focus on zoning by-laws to change the distribution of food outlets and stores, as well as working with municipalities to implement healthy 500m zones around schools. They also suggest tax incentives for new businesses to offer healthy foods, ensuring healthy food options at food trucks, and changing zoning policies to encourage healthy food outlets, thereby improving food environments.⁵²

1.3 Measurement Methods

1.3.1 Measuring the Community Food Environment

Accurately measuring the community food environment (hereafter food environment) is challenging. Although a plethora of research on food environments has recently emerged, indicators are used inconsistently, and therefore, results reported across studies are not consistent or comparable.^{53,54} Factors that affect food environment measurement include: food environment measurement (e.g., density, proximity, and relative density); geographic area (e.g., varying buffer sizes and geographic area boundaries); food outlet lists (i.e., health inspector food outlet lists are more accurate than commercial business data); food retailer classification (i.e., the way food outlets are categorized as a particular outlet type, or as healthy/unhealthy).

Standardized and validated food environment measures are lacking, and a gold standard does not currently exist.^{46,53,55,56} Studies have examined both objective and perceived measures of accessibility and availability of food outlet types, but objective food environments measured via geographic information systems (GIS) are the most common. These measures include proximity, absolute density, and relative density.^{53,57} Proximity refers to the distance from an individual's residence (or school/work) to the nearest food outlet of a given type, such as the nearest fast food restaurant, supermarket, or convenience store. Absolute density is measured as the concentration or count of a certain type of food outlet within a geographic area, or the count of each outlet type per population. Lastly, relative density refers to the relative availability or variety of different food outlet types or categories (such as healthy/less healthy) in a geographic area.^{38,57,58} While these measures might appear straight forward, there is no standardized indicator or method; therefore, they have not been consistently implemented, leading to variability in findings. For example, measures of relative density employed in the literature have

examined the proportion of fast food outlets,^{59–62} convenience stores,^{60,62} grocery stores,^{60,62} healthy outlets,^{37,61,63–65} and health-harming outlets,⁶⁶ in relation to all food outlets. Ratio measures have also been used in the literature, and generally examine the ratio of unhealthy food retailers to healthy food retailers or vice versa.^{40,67} The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) Modified Retail Food Environment Index (mRFEI) is a measure of relative density that assesses the proportion of healthy food outlets relative to both healthy and less healthy food outlets in a specified geographic area.⁶⁸

 $mRFEI (\%) = \frac{\# Healthy Food Retailers}{\# Healthy Food Retailers + \# Less Healthy Food Retailers} x 100$

Healthy food outlets include supermarkets, supercentres, and produce stores, and less healthy food outlets include convenience stores and fast food restaurants. A low percentage score indicates an overall less healthy food environment, with fewer healthy retailers, and a high score indicates an overall healthier food environment.⁶⁹

Although choosing the 'right' food environment measure is a challenge in and of itself, the selection of a geographic area to calculate absolute and relative density measures also pose difficulties. The most common way to capture the absolute and relative density of an individual's food environment is through the use of buffer distances, but some studies have instead used standard geographic areas/boundaries, such as census tracts, block groups, and forward sortation areas (FSA).^{45,53} These geographic areas are meant to act as a proxy for the surrounding community food environment. When considering all food environment literature reviewed for this thesis, buffers were the most common way to capture an individual's neighbourhood; however, standard boundaries are used more frequently in the Canadian context.^{54,57} A recent systematic review reported that buffer distances examined in the literature ranged from 100m to 2 miles, highlighting the lack of consensus on which buffer sizes are relevant to residents.^{53,70} Generally, studies that examined buffers larger than 1 mile were more likely to report associations in the hypothesized direction, indicating that the broader neighbourhood may be a more important predictor of obesity.⁴⁶

Food retailer lists are essential to construct food environment measures, but obtaining a validated list is often not possible. Some researchers rely on non-validated commercial business data lists available for purchase from private companies, while others succeed in obtaining a more reliable list from government agencies (e.g., health inspector's list).⁴⁶ Business data is known to be wrought with inconsistencies; using this data without any type of validation may lead to misclassification of exposure.^{71,72} For instance, if a food retailer list is incomplete or inaccurate, we are not able to capture the full picture, leading to an inaccurate depiction of the food environment. Obtaining a food retailer list from the government is not always possible, so steps should be taken to establish validity if relying on commercial business data. For example, Polsky et al. validated a subset of their restaurant list against a public health inspector's list to ensure agreement.⁵⁹

A final factor that is known to influence the construction of food environment measures is the classification of food outlet types. To classify retailers, most studies have taken advantage of the list of retailer types provided by the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS); however, some ambiguity exists. NAICS codes classify retailers by type of economic activity.⁷³ Classifying food retailers with NAICS codes relies on broad categorization based on store type, which may not accurately capture whether a food outlet is healthy or unhealthy, potentially leading to misclassification food outlets. In addition, grocery store and supermarket

criteria are difficult to differentiate, and there is no available code for fast food restaurants, leading to improvised definitions.^{46,54,73} Alternatively, some studies do not cite any standardized list for classifying food outlets. For instance, a recent Canadian study used a public health inspector's list and retained the outlet definitions used in the original database. Food outlets were then classified as 'Less Healthy Food Retail' and 'Healthier Food Retail' based on definitions created by the researchers.⁷⁴ Without consideration of the types of foods sold and served at an establishment, the opportunity for misclassification of food retailers is ample.

1.3.2 Measuring Diet Intake and Diet Quality

An increasing number of studies are examining the relationship between community food environments and diet. Accurately assessing people's dietary intake, however, is a challenge: all dietary assessment methods are based on self-report and thus subjective and prone to random and systematic error.⁷⁵

Vegetables and fruit consumption is commonly used as a dietary outcome in food environment research.^{53,76,77} Brief screening instruments (screeners) that are usually comprised of one or two questions are a common way to obtain this information, but food frequency questionnaires (FFQ), 24-hour dietary recalls, and food diaries/records are also used. Capturing this information through screeners, may introduce systematic error, as vegetables and fruit are likely to be consumed through many food and drink avenues, making it difficult to quantify through one or two questions. Brief screeners may be more appropriate in other situations, such as when we are interested in assessing number of times fast food is consumed per week, or the number of soft drinks consumed per week.⁷⁶ While vegetables and fruit screeners are the most commonly used in food environment research, 24-hour dietary recalls and FFQs provide more insight into dietary intake and patterns.^{53,70,76} The 24-hour dietary recall is a self-report, open-ended questionnaire that collects dietary data from participants over the past 24 hours, and may be administered by a trained interviewer or through computer-based technologies. Face-to-face interviews provide comprehensive dietary data, but are expensive to administer, time-consuming, and may introduce recall bias and/or interviewer bias.⁷⁵ Alternatively, computer-based technologies are less time-consuming, cheaper, and collect equivalent dietary data.^{75,78} FFQs are also self-report questionnaires, but they are closed-ended, and they estimate the usual intake of a specified list of foods. FFQs can be self-administered or conducted by a trained interviewer, but regardless of administration, they are a less time- and cost-intensive alternative to 24-hour dietary recalls.⁷⁵ Intake data collected through FFQs is known to be systematically under and over reported, as respondents are required to reflect on food consumption over a long time period. Additionally, if interviewers administer FFQs, there is potential for interviewer bias to enter the study.

A recent systematic review of dietary assessment methods in food environment research assessed 51 articles, and reported that diet intake methods used in the literature included 24-hour recalls, food records, food frequency questionnaires and screeners.⁷⁶ Of the studies that used comprehensive instruments to collect diet information, such as FFQs or 24-hour recalls, 76% reported associations in the hypothesized direction. Of the studies that used screener items, only 55% had results in the expected direction. This review stressed the importance of choosing a more detailed and validated diet intake instrument such as a 24-hour recall, when examining associations with the food environment. Measurement error in dietary instruments warrants

important consideration, especially in a field where researchers frequently report null and mixed results.

Diet quality is a summary measure of various aspects of the diet and therefore relies on comprehensive assessment methods, i.e. FFQs and 24-hour dietary recalls. Although many studies examine associations between the food environment and consumption of single food items and food groups, some studies use diet quality indices.⁷⁶ The Healthy Eating Index (HEI) and Diet Quality Index-International (DQI-I) are two diet quality indices based on both food group and nutrient intakes.⁷⁹ The HEI provides both a single summary score of an individual's overall diet quality based on his or her food and nutrient intake, as well two categories: adequacy and moderation. The overall HEI score ranges from 0 (worst) – 100 (best), and is comprised of 13 components total based on aspects that make up overall diet.⁷⁹ Adequacy is calculated based on 9 components (0-60 points) related to healthy food consumption, such as vegetables and fruit intake, grain intake, dairy and protein intake. Moderation is calculated based on 4 components (0-40 points) related to refined grains, sodium, added sugars and saturated fats.⁸⁰ Alternatively, the DQI-I also contains an overall summary score that ranges from 0 (poorest score) -100(highest possible score), as well as four components: variety, adequacy, moderation, and balance. Variety (0-20 score range) assesses heterogeneity of food and protein sources. Adequacy (0-40 score range) measures consumption of foods and vitamins that make up a healthy diet; namely, vegetables, fruits, grains, fibres, proteins, iron, calcium, and vitamin C. Moderation (0-30 score range) assesses total fat, saturated fat, cholesterol, sodium and empty calorie foods. Finally, overall balance (0-10 score range) evaluates the proportion of energy from macronutrients, in addition to saturated fatty acid ratio.81,82

The HEI was developed to assess the quality of Americans' diets, but has been adapted for use in the Canadian context.^{35,83,84} On the contrary, the DQI-I was developed for use internationally, and has also been used in the Canadian context.^{82,85} The HEI was constructed based on dietary guidelines, and therefore, the components strongly mimic food guide recommendations.^{35,86,87} For instance, the adequacy aspect, which makes up 60% of the HEI score, solely evaluates adherence to food guide recommendations. The DQI-I also speaks to the foundation of healthy eating recommendations through its wide-ranging dietary components. However, in comparison to the HEI, the DQI-I taps into a more complete image of diet quality through its assessment of dietary variety, adequacy, moderation and balance.^{35,81} Studies have demonstrated associations with the DQI-I variety component⁸⁸, which cannot be captured when using the HEI.

Ultimately, both the HEI and DQI-I are comprehensive diet assessment tools, which rely on accurate collection of diet intake. As such, if the dietary assessment instrument introduces systematic error into the study, the diet index selected for use will not matter, as the data used to construct the index is inherently biased.

1.3.3 Measuring Overweight and Obesity

Despite overweight and obesity being frequently investigated outcomes in food environment research, difficulties still arise when measuring these concepts. Factors that affect BMI measurement include: age group (i.e., children are classified differently than adults); available BMI cut-offs for children (i.e., growth curve reference to assign z-scores); source of height and weight (e.g., self-reported versus physically measured).

BMI is derived from weight (kg) divided by height (cm) squared, and then classified according to weight classifications.⁸⁹ For adults, those with a BMI <18.5 are classified as underweight, those with a BMI between 18.5 and <25 are classified as normal weight, those with a BMI between 25 and \leq 30 are considered overweight, and those with a BMI \geq 30 are classified as obese. BMI for children must be interpreted relative to other children of the same sex and age. Therefore, children are classified according to sex- and age- specific Z scores or percentiles. Several growth charts exist,^{90,91} but the WHO Child Growth Standards are the current standards for children's BMI classifications.^{92,93} Most studies investigating the relationship between food environments and childhood overweight and obesity used the CDC's growth reference charts.^{60,64,94–96} Of these studies, some reported null associations, some found associations in the expected direction, and some reported mixed associations. In a joint statement, the Dieticians of Canada, in collaboration with the Canadian Paediatric Society, the College of Family Physicians of Canada, and the Community Health Nurses of Canada, recently encouraged the use of WHO reference standards over CDC growth curves.⁹⁷ A heavier reference population was used to create the CDC growth curves, leading to fewer children being classified as overweight and obese.^{97,98} Using CDC percentiles may have led to misclassification of weight status, and ultimately attenuated or reversed associations if children were categorized into the wrong weight status category.

Another factor that must be considered when using BMI is the source of height and weight data. In a Canadian study comparing self-reported and measured BMI, prevalence estimates of weight status categories differed when measured with self-reported data compared to measured data.⁹⁹ On average, self-reported height was over-reported by 0.7 cm and self-reported weight was under-reported by 2.1 kg in participants, leading to an underestimated BMI.

They also calculated the sensitivity and specificity to assess the amount of misclassification that occurs when BMI is derived from self-reported data versus measured data. In terms of sensitivity, of the individuals within the normal weight status range based on measured height and weight, 95% of males and 93% of females were correctly classified based on their selfreported height and weight. This was not the case for people who were overweight. Only 70% of males and 63% of females were correctly placed in the overweight category when self-reported data was used. The sensitivity dropped between 45-60% for men and women who were obese. On the other hand, the specificity was higher than 95% for individuals classified as obese. This indicates that respondents were not very likely to be categorized as obese based on self-reported height and weight unless they really were obese.⁹⁹ Using self-reported height and weight to derive BMI is evidently problematic. Yet, many studies continue to use it. A systematic review examining the relationship between food environments and obesity reported that almost 50% of the reviewed studies used self-reported height and weight data to construct BMI. BMI derived from self-reported data is clearly more prone to misclassification bias, and may contribute to the lack of consistent findings in the literature.

1.4 Associations of Community Food Environments with Diet and Overweight and Obesity

A number of organizations have recently emphasized the importance of fostering healthy environments to promote healthy heating and reduce the burden of overweight and obesity and chronic disease.^{4,27,50} Therefore, studies investigating the effects of community food environments on diet- and health- related outcomes have considerably increased over the past decade. Many of these studies have demonstrated associations of community food environments with both proximal outcomes, such as diet-related outcomes, and distal outcomes, such as overweight and obesity. There is currently no consensus on best approaches to measure the community food environment; therefore, study findings lack consistency. The majority of available studies examining associations of community food environments with diet intake and weight status focus on adults, but studies on children are consistently emerging.^{46,53,70} Please note, the rest of this literature review will continue to refer to the community food environment as the food environment.

1.4.1 Studies Examining Adults

Multiple studies among adults have detected at least one association between food environments and diet-related outcomes,^{37,53,100–103} but others report opposite or null findings.^{53,104,105} A recent systematic review of 38 studies suggested that there is adequate evidence that food environments are associated with diet in adults.⁵³ Of the 20 studies that used availability measures such as absolute density or relative density to assess the food environment, 13 found a significant association with dietary outcomes. This review included articles published through 2011, and were from primarily the United States, but also included studies from Australia and New Zealand, United Kingdom, Canada and Japan. The single Canadian study included in this review reported null associations.⁵³ Due to the inclusion of only one Canadian study, it is not possible to determine whether null results occurred because food environments are fundamentally different in Canada, or if methodologies led to differing conclusions.

With a cross-sectional design, Gustafson et al. studied the associations between food environments and dietary outcomes in a sample of participants residing in low-income households in Kentucky.¹⁰⁰ They reported that individuals who live within a 0.5-mile network distance to at least one farmers market or one grocery store were more likely to consume healthy foods, compared to those who do not live do not live within a 0.5-mile radius to one of these store types. These associations were also evident when examining store types within a 1-mile radius from participants' homes. Moreover, they examined overall Healthy Eating Index (HEI) scores as an outcome variable, but for both 0.5 and 1-mile radius' there was no association with number of farmers markets or grocery stores. When examining the relationship between the number of convenience stores within 0.5- and 1-mile buffers, results were not consistent. In the 0.5-mile buffer, there were no notable associations with dietary intake or HEI scores. However, those who lived within a 1-mile radius of four or more convenience stores were more likely to report consuming healthy foods and had overall higher HEI scores than those who did not live within a 1-mile radius of at least four convenience stores. This study used a 24-hour dietary recall to collect dietary data and derive HEI scores, both of which are valid assessment tools.75,79 Additionally, the researchers recognized the hierarchical nature of the data, and reported the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) as justification for continuing with multivariate linear and logistic regression models rather than mixed effect models. However, one issue with this study is the use of a commercial business database to identify food outlets; as previously mentioned, business data is known to lack validity.

Lind et al. used a similar cross-sectional design, but observed contradictory associations between the density of convenience stores within buffers around each participant's residence and diet quality.¹⁰¹ They demonstrated that among 13,860 participants that reside in metropolitan Denmark, there was no association between the number of convenience stores within 250m or 500m buffers from home with diet quality. However, when they examined 35,932 participants within urban and rural (non-metropolitan) neighbourhoods, significant associations emerged. The odds of having a low diet score was 14% higher for those with one convenience store within

500m of their residence compared to those with no convenience stores within 500m. When examining participants with two or more outlets within 500m of their residence, the odds of having a low diet score was 18% higher compared to those with no convenience stores within 500m. This study employed a validated diet quality score as the outcome variable, but there is no mention of whether the FFQ used to construct this measure is also a valid measure. They also presented the ICC to justify the use of mixed models, as opposed to non-hierarchical models. The list of convenience stores used in this study came from the Danish Veterinary and Food Administration, which is equivalent to a health inspector's list.

Two recent cross-sectional studies from Canada examined the relationship between the food environment and diet.^{61,105} Mercille et al. used a community sample of older adults from Montreal to determine whether the food environment affects men and women's diets differently, and how diet knowledge might act as a potential moderator.⁶¹ To measure diet, they used principal components analysis to create two diet patterns based on measured data from a validated FFQ. Western diet patterns assessed an individual's consumption of processed meats, red meats, potatoes, sweets and refined grains, and prudent diet patterns assessed consumption of healthy foods, such as fruits, vegetables, fish and yogurt. To assess the surrounding food environments, they created a 500m buffer around participants' homes, and assessed the density, the relative proportion of fast food restaurants out of the total number of restaurants, and the relative proportion of healthy food stores out of the total number food stores. They found that surrounding food environments were not associated with western or prudent diet patterns for women. However, women with low diet knowledge who were exposed to a higher proportion of healthy food stores had lower western diet scores. Men who had a higher proportion of fast food restaurants relative to all restaurants within 500m of their residence, regardless of diet

knowledge, had significantly lower prudent diet scores. This study relied on commercial business database to identify food outlets, which may have introduced error when creating the food environment indicators. Additionally, an issue in the field of food environment research is the lack of comparability due to variability in exposure and outcome assessment.^{56,106} These researchers created a unique diet measure rather than using an established diet quality measure. In contrast, a study based in Calgary that examined the density of food outlet types within a 400m buffer of each participant's home employed commonly used exposure and outcome measures.¹⁰⁷ They used established food outlet classifications, namely, the Retail Food Environment Index (RFEI) categories. They measured diet intake with the validated Canadian Diet History Questionnaire II, and used the Canadian HEI to assess diet quality. Despite the use of validated dietary measures, they reported mostly null associations and one positive association: as the number of total food outlets within the buffer increased, diet quality scores increased.

In addition to the relationship between food environments and diet-related outcomes, overweight and obesity has also been thoroughly investigated in adults. Several studies have examined at least one positive association,^{44,108–111} but most report primarily mixed and null associations.^{46,59,66,112,113}

Several studies agree that a relationship exists between the density of fast food outlets and weight status. Burgoine et al. conducted a large cross-sectional study of 5,594 UK adults, and demonstrated that individuals exposed to a higher density of takeaway food outlets within home, transportation, and work food environments, had an increased BMI and higher odds of obesity compared to those who were least exposed.¹⁰⁹ This study made important methodological steps to improve food environment research: they used a health inspector's food retailer list to

construct the food environment indicators, and they studied multiple food environments that an average adult would be exposed to. Despite many of the positive elements, a drawback of this study is temporal mismatch. The researchers explain that outcome data was collected between 2005-2013, and exposures were calculated with data from 2011; therefore, we must be careful when interpreting these findings. An earlier American study reported similar findings.¹¹¹ They found that higher fast food restaurant density per 10,000 people was associated with higher BMI and higher odds of obesity. Interestingly, they contend that different components of the restaurant environment affect weight status differently. Their finding that individuals exposed to a higher density of full-service restaurants had lower weight status substantiates this suggestion. Likewise, a recent Canadian cross-sectional study that used nationally representative Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) data corroborates the above observations.⁴⁵ They illustrated that within a forward sortation area (FSA) BMI increased as fast food outlet density increased. Additionally, as full-service restaurant density increased, BMI decreased.

A cross-sectional study among Canadian adults from Edmonton, Alberta provided further evidence of a relationship between the food environment and obesity.¹¹⁰ Alternatively, rather than assessing the density of food outlets, they assessed the food environment with the RFEI, a ratio of the combined number of fast food outlets and convenience stores divided by the number of grocery stores within a defined geographic area. The geographic boundaries utilized in this study included 800m and 1600m buffers around respondents' postal codes. They found that within 800m buffers, individuals exposed to unhealthy food environments, characterized by a higher RFEI, had a higher odds of being obese compared to those who lived in an area with a low RFEI. However, no associations existed for 1600m buffers. This study exercised vigorous methodologies; they used an overall measure of the food environment in contrast to the use of a
single outlet type, the health inspector's list was used to classify food outlets, and they also recognized the possibility of the individual data being nested within neighbourhoods. Ultimately, the ICC was very low and multilevel modeling was deemed inappropriate. One drawback of this study is the use of self-reported height and weight data. As previously mentioned, when selfreported height and weight is used to derive BMI, it often leads to underestimated BMI, and may lead to weight status misclassification. This would lead to attenuated associations. Therefore, while this study did report some significant associations, they may be underestimated. Nonetheless, self-report data is commonly used in the literature to construct BMI. Polsky et al. also conducted a study examining the relationship between the food environment and weight status in a population-based sample of Canadian adults.⁵⁹ They employed both an absolute density and relative density measure to assess the food environment within walking distance of residential areas, and found mixed results. When using the absolute density measures, the associations were in the opposite of the hypothesized direction. Individuals who lived in areas with a higher density of fast food, full service, or other restaurants, were less likely to be obese or have a high BMI, which does not align with theoretical understandings of the food environment literature.⁴⁹ In contrast, the relative density of fast food restaurants was associated with increased BMI and obesity in areas with a high number of fast food restaurants. Specifically, in areas with 5 or more fast food restaurants, individuals were more than two times as likely to be obese and have a high BMI compared to those exposed to less than 5 fast food restaurants. This study used data from the CCHS, which is a comprehensive population-based survey that collects self-report height and weight, as well as a variety of other important demographic information. The list of food retailers used to construct the food environment indicators was purchased from a commercial database, but a subset was later validated against a

public health inspector's list. The authors concluded that health promoters should consider more than simply the number of food outlets that a person is exposed to; rather, they must consider the overall balance of outlets serving healthy and less healthy foods.

Overall, the available evidence on the associations between community food environments and obesity is conflicting, regardless of whether the indicator used is absolute or relative. A systematic review from 2015 found that null associations were most common in the literature, but certain elements of the food environment were associated with obesity.⁴⁶ The availability of supermarkets was repeatedly associated with lower odds of obesity, and the availability of fast food restaurants was associated with increased odds of obesity. Moreover, larger geographic areas were more likely to detect a positive association, indicating that larger neighbourhood areas may be more important than immediate surroundings. This review included studies from Canada and the United States; however, only approximately 10% were Canadian studies. An important conclusion identified by this systematic review points to the abundance of inconsistent methodologies and findings in the food environment literature, in addition to the profusion of American studies in comparison to Canadian studies.

1.4.2 Studies Examining Children

Several studies among children agree that an association exists between food environments and diet intake.^{40,70,84,114,115} Similar to the literature on adults, associations are not consistently in the expected direction, and some studies report null associations.^{70,94,116–118} Engler-Stringer et al. conducted a systematic review of available evidence on the effects of the community and consumer nutrition environments on children's diets, and reported that of the 26 included studies, 85% of the reviewed studies examined at least one positive association.

However, studies that used GIS-based measures were less consistent.⁷⁰ This review included studies from several different countries; 13 were from the United States, 5 were from Europe, 2 were from Australia, 2 were from Asia, and 4 were from Canada. Although each of the Canadian studies employed different exposure and outcome measures, all of the studies from Canada reported associations in the hypothesized direction. These results suggest that diet intake might partly be a result of surrounding food environments, particularly for Canadian children.

Skidmore et al. used a cross-sectional design to study the associations between proximity and density of food outlet types in neighbourhoods with food consumption in a sample of 1,721 children 9-10 years of age from the UK.¹¹⁴ They showed that both distance and density of food outlets within an 800m neighbourhood buffer was scantily associated with food consumption. In terms of proximity-based measures, children who lived further away from takeaway food outlets and convenience stores were less likely to consume chocolate, crisps, sugary soft drinks, and white bread. Further, those who lived further away from supermarkets reported consuming heathier foods, such as vegetables and fruits. On the contrary, children who lived in a neighbourhood with a higher density of supermarkets, as opposed to living within close proximity, consumed more vegetables. This study collected information on food consumption via a parent proxy with a short, validated, 15-item FFQ. While living further away from takeaway food outlets was negatively associated with unhealthy food consumption, the FFQ did not include any foods, aside from white bread, that are served at fast food outlets. A shortcoming of this study is that they did not use an overall measure of diet quality, but instead relied on individual food consumption behaviours. Moreover, they reported using a comprehensive database to obtain the food outlet lists, but they do not provide justification for how the selected outlet types of interest (e.g., takeaway outlets, supermarkets, etc.) were identified. Overall, the

authors concluded that although the effect is quite small, an important relationship exists between the food environment and children's food consumption, and this relationship differs depending on the method of food environment assessment.

A number of studies investigating children's community food environments also consider the food environment surrounding their schools.^{40,84,94} Using a cross-sectional design, He et al. investigated the relationship of food environments surrounding home and school neighbourhoods with diet quality in sample of Canadian youth aged 11-14 years from London, Ontario.⁸⁴ They demonstrated that diet quality was higher for students who lived further than 1km away from the nearest convenience store compared to those who lived in close proximity to at least one convenience store. In terms of the school food environment, diet quality was higher for students who attended schools that were further than 1km from the nearest convenience store, compared to those who attended schools with a convenience store within 1km. Further, diet quality was lower for students who attended schools with 3 or more fast-food restaurants within 1km, compared to students with less than 3 fast-food outlets within 1km. This study suggests that the food environments surrounding children's homes and schools may serve as important predictors of diet quality. A limitation of this study is that the FFQ used to collect diet intake was selfadministered, and the authors stated that this may have contributed to the low useable rate of dietary data provided by the FFQ. Similarly, Van Hulst et al. investigated the relationship of residential and school food environments with dietary intake and eating behaviours using a sample of 512 Canadian children aged 8-10 years from Quebec. Children's dietary intake was collected using three 24-hour dietary recalls, and additional questions regarding take-out food consumption and eating/snacking out behaviours were collected via a questionnaire. Proximity, density, and relative density indicators were employed to assess the food environments

surrounding residential and school neighbourhoods. Several statistically significant associations were identified. For example, students who lived in residential neighbourhoods with fewer fast food outlets and convenience stores were less likely to eat or snack out, and those who lived farthest from fast food outlets reported consuming more vegetables and fruits compared to those who lived closed to fast food outlets. Additionally, students who attended schools with a higher relative density of fast food outlets and convenience stores compared to supermarkets within a 3km buffer consumed more sugar-sweetened beverages and fewer vegetables and fruits than students who went to school in neighbourhood with a lower relative density. Although a number of significant associations were reported, there were also several null findings in this study. For instance, none of the proximity indicators for schools were significantly associated with children's diets. Ultimately, the results from this study indicate that children's diets may be influenced by their residential and school food environments. Potential limitations of the study include the use of commercial business data to create food environment measures, the use of single diet components rather than a diet index, and high risk for type 1 error due to the small sample size and large number of associations tested. Regardless of these potential drawbacks, this study had many strengths. A validated tool was used to collect dietary intake, appropriate statistical tests were used to account for nesting of children within schools, and multiple food environment indicators were assessed.

The majority of the available research on children's food environments has focused on investigating associations with children's body weights. While there is more research available on children's weight status than their diets, the research even less consistent. Some studies report at least one association in the expected direction,^{47,64,94,96,119} but most report null associations, or associations that are opposite of the expected direction.^{47,60,64,74,95,119}

A recent cross-sectional study examined associations between food environments and weight status in a sample 944 of grade 5 and 6 students from Toronto, Canada.⁷⁴ Height and weight was measured to calculate each child's BMI, which was then classified according to International Obesity Task Force cut-points. Food environments were assessed through proximity to the nearest food outlet type, and absolute density of outlet types within 1km network service area buffer. They independently assessed fast food restaurants and supermarkets in addition to 'healthier' and 'less healthy' categories. Healthier outlets included bakeries, butcher shops, fish shops, and food stores or supermarkets, while less healthy outlets included all other retailers. The results indicated that students who lived closest to a supermarket, or in an area with a higher density of healthier food outlets, were less likely to be overweight or obese, compared to those who lived far away from a supermarket or in an area with a lower density of healthier food outlets. There was no apparent relationship between density and proximity of fast food restaurants and less healthy food outlets with overweight or obesity. This study had several strengths, including the use of measured height and weight, and the use of the public health inspector's list of food retailers. However, there are some drawbacks in this study. Individual income data was not available, so they relied on median household income exclusively. Further, data was collected from 17 schools, but the researchers do not mention the potential for a nested data structure, or provide an ICC to justify the use of a binomial logistic regression model over a mixed effects model. On the contrary, Laska et al. examined similar food environment measures, but found that children exposed to at least one restaurant within an 800m residential buffer or at least one convenience store within a 1600m residential buffer had higher BMI z-scores, but no associations existed when considering grocery stores or supermarkets.⁹⁴ They also considered the school neighbourhood environment, but they observed that statistically significant associations

were in the opposite of the expected direction. For instance, BMI z-scores were lower for children who attended schools with any type of restaurant within 800m of the school. They utilized random effect models to account for clustering of students within schools, examined multiple buffer sizes, and used physical measurements for BMI and percentage body fat outcomes. However, food retailer data used to construct food environment measures was purchased from a commercial business database, which may have introduced error.

Fitzpatrick et al. focused exclusively on the influence of school food environments on adiposity in a prospective study of children between 8-10 years of age from Quebec.⁹⁶ Schools were grouped into school types based on features of the overall school food environment, including internal nutrition policies and procedures, as well as the surrounding community food environment, defined by a 750m buffer. Type 1 schools were those with an overall healthful food environment inside and surrounding the school. Type 2 schools were those with an unhealthful food environment inside the school, but a healthful food environment surrounding the school. Type 3 schools were those with an overall unhealthful food environment inside and surrounding the school. A healthy surrounding food environment was characterized by a low density of surrounding fast food outlets and convenience stores. Height, weight, waist circumference, percentage body fat, and central adiposity were measured at baseline and 2-years later for every child, and BMI z-scores were computed via CDC growth curves. The results of this study showed that children who attended schools with an overall unhealthy internal and external food environment (type 3), had a higher central adiposity 2 years later, but there were no significant associations with BMI z-scores or percentage body fat. This study has a number of strengths, including the longitudinal design, the use of measured data and alternative body fat measures. They also accounted for the nested data structure, as children were clustered within schools.

Additionally, the classification of schools into school types is a novel approach to accounting for the internal and external school food environments. Although this study has many strengths, a notable weakness is the use of a constricted cohort. The children who participated were all Caucasian and at risk for obesity. This study contributed important prospective evidence that school food environments may be important predictors of adiposity, especially in disadvantaged areas.

While some studies have reported significant associations, a systematic review of the literature by Cobb et al. reported that 85% of all associations examining the relationship between children's community food environments and obesity were null.⁴⁶ Despite the abundance of null associations, they recognized a potential relationship between convenience store availability and obesity that was not apparent for fast food outlet availability. Additionally, more than 90% of associations examining supermarket and grocery store availability were null, suggesting that no relationship exists between the presence of healthy food outlets and overweight and obesity outcomes in children.

Given the current challenges identified in the community food environment literature, this thesis will make important contributions to address these issues. Food environment measurement lacks consistency and standardization, and is met with several methodological issues. The majority of existing research has focused on proximity and absolute density of food outlets, but researchers have suggested that relative density may also be important in assessing the community food environment.^{55,59,111} This thesis will use two relative density measures to assess the food environment, which will be constructed using a public health inspector's food retailer list. The mRFEI food environment indicator, which will be used in this study, is outlined in a document prepared by the CDC and is available for use by all researchers.⁶⁸ However, a

more comprehensive method of assessment may be needed to determine the healthfulness of food outlets more precisely, as using outlet type alone may be too simplistic. Choose Most Often/Choose Sometimes/Choose Least Often (CMO/CS/CLO) is a novel indicator of community food environment that builds and extends upon the mRFEI. Utilizing this more extensive indicator will address an issue identified in the literature – that a binary measure based on store type (healthy versus less healthy) may not be enough to accurately capture surrounding food environments.⁵³ Moreover, this thesis will use multiple buffer sizes and standard geographic areas/boundaries in order to inform researchers on which buffers or boundaries may be important in future food environment investigations.

Second, tools to measure diet- and weight- related outcome variables have been inconsistent, with many studies using inaccurate diet measures and self-reported BMI, which may be contributing to the abundance of mixed results in the literature. This thesis will use a validated FFQ to collect dietary data, which will then be used to derive Y-HEI and DQI-I scores, as well as daily vegetables and fruit consumption. We will also include separate examinations of BMI Z scores and overweight and obesity. BMI will be derived from measured weight divided by measured height squared, and then classified according to WHO sex- and age- specific zscores. WHO growth curves are recommended by health professionals in Canada. To our knowledge, no study has used children's measured height and weight as well as WHO growth curves in the food environment literature.

1.5 Objectives

The objective of this thesis is to examine the associations of community food environments with individual diet quality and body weight status in a sample of Canadian school-aged children. The specific objectives are to:

(1) Assess which food environment indicator and geographic area is better able to capture associations with individual diet quality and body weight status;

(2) Use the better performing indicator and geographic area to assess whether the community food environment affects individual diet quality and body weight status.

1.6 Structure of Thesis

This thesis follows the "paper-based" thesis format and contains four chapters. This first chapter provides a comprehensive introduction, identifies current challenges in the literature, and describes the study objectives. The second chapter includes the first study of this thesis: a cross-sectional study using data from Raising healthy Eating and Active Living Kids in Alberta (REAL Kids Alberta) to compare two different food environment indicators and five geographic areas. The third chapter includes the second study of this thesis, another cross-sectional study that used REAL Kids Alberta. This study assessed the joint effect of the absolute (number) and relative (proportion) densities of unhealthy food outlets surrounding schools on both diet and body weight status. The fourth and final chapter provides an overview of the research findings, interpretations, study strengths and limitations, implications, and conclusions.

1.7 References

- 1. Statistics Canada. *Healthy People Healthy Places: Adult Body Mass Index (BMI)*.; 2010:29-33.
- 2. Janssen I. The public health burden of obesity in Canada. *Can J Diabetes*. 2013;37(2):90-96. doi:10.1016/j.jcjd.2013.02.059
- 3. Tjepkema M. Measured Obesity. Adult obesity in Canada: Measured height and weight. *Stat Canada Cat.* 2005;(82-620-MWE2005001):1-32.
- 4. Public Health Agency of Canada, Information, Canadian Institute for Health Information, Government of Canada, Public Health Agency of Canada. Obesity in Canada: A joint report from the Public Health Agency of Canada and the Canadian Institute for Health Information. *Public Heal Agency Canada*. November 2011:54. http://www.healthyenvironmentforkids.ca/sites/healthyenvironmentforkids.ca/files/Obesit y in Canada.pdf.
- 5. Statistics Canada. Canadian Health Measures Survey: Household and physical measures data, 2012 to 2013. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-625-x/2014001/article/14105-eng.htm. Published 2014. Accessed October 18, 2018.
- 6. Anis AH, Zhang W, Bansback N, Guh DP, Amarsi Z, Birmingham CL. Obesity and overweight in Canada: an updated cost-of-illness study. *Obes Rev.* 2010;11(1):31-40. doi:10.1111/j.1467-789X.2009.00579.x
- The GBD 2015 Obesity Collaborators, Afshin A, MH. F, MB. R, et al., Collaborators G 2015 O. Health effects of overweight and obesity in 195 countries over 25 years. *N Engl J Med*. 2017;377(1):13-27. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1614362
- Ogilvie KK, Eggleton A. Obesity in Canada: A whole-of-society approach for a healthier Canada. http://www.parl.gc.ca/content/sen/committee/421/SOCI/Reports/2016-02-25_Revised_report_Obesity_in_Canada_e.pdf. Published 2016. Accessed October 14, 2018.
- 9. World Health Organization. Non Communicable Diseases Progress Monitor 2017.; 2017. doi:10.2766/120051
- 10. Public Health Agency of Canada. *How Healthy Are Canadians? A Trend Analysis of the Health of Canadians from a Healthy Living and Chronic Disease Perspective.*; 2016. doi:82-003-SPE
- 11. World Health Organization. Obesity and Overweight: Key Facts. World Health Organization. doi:10.1364/AO.50.004115
- 12. World Health Organization. *World Health Statistics 2018: Monitoring Health for the SDGs.*; 2018. https://www.who.int/gho/publications/world_health_statistics/2018/en/. Accessed October 18, 2018.
- Statistics Canada. Table 13-10-0795-01 Measured children and youth body mass index (BMI) (World Health Organization classification), by age group and sex, Canada and provinces, Canadian Community Health Survey - Nutrition. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310079401. Published 2015. Accessed November 3, 2018.
- 14. Roberts K, Shields M, de Groh M, Gilbert J. Overweight and Obesity in Children and Adolescents: Canadian Health Survey. *Heal Reports*. 2012;23(3):37-41.
- 15. Kuhle S, Veugelers PJ. Why does the social gradient in health not apply to overweight? *Heal Reports*. 2008;19(4):7-15.

- Hales CM, Carroll MD, Fryar CD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of Obesity Among Adults and Youth: United States, 2015–2016. NCHS Data Brief. 2017;20(8):1452-1460. doi:10.1017/S1368980017000088
- 17. OECD. Obesity Update 2017.; 2017. doi:10.1007/s11428-017-0241-7
- Center for Health Statistics N. Table 58. Normal weight, overweight, and obesity among adults aged 20 and over, by selected characteristics: United States, selected years 1988–1994 through 2013–2016. 2017:9. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/hus/contents2017.htm#058.
- Fryar CD, Carroll MD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of Overweight, Obesity, and Extreme Obesity among Adults Aged 20 and over: United States, 1960–1962 through 2013–2014.; 2016.
- 20. Ogden CL, Fakhouri TH, Carroll MD, et al. Prevalence of obesity among adults, by household income and education United States, 2011–2014. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2017;66(50):1369-1373. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6650a1
- World Health Organization. *Diet, Nutrition and the Prevention of Chronic Diseases.*;
 2003. http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubmed&id=12768890&ret
 mode=ref&cmd=prlinks%5Cnpapers3://publication/uuid/734F6B31-260B-4545-A8E4-57F7D35DDEB8. Accessed October 18, 2018.
- 22. Malik VS, Schulze MB, Hu FB. Intake of sugar-sweetened beverages and weight gain: a systematic review. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2006;84(2):274-288. doi:10.1093/ajcn/84.1.274
- 23. Liebman M, Pelican S, Moore SA, et al. Dietary intake, eating behavior, and physical activity-related determinants of high body mass index in rural communities in Wyoming, Montana, and Idaho. *Int J Obes*. 2003;27(6):684-692.
- 24. DeClercq V, Cui Y, Forbes C, et al. Association between diet quality and adiposity in the Atlantic PATH cohort. *Nutrients*. 2017;9(10):1155. doi:10.3390/nu9101155
- 25. Yu ZM, DeClercq V, Cui Y, et al. Fruit and vegetable intake and body adiposity among populations in Eastern Canada: the Atlantic Partnership for Tomorrow's Health Study. *BMJ Open.* 2018;8(4):e018060. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018060
- 26. Ledikwe JH, Blanck HM, Khan LK, et al. Dietary energy density is associated with energy intake and weight status in US adults. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2006;83:1362-1368.
- Vanderlee L, Goorang S, Karbasy K, Schermel A, L'Abbé M. Creating Healthier Food Environments in Canada: Current Policies and Priority Actions.; 2017. http://labbelab.utoronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/FoodEPI_SK_Report_WEB-FINAL.pdf.
- Alberta Government. Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Adults. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/0c8528b1-0e53-4c80-810c-8aacdf525621/resource/5ef8873f-a41f-445c-806e-8de424897fdf/download/nutritionguidelines-ab-adults.pdf. Published 2012. Accessed September 25, 2018.
- 29. Health Canada. *Canada's Food Guide*.; 2019. https://food-guide.canada.ca/en/. Accessed March 21, 2019.
- 30. Alberta Government. Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth: A Childcare, School and Recreation/Community Centre Resource Manual. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/1c291796-4eb0-4073-be8ebce2d331f9ce/resource/3319786c-1df1-43ca-8693-067f733682dc/download/nutritionguidelines-ab-children-youth.pdf. Published 2012. Accessed September 25, 2018.
- 31. Statistics Canada. Table 13-10-0096-12 Fruit and vegetable consumption, 5 times or more

per day, by age group.

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310009612. Accessed November 2, 2018.

- 32. Statistics Canada. Fruit and vegetable consumption, 2016. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-625-x/2017001/article/54860-eng.htm. Published 2017. Accessed October 18, 2018.
- 33. Garriguet D. Canadians' Eating Habits. *Heal Reports*. 2007;18(2).
- 34. Alberta Government. Alberta Community Health Survey (ACHS) Telephone conducted. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/alberta-community-health-survey-achs-telephoneconducted#detailed. Published 2016. Accessed September 25, 2018.
- 35. Garriguet D. Diet quality in Canada. *Heal Reports*. 2009;20(3):41-52. doi:10.14419/ijbas.v3i3.3081
- 36. Clary C, Matthews SA, Kestens Y. Between exposure, access and use: Reconsidering foodscape influences on dietary behaviours. *Health Place*. 2017;44(January):1-7. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2016.12.005
- 37. Clary C, Lewis DJ, Flint E, Smith NR, Kestens Y, Cummins S. The Local Food Environment and Fruit and Vegetable Intake: A Geographically Weighted Regression Approach in the ORiEL Study. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2016;184(11):837-846. doi:10.1093/aje/kww073
- 38. Health Canada. Measuring the Food Environment in Canada.; 2013.
- Mercille G, Richard L, Gauvin L, et al. Associations between residential food environment and dietary patterns in urban-dwelling older adults: results from the VoisiNuAge study. *Public Health Nutr*. 2012;15(11):2026-2039. doi:10.1017/S136898001200273X
- 40. Van Hulst A, Barnett TA, Gauvin L, et al. Associations between children's diets and features of their residential and school neighbourhood food environments. *Can J Public Heal*. 2012;103(SUPPL. 3):S48-S54. doi:10.2307/canajpublheal.103.2012.0s48
- 41. Swinburn BA, Egger G, Raza F, et al. Dissecting obesogenic environments: The development and application of a framework for identifying and prioritizing environmental interventions for obesity. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 1999;29(6):563-570. doi:10.1006/pmed.1999.0585
- 42. Egger G, Swinburn B. An "ecological" approach to the obesity pandemic. *BMJ*. 1997;315(7106):477-480. doi:10.1136/bmj.315.7106.477
- 43. Swinburn BA, Sacks G, Hall KD, et al. The global obesity pandemic: shaped by global drivers and local environments. *Lancet*. 2011;378(9793):804-814. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60813-1
- 44. Hollands S, Campbell MK, Gilliland J, Sarma S. A spatial analysis of the association between restaurant density and body mass index in Canadian adults. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2013;57(4):258-264. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2013.07.002
- 45. Hollands S, Campbell MK, Gilliland J, Sarma S. Association between neighbourhood fast-food and full-service restaurant density and body mass index: A cross-sectional study of Canadian adults. *Can J public Heal*. 2014;105(3):e172-e178. doi:10.17269/cjph.105.4287
- 46. Cobb LK, Appel LJ, Franco M, Jones-Smith JC, Nur A, Anderson CAM. The relationship of the local food environment with obesity: A systematic review of methods, study quality, and results. *Obesity*. 2015;23(7):1331-1344. doi:10.1002/oby.21118

- 47. Green MA, Radley D, Lomax N, Morris MA, Griffiths C. Is adolescent body mass index and waist circumference associated with the food environments surrounding schools and homes? A longitudinal analysis. *BMC Public Health*. 2018;18(1):482. doi:10.1186/s12889-018-5383-z
- 48. Rideout K, Mah CL, Minaker L. Food Environments: An Introduction for Public Health Practice.; 2015.
 http://www.ncceh.ca/sites/default/files/Food_Environments_Public_Health_Practice_Dec 2015.pdf.
- 49. Glanz K, Sallis JF, Saelens BE, Frank LD. Healthy nutrition environments: concepts and measures. *Am J Health Promot*. 2005;19(5):330-ii. doi:10.4278/0890-1171-19.5.330
- 50. World Health Organization. *Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases 2013-2020.* Geneva, Switzerland; 2013.
- 51. Health Canada. *Healthy Eating Strategy*.; 2016.
- 52. Alberta Policy Coalition for Chronic Disease Prevention. *Alberta's 2018 Nutrition Report Card on Food Environments for Children and Youth.*; 2018. http://abpolicycoalitionforprevention.ca/evidence/albertas-nutrition-report-card/.
- 53. Caspi CE, Sorensen G, Subramanian SV, Kawachi I. The local food environment and diet: A systematic review. *Health Place*. 2012;18(5):1172-1187. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2012.05.006
- 54. Wilkins E, Radley D, Morris M, et al. A systematic review employing the GeoFERN framework to examine methods, reporting quality and associations between the retail food environment and obesity. *Health Place*. 2019;57:186-199. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2019.02.007
- 55. Clary CM, Ramos Y, Shareck M, Kestens Y. Should we use absolute or relative measures when assessing foodscape exposure in relation to fruit and vegetable intake? Evidence from a wide-scale Canadian study. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2015;71:83-87. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.11.023
- 56. Lytle LA, Sokol RL. Measures of the food environment: A systematic review of the field, 2007–2015. *Health Place*. 2017;44(November 2016):18-34. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2016.12.007
- 57. Mahendra A, Polsky JY, Robitaille É, Lefebvre M, McBrien T, Minaker LM. Status report

 Geographic retail food environment measures for use in public health. *Heal Promot* Chronic Dis Prev Canada. 2017;37(10):357-362. doi:10.24095/hpcdp.37.10.06
- 58. Charreire H, Casey R, Salze P, et al. Measuring the food environment using geographical information systems: a methodological review. *Public Health Nutr*. 2010;13(11):1773-1785. doi:10.1017/S1368980010000753
- 59. Polsky JY, Moineddin R, Dunn JR, Glazier RH, Booth GL. Absolute and relative densities of fast-food versus other restaurants in relation to weight status: Does restaurant mix matter? *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2016;82:28-34. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.11.008
- 60. Lee H. The role of local food availability in explaining obesity risk among young schoolaged children. *Soc Sci Med.* 2012;74(8):1193-1203. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.12.036
- 61. Mercille G, Richard L, Gauvin L, et al. The food environment and diet quality of urbandwelling older women and men: Assessing the moderating role of diet knowledge. *Can J Public Heal*. 2016;107(S1):eS34-eS41. doi:10.17269/CJPH.107.5309
- 62. Rummo PE, Guilkey DK, Ng SW, et al. Understanding bias in relationships between the food environment and diet quality: the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young

Adults (CARDIA) study. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2017;71(12):jech-2017-209158. doi:10.1136/jech-2017-209158

- 63. Greer S, Schieb L, Schwartz G, Onufrak S, Park S. Association of the neighborhood retail food environment with sodium and potassium intake among US adults. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2014;11:130340. doi:10.5888/pcd11.130340
- 64. Miller LJ, Joyce S, Carter S, Yun G. Associations between childhood obesity and the availability of food outlets in the local environment: A retrospective cross-sectional study. *Am J Heal Promot.* 2014;28(6):e137-e145. doi:10.4278/ajhp.130214-QUAN-70
- 65. Barrett M, Crozier S, Lewis D, et al. Greater access to healthy food outlets in the home and school environment is associated with better dietary quality in young children. *Public Health Nutr.* 2017;20(18):3316-3325. doi:10.1017/S1368980017002075
- 66. Mezuk B, Li X, Cederin K, Rice K, Sundquist J, Sundquist K. Beyond access: Characteristics of the food environment and risk of diabetes. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2016;183(12):1129-1137. doi:10.1093/aje/kwv318
- 67. Paquet C, Coffee NT, Haren MT, et al. Food environment, walkability, and public open spaces are associated with incident development of cardio-metabolic risk factors in a biomedical cohort. *Health Place*. 2014;28:173-176. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2014.05.001
- 68. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Children's Food Environment State Indicator Report, 2011.*; 2011.

https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/downloads/ChildrensFoodEnvironment.pdf.

- 69. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Census Tract Level State Maps of the Modified Retail Food Environment Index (mRFEI). 2011;(April):1-54.
- Engler-Stringer R, Le H, Gerrard A, Muhajarine N. The community and consumer food environment and children's diet: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*. 2014;14(1):522. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-522
- Forsyth A, Lytle L, Van Riper D. Finding Food: Issues and challenges in using Geographic Information Systems to measure food access. *J Transp Land Use*. 2011;3(1):43-65. doi:10.5198/jtlu.v3i1.105
- 72. Powell LM, Han E, Zenk SN, et al. Field validation of secondary commercial data sources on the retail food outlet environment in the U.S. *Health Place*. 2011;17(5):1122-1131. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2011.05.010
- 73. Statistics Canada. North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) Canada. https://www.statcan.gc.ca/eng/subjects/standard/naics/2017/index. Published 2017.
- 74. Larsen K, Cook B, Stone MR, Faulkner GEJJ. Food access and children's BMI in Toronto, Ontario: assessing how the food environment relates to overweight and obesity. *Int J Public Health*. 2014;60(1):69-77. doi:10.1007/s00038-014-0620-4
- 75. Shim J-S, Oh K, Kim HC. Dietary assessment methods in epidemiologic studies. *Epidemiol Health.* July 2014:e2014009. doi:10.4178/epih/e2014009
- 76. Kirkpatrick SI, Reedy J, Butler EN, et al. Dietary assessment in food environment research: A systematic review. *Am J Prev Med.* 2014;46(1):94-102. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2013.08.015
- Rahmanian E, Gasevic D, Vukmirovich I, Lear SA. The association between the built environment and dietary intake a systematic review. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr*. 2014;23(2):183-196. doi:10.6133/apjcn.2014.23.2.08
- 78. Wark PA, Hardie LJ, Frost GS, et al. Validity of an online 24-h recall tool (myfood24) for dietary assessment in population studies: comparison with biomarkers and standard

interviews. BMC Med. 2018;16(1):136. doi:10.1186/s12916-018-1113-8

- 79. Wirt A, Collins CE. Diet quality what is it and does it matter? *Public Health Nutr*. 2009;12(12):2473. doi:10.1017/S136898000900531X
- 80. National Cancer Insitute. Developing the Healthy Eating Index. https://epi.grants.cancer.gov/hei/developing.html#. Published 2018.
- 81. Kim S, Haines PS, Siega-Riz AM, Popkin BM. The Diet Quality Index-International (DQI-I) provides an effective tool for cross-national comparison of diet quality as illustrated by China and the United States. *J Nutr*. 2003;133(11):3476-3484. doi:10.1093/jn/133.11.3476
- 82. Setayeshgar S, Maximova K, Ekwaru JP, et al. Diet quality as measured by the Diet Quality Index–International is associated with prospective changes in body fat among Canadian children. *Public Health Nutr*. 2017;20(03):456-463. doi:10.1017/S1368980016002500
- Jessri M, Ng AP, L'Abbé MR. Adapting the Healthy Eating Index 2010 for the Canadian Population: Evidence from the Canadian Community Health Survey. *Nutrients*. 2017;9(8):910. doi:10.3390/nu9080910
- 84. He M, Tucker P, Irwin JD, Gilliland J, Larsen K, Hess P. Obesogenic neighbourhoods: the impact of neighbourhood restaurants and convenience stores on adolescents' food consumption behaviours. *Public Health Nutr*. 2012;15(12):2331-2339. doi:10.1017/S1368980012000584
- 85. Wu XY, Ohinmaa A, Veugelers PJ. Diet quality, physical activity, body weight and health-related quality of life among grade 5 students in Canada. *Public Health Nutr*. 2012;15(1):75-81. doi:10.1017/S1368980011002412
- 86. Health Canada. *Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide*.; 2011. https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/hc-sc/migration/hc-sc/fn-an/alt_formats/hpfbdgpsa/pdf/food-guide-aliment/print_eatwell_bienmang-eng.pdf. Accessed September 25, 2018.
- 87. Britten P, Marcoe K, Yamini S, Davis C. Development of Food Intake Patterns for the MyPyramid Food Guidance System. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2006;38(6):S78-S92. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2006.08.007
- Kirk SFL, Kuhle S, McIsaac J-LD, et al. Food security status among grade 5 students in Nova Scotia, Canada and its association with health outcomes. *Public Health Nutr*. 2015;18(16):2943-2951. doi:10.1017/S1368980014001414
- 89. Health Canada. Canadian Guidelines for Body Weight Classification in Adults. Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada.
- 90. Kuczmarski RJ, Ogden CL, Grummer-Strawn LM, et al. *CDC Growth Charts: US. Advance Data from Vital and Health Statistics No. 314. NCHS.* Vol 314. Hyattsville, MD, MD; 2000.
- 91. Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. *BMJ*. 2000;320(7244):1240-1240. doi:10.1136/bmj.320.7244.1240
- 92. World Health Organization. The WHO Child Growth Standards. https://www.who.int/childgrowth/standards/en/. Published 2006. Accessed February 14, 2019.
- 93. de Onis M, Onyango AW, Borghi E, Siyam A, Nishida C, Siekmann J. Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. *Bull World Health*

Organ. 2007;85(09):660-667. doi:10.2471/BLT.07.043497

- 94. Laska MN, Hearst MO, Forsyth A, Pasch KE, Lytle L. Neighbourhood food environments: are they associated with adolescent dietary intake, food purchases and weight status? *Public Health Nutr*. 2010;13(11):1757-1763. doi:10.1017/S1368980010001564
- 95. Ghenadenik AE, Kakinami L, Van Hulst A, Henderson M, Barnett TA. Neighbourhoods and obesity: A prospective study of characteristics of the built environment and their association with adiposity outcomes in children in Montreal, Canada. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2018;111(September 2017):35-40. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2018.02.018
- 96. Fitzpatrick C, Datta GD, Henderson M, Gray-Donald K, Kestens Y, Barnett TA. School food environments associated with adiposity in Canadian children. *Int J Obes*. 2017;41(7):1005-1010. doi:10.1038/ijo.2017.39
- 97. Dietitians of Canada, Canadian Paediatric Society, College of Family Physicians of Canada, et al. Promoting optimal monitoring of child growth in Canada: using the new WHO growth charts. *Can J Diet Pract Res.* 2010;71(1):e1-e3. doi:10.3148/71.1.2010.e1
- 98. Kakinami L, Henderson M, Delvin EE, et al. Association between different growth curve definitions of overweight and obesity and cardiometabolic risk in children. *CMAJ*. 2012;184(10):539-550. doi:10.1503/cmaj.110797
- 99. Shields M, Gorber SSC, Tremblay MS, et al. Estimates of obesity based on self-report versus direct measures. *Stat Canada Cat.* 2008;19(2):1-16. doi:10.5848/dos.978-1-909293-44-1_8
- 100. Gustafson A, Lewis S, Perkins S, Wilson C, Buckner E, Vail A. Neighbourhood and consumer food environment is associated with dietary intake among Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) participants in Fayette County, Kentucky. *Public Health Nutr.* 2013;16(7):1229-1237. doi:10.1017/S1368980013000505
- 101. Lind PL, Jensen P V., Glümer C, Toft U, Glumer C, Toft U. The association between accessibility of local convenience stores and unhealthy diet. *Eur J Public Health*. 2016;26(4):634-639. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckv242
- 102. Hattori A, An R, Sturm R. Neighborhood food outlets, diet, and obesity among California adults, 2007 and 2009. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2013;10:120123. doi:10.5888/pcd10.120123
- 103. Mejia N, Lightstone AS, Basurto-Davila R, Morales DM, Sturm R. Neighborhood Food Environment, Diet, and Obesity Among Los Angeles County Adults, 2011. Prev Chronic Dis. 2015;12:150078. doi:10.5888/pcd12.150078
- 104. Hawkesworth S, Silverwood RJ, Armstrong B, et al. Investigating the importance of the local food environment for fruit and vegetable intake in older men and women in 20 UK towns: a cross-sectional analysis of two national cohorts using novel methods. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2017;14(1):128. doi:10.1186/s12966-017-0581-0
- 105. McInerney M, Ho V, Koushik A, et al. Addition of food group equivalents to the Canadian Diet History Questionnaire II for the estimation of the Canadian Healthy Eating Index-2005. *Heal Promot Chronic Dis Prev Canada*. 2018;38(3):125-134. doi:10.24095/hpcdp.38.3.03
- 106. Minaker LM, Shuh A, Olstad DL, Engler-Stringer R, Black JL, Mah CL. Retail food environments research in Canada: A scoping review. *Can J Public Heal*. 2016;107(S1):eS4-eS13. doi:10.17269/CJPH.107.5344
- 107. McInerney M, Csizmadi I, Friedenreich CM, et al. Associations between the neighbourhood food environment, neighbourhood socioeconomic status, and diet quality:

An observational study. *BMC Public Health*. 2016;16(1):984. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3631-7

- 108. Bodicoat DH, Carter P, Comber A, et al. Is the number of fast-food outlets in the neighbourhood related to screen-detected type 2 diabetes mellitus and associated risk factors? *Public Health Nutr.* 2015;18(09):1698-1705. doi:10.1017/S1368980014002316
- 109. Burgoine T, Forouhi NG, Griffin SJ, Wareham NJ, Monsivais P. Associations between exposure to takeaway food outlets, takeaway food consumption, and body weight in Cambridgeshire, UK: Population based, cross sectional study. *BMJ*. 2014;348(March):1-10. doi:10.1136/bmj.g1464
- 110. Spence JC, Cutumisu N, Edwards J, Raine KD, Smoyer-Tomic K. Relation between local food environments and obesity among adults. *BMC Public Health*. 2009;9(1):192. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-9-192
- 111. Mehta NK, Chang VW. Weight status and restaurant availability: A multilevel analysis. *Am J Prev Med.* 2008;34(2):127-133. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2007.09.031
- 112. Christine PJ, Auchincloss AH, Bertoni AG, et al. Longitudinal associations between neighborhood physical and social environments and incident type 2 diabetes mellitus. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2015;175(8):1311. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.2691
- 113. Feng X, Astell-Burt T, Badland H, Mavoa S, Giles-Corti B. Modest ratios of fast food outlets to supermarkets and green grocers are associated with higher body mass index: Longitudinal analysis of a sample of 15,229 Australians aged 45 years and older in the Australian National Liveability Study. *Health Place*. 2018;49:101-110. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2017.10.004
- 114. Skidmore P, Welch A, van Sluijs E, et al. Impact of neighbourhood food environment on food consumption in children aged 9–10 years in the UK SPEEDY (Sport, Physical Activity and Eating behaviour: Environmental Determinants in Young people) study. *Public Health Nutr.* 2010;13(07):1022-1030. doi:10.1017/S1368980009992035
- 115. Timperio A, Ball K, Roberts R, Campbell K, Andrianopoulos N, Crawford D. Children's fruit and vegetable intake: Associations with the neighbourhood food environment. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2008;46(4):331-335. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2007.11.011
- 116. An R, Sturm R. School and residential neighborhood food environment and diet among California youth. *Am J Prev Med.* 2012;42(2):129-135. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2011.10.012
- 117. Keane E, Cullinan J, Perry CP, et al. Dietary quality in children and the role of the local food environment. SSM - Popul Heal. 2016;2(April):770-777. doi:10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.10.002
- 118. Timperio AF, Ball K, Roberts R, Andrianopoulos N, Crawford DA. Children's takeaway and fast-food intakes: associations with the neighbourhood food environment. *Public Health Nutr.* 2009;12(10):1960. doi:10.1017/S1368980009004959
- 119. Cetateanu A, Jones A. Understanding the relationship between food environments, deprivation and childhood overweight and obesity: Evidence from a cross sectional England-wide study. *Health Place*. 2014;27:68-76. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2014.01.007

Chapter 2: Capturing associations of community food environments with diet quality and weight status: A suggested approach to standardize methodologies

2.1 Introduction

Excess body weight, unhealthy eating, and consequent chronic diseases have placed an enormous burden on society.^{1,2} More than 60% of all Canadians are overweight or obese^{3,4} and approximately 70% of Canadians aged 12 years and older consume less than five servings of vegetables and fruits per day.⁵ Maintaining healthy weights throughout childhood, adolescence and adulthood, limiting consumption of energy-dense foods and drinks, and increasing consumption of vegetables, fruit, whole grains and pulses are emphasized as priorities for obesity and chronic disease prevention.⁶ The Public Health Agency of Canada, Health Canada, and the World Health Organization have recognized the importance of fostering healthy environments to promote healthy eating and to reduce the burden of overweight and obesity and chronic disease.^{1,6,7}

Over the past decade, a plethora of studies examining associations of the community food environment with diet- and obesity- related outcomes have emerged worldwide. However, study findings are inconsistent, partly due to different approaches to measure the food environment.^{8–10} Many studies take advantage of the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) to classify food retailers. However, classifying retailers according to NAICS codes relies on umbrella categories, which may not accurately capture whether a food outlet is healthy or unhealthy.^{11,12} Other studies do not cite using a standardized list for classifying food outlets.^{13,14} Once food outlets are classified according to either NAICS codes or unique criteria, some researchers then classify retailers as healthy or unhealthy based on store type alone.^{15–20} Usually, grocery stores and fruit and vegetable markets are considered healthy food retail, while

convenience stores and fast food restaurants are considered unhealthy food retail. This mirrors the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) Modified Retail Food Environment Index (mRFEI) criteria.²¹ The mRFEI offers criteria for classifying food retailers as healthy or less healthy according to their NAICS codes; however, this binary measure based on store type may not accurately capture the foods being served or sold, leading to misclassification. On the other hand, Choose Most Often/Choose Sometimes/Choose Least Often (CMO/CS/CLO) is a novel food environment indicator that recognizes the types of foods served or sold at an establishment, and may provide more precise criteria for measuring the community food environment.

In addition to misclassifying retailers, variability and inconsistencies also occur because the community food environment can be captured for different geographic areas. For example, researchers have examined standard geographic areas/boundaries that an individual resides in, such as a forward sortation area (FSA) or census tract (CT), while the majority employ geographic (buffer) distances surrounding people's residences or schools (e.g., 1600 metre circular buffers surrounding an individual's home).^{9,11} Buffer distances examined in the literature ranged from 100m to 2 miles, highlighting the lack of consensus on which buffer sizes are relevant to residents.^{10,22}

Given the existing gaps and absence in consistency in the literature, coupled with the increasing interest in the community food environment as an intervention target to prevent obesity, poor diet, and chronic disease, our objectives are to: 1) employ and compare the CDC's mRFEI with CMO/CS/CLO, a novel and more comprehensive indicator of community food environment, and 2) use the better performing indicator to examine and compare food environments calculated for varying buffer distances and standard geographic areas/boundaries.

2.2.0 Methods

2.2.1 Study Design and Participants

The present study used survey data on diet, body weight status, and socio-demographic information from the 2014 Raising healthy Eating and Active Living Kids in Alberta (REAL Kids Alberta), a population-based survey of grade five students in Alberta, Canada. A one-stage stratified random sampling technique was used to select a sample of 140 elementary school from across Alberta. All elementary schools in Alberta with grade five students, except private schools, francophone schools, on-reserve schools, charter schools and colony schools, were eligible for selection. Within each geographic area (urban, rural, metropolitan), schools were proportionally selected at random. All grade five students, their parent(s), and school principals of the selected schools were invited to participate. In total, 2,958 students were granted parental consent to participate in the study.²³ For the present study, we worked with the subsample of students who reside in Edmonton and Calgary, thereby restricting the sample to 989 students from 41 schools. Two schools each had only two students participate; multi-level analysis requires at least five students (units) per school (cluster), and therefore, students attending these two schools were excluded from our analyses, leaving 984 students from 39 schools. An additional 133 students who were missing exposure and/or outcome data were also eliminated, resulting in 851 eligible students from 39 schools. It is recommended that students with caloric intakes less than 500 or greater than 5,000 calories per day be excluded from analyses²⁴; exclusion of these participants yielded results that remained robust. Therefore, the present analyses are based on the sample regardless of caloric intake.

Students who enrolled in the study completed the Canadian version of the Harvard Food Frequency Questionnaire for Children and Youth (YAQ)²⁵ under the supervision of project

assistants. This comprehensive survey is used to assess each child's eating habits and nutrient intake.²⁶ Students were also surveyed on their lifestyle behaviours and knowledge of existing health and wellness programs in Alberta. Additionally, research assistants used standardized tools (stadiometers and calibrated digital scales) to measure each student's standing height and weight. The parent(s) or guardian(s) of students enrolled in the study also completed a selfreport survey, with questions pertaining to the home environment and demographic information. Lastly, school principals completed a survey on the school food environment and school programs.

2.2.2 Outcome of Interest: Diet Quality, Vegetables and Fruit Consumption, and Body Weight Status

Outcome variables included diet quality, vegetables and fruit consumption, BMI and bodyweight status. Diet quality was assessed with both the Youth Healthy Eating Index (Y-HEI)²⁷ and the Diet Quality Index-International (DQI-I).²⁸ Daily vegetables and fruit consumption was examined as number of servings per day. BMI was derived from measured weight divided by measured height squared, and then classified according to WHO age- and sexspecific Z scores.²⁹ Children with a Z score greater than 1 were classified as overweight or obese.

2.2.3 Exposure of Interest: Community Food Environments

Part 1:

The Environmental Public Health Department of Alberta Health Services provided a list of all food retailers in Edmonton and Calgary. Food retailers from this list were included in food environment calculations if they were known to serve or sell food and were open for public access. Full-service restaurants were not included, as the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) criteria does not consider them.²¹ Food retailers were ranked according to two food environment indicators: the Modified Retail Food Environment Index (mRFEI) and Choose Most Often/Choose Sometimes/Choose Least Often (CMO/CS/CLO).

The mRFEI is an indicator of community food environment developed by the CDC, which classifies food retailers as either healthy or less healthy based on the type of food outlet.²¹ Food outlet types were assigned according to the Canadian version of the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) codes, which varies slightly from the American version that was used to construct the mRFEI criteria. The categories included: supermarkets and other grocery stores (445110), fruit and vegetable markets (445230), general-line food merchant wholesalers (452910 & 413110), convenience stores and gasoline stations with convenience stores (445120 & 447110), and limited service eating places (722512). Healthy retailers included supermarkets and grocery stores, fruit and vegetable markets, and warehouse clubs and supercentres, while less healthy food retailers included convenience stores and limited service eating places. Typically, the mRFEI assesses the relative availability of *healthy* food retailers within census tracts or identified boundaries in proportion to both healthy and less healthy food retailers. However, recent studies have focused on relative availability of *unhealthy* food retailer types.^{17,19,30–32} Therefore, the relative availability of less healthy food retailers within 1600m buffers surrounding schools was calculated as: 100 x (number of less healthy outlets/total number of outlets). The absolute density (number of outlets) of less healthy food outlets within 1600m buffers surrounding schools was also calculated. We used 1600m buffers to compare these two food environment indicators because it has been suggested that the larger food environment may be more important than immediate surroundings¹¹, and previous studies have used 1600m buffers to assess the community food environment.^{15,33–41}

The CMO/CS/CLO indicator was developed by a Registered Dietician (RD) who ranked food retailers' menus according to the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth.⁴² Food retailers were ranked as Choose Most Often (CMO), Choose Sometimes (CS), or Choose Least Often (CLO). Alberta's nutrition guidelines categorizes foods into these three categories based on the amount of total fat, saturated fat, sodium, sugar and fibre, and also recommends that CMO foods are consumed daily, CS foods are consumed only a few times throughout the week, and CLO foods are only consumed once a week or less.⁴² Food retailers that were most healthful, including sandwich outlets, smoothie outlets, grocery stores and salad bars, were considered as CMO. CS food retailers included sit-down restaurants, cafeterias, coffee outlets, supplements and processed grocery stores. CLO retailers included pizza, Asian, burger and taco outlets, ice cream shops, lounges/bars and food outlets that serve fried foods. The relative density of CLO outlets within 1600m of schools was calculated as: 100 x (number of CLO outlets/total number of outlets). The absolute (number) density of CLO food outlets within 1600m buffers surrounding schools was also calculated. The present study compared the mRFEI with the CMO/CS/CLO based on: 1) whether associations in the regression analyses were statistically significant and coefficients were in the hypothesized direction, and 2) model fit statistics. (Food retailer classifications for CMO/CS/CLO and mRFEI are outlined in Appendix A).

Part 2:

After comparing the mRFEI and CMO/CS/CLO, we used the better performing food environment indicator to examine and compare food environments at various standard geographic areas/boundaries and buffer distances. We derived food environment exposures (absolute and relative densities) for each forward sortation area (FSA) and census tract (CT) that a school was located in, as well as 1600m, 1000m, and 800m circular buffers around each of the 39 schools. FSA is a large geographic area, identified by the first three characters of a postal code.⁴³ On the other hand, a CT is a small geographic area that has a population between 2,500-8,000 persons.⁴⁴ Comparisons of food environments for different geographic areas was based on: 1) whether associations in the regression analyses were statistically significant and coefficients were in the hypothesized direction, and 2) model fit statistics.

2.2.4 Statistical Analysis

Due to the hierarchical nature of our data, we used a series of likelihood ratio (LR) tests for each outcome variable to assess whether 2-level multilevel mixed-effect regression models provided better fit compared to ordinary least squares regression models. We also examined the intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC) of null models. Multilevel mixed-effect linear and logistic regression models with children nested in schools were the preferred models and were used to assess associations of community food environments with Y-HEI, DQI-I, vegetables and fruit consumption, BMI and body weight status. We also tested whether 3-level (level 1: students; level 2: schools; level 3: FSA/CT) models provided better fit compared to 2-level models, but 2-level models persisted.

Sociodemographic variables and food environment scores were described using means and standard deviations for continuous variables, and frequency measures for categorical variables. Unadjusted associations of food environment indicators with diet and weight status outcomes were first examined. Multivariable mixed-effect linear and logistic regression models were used to adjust for individual and area-level confounders; namely, child's gender, child's total energy intake (for diet outcomes)²⁴, physical activity level (Physical Activity Questionnaire

for Children score) (for weight status outcomes), parent's education (high school or less, college or university, graduate university), household income (<\$25,000, \$25,000-\$50,000, \$50,001-\$75,000, \$75,000-\$100,000, >\$100,000) and area-level material deprivation (quintile 1 being least deprived, and quintile 5 being most deprived).⁴⁵ Missing values combined with 'prefer not to answer' for the income confounding variable were considered as a separate category in the regression analysis. Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) statistics were examined in fully adjusted models to compare whether: 1) food environment calculated with the mRFEI or CMO/CS/CLO produced a better fitting model, and 2) food environments calculated for each boundary/buffer provided better model fit statistics. All data analyses were performed with Stata/SE 15 statistical software package (Stata Corp., College Station, TX).

2.3 Results

Of the 851 participants with complete exposure and outcome information, the average Y-HEI score was 63.2, the average DQI-I score was 62.1, and the average number of vegetables and fruits consumed per day was 4.98 (Table 2.1). The average BMI Z score was 0.69, and the prevalence of overweight or obesity was 40.2%.

On average, FSAs had the most food outlets (87.3) followed by 1600m buffers around schools (56.3), 1000m buffers (22.0), CTs (18.1), and 800m buffers (13.0) (Table 2.2). When considering the mRFEI criteria, all areas were dominated by less healthy food outlets. Food environments calculated for FSAs surrounding schools had the highest proportion of less healthy food outlets (89.9%), followed by 1600m buffers (87.5%), 800m buffers (85.5%), 1000m buffers (85.3%), and CTs (84.3%). When considering the CMO/CS/CLO criteria, food environments calculated for 800m buffers surrounding schools had the highest proportion of CLO outlets

(71.3%), followed by 1000m buffers (69.3%), FSAs (67.8%), CTs (66.9%), and 1600m buffers (66.6%).

Part 1:

When considering the mRFEI, neither the absolute nor the relative density of less healthy food outlets within 1600m of schools was associated with Y-HEI, DQI-I, BMI Z score, or body weight status in a statistically significant manner (Table 2.3). Before adjusting for potential confounders, in a univariate model containing the absolute density of less healthy food outlets, the relative density of less healthy food outlets was associated with daily vegetables and fruit consumption. Results indicated that for every 10% increase in the proportion of less healthy outlets within 1600m buffers around schools, vegetables and fruit consumption among study participants decreased by 0.62 servings per day (p<0.05), conditional on the random effect. This association appeared no longer to be statistically significant after adjusting for potential confounders.

When considering the CMO/CS/CLO, neither the absolute nor the relative density of CLO outlets had a statistically significant association with DQI-I or daily vegetables and fruit consumption (Table 2.3). Before adjusting for potential confounders, in models containing the absolute density of CLO food outlets, the relative density of CLO outlets was significantly associated with Y-HEI, BMI Z score, and overweight or obese status. Specifically, for every 10% increase in the proportion of CLO outlets within 1600m buffers around schools, Y-HEI decreased by 1.69 units (p<0.01), BMI Z score increased by 0.21 units (p<0.01), and the odds of overweight or obesity increased by 38% (<0.01), conditional on the random effect. Additionally, in a model containing the relative density of CLO outlets, the absolute density of CLO food

outlets was associated with increased BMI Z scores. After adjusting for potential confounders, all significant associations appeared no longer to be statistically significant. The Pearson correlation coefficient assessing the relationship between mRFEI (%Less healthy) and CMO/CS/CLO (%CLO) was 0.16.

For 8 out of 10 models, AIC statistics were lower for models that used CMO/CS/CLO compared to mRFEI criteria (Table 2.3). Fully adjusted models that examined DQI-I as the outcome variable and employed the mRFEI yielded slightly lower AIC statistics compared to models that used the CMO/CS/CLO (6151.91 vs. 6152.01), although differences were negligible. Unadjusted models that examined vegetables and fruit consumption as the outcome variable also produced lower AIC statistics for the mRFEI model compared to the CMO/CS/CLO model (4664.42 vs. 4667.61). Once fully adjusted for potential confounding variables, the AIC values reversed; model fit statistics were lower for the CMO/CS/CLO model than the mRFEI model (3991.45 vs. 3993.20).

Part 2:

Overall, there were no significant associations for the absolute nor relative density of CLO food outlets in CTs, 1000m or 800m buffers surrounding schools (Table 2.4 and Table 2.5). In unadjusted models, there were significant associations of relative density of CLO outlets within 1600m of schools with Y-HEI, BMI Z score, and overweight/obese status, in models containing the absolute density. For every 10% increase in the proportion of CLO outlets within 1600m buffers around schools, Y-HEI decreased by 1.69 units (p<0.01), BMI Z score increased by 0.21 units (p<0.01), and the odds of overweight or obesity increased by 38% (p<0.01), conditional on the random effect. Once adjusted for potential confounders, these associations

were no longer significant. In addition, absolute density of CLO outlets within 1600m around schools was associated with BMI Z score in unadjusted models containing relative density. As the number of CLO outlets increased by 10, BMI Z score increased by 0.065 units (p<0.05), conditional on the random effect. After adjusting for potential confounders, the association was no longer significant. In models containing the absolute density of CLO outlets, the relative density of CLO outlets within a school's FSA was also associated with Y-HEI in unadjusted models. For every 10% increase in the proportion of CLO outlets, Y-HEI decreased by 1.59 units (p<0.01), conditional on the random effect. Again, after adjusting for potential confounders, this association was no longer significant.

For 7 out of 10 models, AIC statistics were lower for models that assessed community food environments surrounding schools within 1600m buffers compared to 1000m or 800m buffers (Table 2.4). Unadjusted models examining DQI-I as the outcome variable produced lower AIC values for 1000m buffers compared to 1600m or 800m buffers. When fully adjusted, AIC values were lower for 800m buffers compared to 1000m and 1600m buffers. For the standard geographic areas/boundaries, 6 out of 10 model AIC statistics were lower for community food environments assessed at the FSA level compared to CT level (Table 2.5). For several comparisons, the differences in AIC statistics between the two models was small (less than 1).

In sensitivity analyses, exclusion of children who reported consuming less than 500 or more than 5000 calories per day revealed similar findings to those in Table 2.3, Table 2.4 and Table 2.5.

2.4 Interpretation

In the first part of this study, we observed that the novel food environment indicator (based on more refined classifications) was better able to capture associations with diet and weight status with less error, compared to the indicator developed by the CDC. When the CDC's indicator was used to measure the food environment, several associations were in the opposite of the expected direction, while most associations captured by the novel indicator were in the hypothesized direction. The second part of this study revealed that larger geographic areas (1600m buffers) were better able to capture associations with less error compared to smaller areas. Additionally, when comparing food environments calculated for standard geographic areas/boundaries surrounding schools, the larger boundary (FSA) produced models with less error compared to the smaller boundaries (CT). Both boundary sizes produced inconsistent associations, with several in the opposite of the hypothesized direction. Using larger geographic areas to examine the food environment produced the most consistent results overall. Ultimately, we observed few associations, and all of them disappeared after adjustment for potential confounders.

The absence of statistically significant differences, as observed in this study using the mRFEI, is often observed in the food environment literature. While there are studies that have reported associations of community food environments with diet and weight status outcomes, several have reported null findings, and many have reported results in the opposite of the expected direction.^{9–11,22} An et al. conducted a cross-sectional study examining associations of food outlet types within 0.5 mile buffers surrounding schools and residences with diet quality of American children.⁴⁶ The study found no evidence that the absolute density of any food outlet types is associated with children's diet quality. A recent systematic review by Wilkins et al.

examined similar findings.⁹ The review assessed 113 studies on children and adults from the United States, Canada, United Kingdom, Australia, Germany and New Zealand, published between 2004 and 2017. Overall, 76% of all associations from the included studies were null.

Various studies have also examined multiple buffer sizes and boundaries to reveal which is most accurate in assessing the community food environment. Caspi et al. suggested that some studies may not have found a meaningful association because the chosen buffer or boundary was not relevant to the population participating in the study.¹⁰ While this may be true, Cobb et al. suggested that the broader neighbourhood may be more important than immediate surroundings.¹¹ The present study aligns with both of these thoughts. We observed several inconsistent associations when examining smaller geographic areas. Edmonton and Calgary are not typical walkable cities⁴⁷, and therefore examining larger geographic areas makes sense. Although we conducted our analyses with a sample of young children who may not have the opportunity to walk to and from school, we assumed that children reside in the same neighbourhood as their school, and their parents may visit food outlets in the surrounding neighbourhood.

The present study showed that the novel food environment indicator, which considers the types of foods sold or served at an establishment (CMO/CS/CLO), outperformed the indicator based on food outlet type (mRFEI). The abundance of null and opposite findings in the literature may be suggestive of the need for more precise assessment methods that consider more than food outlet type. Future studies should use tools that consider the types of food served or sold at an establishment in order to provide a more accurate assessment of the associations of community food environments with diet and body weight status outcomes.

Study findings should be interpreted bearing in mind the potential limitations. This study employed a cross-sectional design; however, exposure and outcome data were not collected simultaneously. Food retailer data was from 2016, while the REAL Kids Alberta survey data was collected in 2014. This is lag between exposure and outcome data collection is common in food environment studies.^{48,49} We adjusted for several important confounding variables; however, residual confounding may have persisted despite adjustment. Assessment of dietary intake was based on self-report, which may be prone to measurement errors due to poor recall or social desirability bias. Even so, the Harvard YAQ has been validated for use with children. While REAL Kids Alberta is a population-based study, this research limited analyses to children residing in Edmonton and Calgary due to the availability of food environment data. Therefore, generalizability of study findings may be limited. A final limitation of this research is the relatively small sample size. We ran multiple statistical tests, which may have increased the likelihood of a type 1 error.

Regardless of the limitations, this study has many strengths. We used data from a population-based survey that used a validated FFQ to collect dietary intake, and trained research assistants to measure each child's height and weight. The food retailer list used to construct food environment measures was obtained from the public health inspector, which is preferred over business data lists, which are known to be inaccurate.^{50,51} Most studies use food environment indicators that classify food outlets based on type alone (fast food, convenience, supermarket, etc.), which introduces the potential for misclassification. This study employed a new food environment indicator, developed by a Registered Dietician who ranked food retailers' menus according to the primary types of foods served at the establishment. Many food outlets that are classically considered fast food, such as Chopped Leaf and Freshii, offer healthy food options,

and this should be considered when classifying food outlets. We compared this new threecategory indicator with the CDC's mRFEI, which has two categories. To our knowledge, this is the first study to employ two food environment indicators and compare them. Many studies employ several measures of the food environment (absolute density, relative density, proximity), but no study has used different tools to classify food environments and subsequently compared them. We adjusted for area- level socioeconomic status (SES) to account for the clustering of unhealthy food outlets in lower SES areas.⁵² Lastly, we tested associations for several buffer and boundary sizes.

2.5 Conclusion

While this study did not examine any statistically significant associations in fully adjusted models, findings are nonetheless important. Study findings suggest that future studies should use the CMO/CS/CLO food environment indicator, which offers a more comprehensive approach for classifying food retailers. Additionally, 1600m buffers may be valuable when used to assess the food environments of cities with similar walkability to Edmonton and Calgary. The lack of significance observed suggests that focusing on relative and absolute density separately may not be appropriate. This study contributes important evidence on effective methods to measure the community food environment and better capture the effect it has on children's diets and body weights.

	·)
Participant Characteristics	Mean±SD or n(%)
Diet Quality	
Y-HEI	63.2±9.3
DQI-I	62.1 ± 10.7
Daily vegetables and fruit	4.98 ± 3.75
BMI z score	0.69 ± 1.29
Weight Status	
Overweight	204 (24.0%)
Obese	138 (16.2%)
Gender	
Male	402 (47.2%)
Female	449 (52.8%)
Parental Education	
High school or less	167 (19.6%)
College or university	465 (54.6%)
Graduate university	180 (21.2%)
Prefer not to answer/missing	39 (4.6%)
Household Income	
Less than \$25,000	53 (6.2%)
\$25,000 - \$50,000	92 (10.8%)
\$50,001 - \$75,000	68 (8.0%)
\$75,001 - \$100,000	78 (9.2%)
> \$100.000	211 (24.8%)
Prefer not to answer/missing	349 (41.0%)
РАО-С	3.29±0.7
Total daily energy intake	1939.0±1161.6
Area-level material deprivation	
Q1 (least deprived)	125 (15.0%)
Õ2	231 (27.7%)
Õ3	184 (22.0%)
Q4	135 (16.2%)
05 (most deprived)	160 (19.2%)

Table 2.1. Characteristics of grade 5 students residing in Edmonton and Calgary participating in the 2014 REAL Kids Alberta Study (n=851)

CMO = choose least often; CS = choose sometimes; CLO = choose least often; Y-HEI = Youth Healthy Eating Index; DQI-I = Diet Quality Index International; PAQ-C = Physical Activity Questionnaire for Children score; BMI = Body Mass Index.

	Mean (min-max)							
	FSA	СТ	1600m	1000m	800m			
Total # outlets	87.3 (13-243)	18.1 (0-88)	56.3 (11-124)	22.0 (0-75)	13.0 (0-58)			
mRFEI								
# Healthy outlets	8.6 (1-27)	1.78 (0-7)	6.77 (1-21)	2.62 (0-10)	1.67 (0-8)			
# Less healthy outlets	78.7 (12-216)	16.3 (0-85)	49.5 (10-111)	19.4 (0-65)	11.3 (0-50)			
%Less healthy (less	89.9 (80.4-97.8)	84.3 (0-100)	87.5 (70.8-97.0)	85.3 (0-100)	85.5 (0-100)			
healthy/total)								
CMO/CS/CLO								
#CMO	16.2 (2-48)	3.43 (0-17)	10.8 (2-26)	4.38 (0-18)	2.54 (0-14)			
#CS	12.6 (1-33)	3.19 (0-32)	8.15 (1-33)	2.82 (0-21)	1.54 (0-15)			
#CLO	58.4 (7-169)	11.5 (0-40)	37.3 (8-93)	14.8 (0-52)	8.92 (0-39)			
%CLO (CLO/total)	67.8 (49.5-81.6)	66.9 (0-100)	66.6 (46.5-89.7)	69.3 (0-100)	71.3 (0-100)			

Table 2.2. Average absolute and relative densities of food outlet types within each geographic area

1. FSA = forward sortation area; CT = census tract; 1600m, 1000m, 800m = buffer sizes around schools

2. mRFEI = Modified Retail Food Environment Index developed by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; CMO/CS/CLO = Choose Most

Often/Choose Sometimes/Choose Least Often

3. #Healthy = number of healthy food outlets; #Less healthy = number of less healthy food outlets; %Less healthy = proportion of less healthy food outlets relative to all; #CMO = number of choose most often food outlets; #CS = number of choose sometimes food outlets; #CLO = number of choose least often food outlets; %CLO = proportion of CLO food outlets relative to all.

	mRFFI	70111 01 5V	2110015	CMO/CS/CLO		$r=0.16^{a}$
	β (95%CI)	n_value	AIC	β (95%CI)	n-value	AIC
V_HFI	p () 5 / 001)	<i>p</i> value	7110	p ()3/001)	p-value	т
Univariate			6203 67			6194 23*
Proportion(%)	1.36 (-0.22, 2.94)	0.092	0205.07	-1.69 (-2.67, -0.70)	0.001	017 1.25
Count(#)	-0.051 (-0.36, 0.26)	0.75		-0.17 (-0.54, 0.19)	0.35	
Multivariable	0.0001 (0.000, 0.20)	0170	6050.23		0.00	6048.82*
Proportion(%)	0.34 (-1.36, 2.03)	0.70		-0.96 (-2.07, 0.14)	0.088	
Count(#)	0.17 (-0.13, 0.47)	0.27		0.071 (-0.33, 0.47)	0.73	
DOI-I						
Univariate			6447.58			6446.81*
Proportion(%)	-0.42 (-2.00, 1.16)	0.60		-0.44 (-1.54, 0.65)	0.43	
Count(#)	-0.064 (-0.37, 0.24)	0.68		-0.14 (-0.54, 0.26)	0.49	
Multivariable			6151.91*			6152.01
Proportion(%)	0.42 (-1.04, 1.89)	0.57		-0.085 (-1.06, 0.89)	0.86	
Count(#)	-0.030 (-0.28, 0.22)	0.82		-0.084 (-0.43, 0.26)	0.63	
VF Consumption						
Univariate			4664.42*			4667.61
Proportion(%)	-0.62 (-1.21, -0.036)	0.038		-0.21 (-0.63, 0.21)	0.32	
Count(#)	0.016 (-0.098, 0.13)	0.78		-0.0057 (-0.16, 0.15)	0.94	
Multivariable			3993.20			3991.45*
Proportion(%)	0.13 (-0.33, 0.58)	0.58		-0.25 (-0.55, 0.051)	0.10	
Count(#)	0.027 (-0.053, 0.11)	0.51		0.0047 (-0.10, 0.11)	0.93	
BMI z score						
Univariate			2831.01			2821.45*
Proportion(%)	-0.13 (-0.36, 0.11)	0.30		0.21 (0.067, 0.36)	0.004	
Count(#)	0.045 (-0.0019, 0.092)	0.060		0.065 (0.011, 0.12)	0.019	
Multivariable			2773.88			2769.53*
Proportion(%)	0.098 (-0.14, 0.33)	0.42		0.15 (0.0029, 0.30)	0.050	
Count(#)	0.023 (-0.019, 0.065)	0.28		0.052 (-0.0020, 0.11)	0.059	
	OR (95%CI)	p-value	AIC	OR (95%CI)	p-value	AIC
Overweight/obese						
Univariate			1133.70			1127.72*
Proportion(%)	0.72 (0.50, 1.03)	0.073		1.38 (1.09, 1.76)	0.008	
Count(#)	1.07 (0.99, 1.14)	0.082		1.09 (1.00, 1.19)	0.058	
Multivariable			1098.79			1096.24*
Proportion(%)	1.08 (0.78, 1.50)	0.63		1.19 (0.95, 1.48)	0.14	
Count(#)	1.03 (0.97, 1.09)	0.33		1.06 (0.98, 1.15)	0.14	

Table 2.3. Associations of unhealthy food outlets with diet and body weight outcomes according to mRFEI and CMO/CS/CLO within 1600m of schools

1. ^a Pearson correlation between mRFEI (%Less healthy) and CMO/CS/CLO (%CLO).

2. β coefficients and 95%CI from multilevel mixed-effect linear regression models (multiplied by 10).

3. Odds ratios (OR) and 95%CI from multilevel mixed-effect logistic regression models (multiplied by 10).

4. Multivariable models adjusted for gender, total energy intake (or physical activity for models examining

BMI/weight status), parental education, household income, and area-level material deprivation.

5. AIC: Akaike information criterion. * specifies the lower AIC value, indicative of a better model fit.

6. Y-HEI = Youth Healthy Eating Index; DQI-I = Diet Quality Index-International; VF = Vegetables and Fruit; BMI = Body Mass Index.

7. Bolded results are statistically significant (p < 0.05).
| | 1600m | | | 1000m | | | 800m | | |
|----------------|--------------------------|---------|----------|----------------------------|---------|----------|---------------------------|---------|---------|
| | β (95%CI) | p-value | AIC | β (95%CI) | p-value | AIC | β (95%CI) | p-value | AIC |
| Y-HEI | | | | | | | | | |
| Univariate | | | 6194.23* | | | 6204.94 | | | 6205.41 |
| %CLO | -1.69 (-2.67, -0.70) | 0.001 | | -0.27 (-0.84, 0.29) | 0.34 | | -0.16 (-0.66, 0.35) | 0.55 | |
| #CLO | -0.17 (-0.54, 0.19) | 0.35 | | -0.48 (-1.48, 0.53) | 0.35 | | -0.59 (-1.94, 0.77) | 0.40 | |
| Multivariable | | | 6048.82* | | | 6051.56 | | | 6051.88 |
| %CLO | -0.96 (-2.07, 0.14) | 0.088 | | -0.16 (-0.69, 0.38) | 0.56 | | 0.020 (-0.47, 0.51) | 0.94 | |
| #CLO | 0.071 (-0.33, 0.47) | 0.73 | | 0.0095 (-0.94, 0.96) | 0.98 | | -0.076 (-1.44, 1.29) | 0.91 | |
| DQI-I | | | | | | | | | |
| Univariate | | | 6446.81 | | | 6446.52* | | | 6446.93 |
| %CLO | -0.44 (-1.54, 0.65) | 0.43 | | -0.024 (-0.60, 0.55) | 0.93 | | 0.19 (-0.32, 0.70) | 0.47 | |
| #CLO | -0.14 (-0.54, 0.26) | 0.49 | | -0.65 (-1.67, 0.37) | 0.21 | | -0.57 (-1.94, 0.80) | 0.42 | |
| Multivariable | | | 6152.01 | | | 6150.69* | | | 6148.58 |
| %CLO | -0.085 (-1.06, 0.89) | 0.86 | | 0.052 (-0.41, 0.52) | 0.83 | | 0.29 (-0.14, 0.72) | 0.19 | |
| #CLO | -0.084 (-0.43, 0.26) | 0.63 | | -0.49 (-1.31, 0.33) | 0.24 | | -0.84 (-2.05, 0.37) | 0.17 | |
| VF Consumption | | | | | | | | | |
| Univariate | | | 4667.61 | | | 4667.45* | | | 4668.55 |
| %CLO | -0.21 (-0.63, 0.21) | 0.32 | | -0.077 (-0.30, 0.14) | 0.49 | | -0.030 (-0.22, 0.17) | 0.77 | |
| #CLO | -0.0057 (-0.16, | 0.94 | | -0.18 (-0.57, 0.20) | 0.35 | | 0.0040 (-0.52, | 0.99 | |
| | 0.15) | | | | | | 0.53) | | |
| Multivariable | | | 3991.45* | | | 3991.51 | | | 3993.60 |
| %CLO | -0.25 (-0.55, 0.051) | 0.10 | | -0.076 (-0.22, 0.066) | 0.29 | | -0.026 (-0.16, 0.11) | 0.71 | |
| #CLO | 0.0047 (-0.10, | 0.93 | | -0.18 (-0.43, 0.073) | 0.17 | | -0.12 (-0.50, 0.25) | 0.52 | |
| | 0.11) | | | | | | | | |
| BMI z score | | | 2021 45* | | | 0000 10 | | | 2022 15 |
| Univariate | | 0.004 | 2821.45* | 0.0001 (0.005 | 0.07 | 2833.13 | 0.0000 (0.000 | 0.04 | 2833.15 |
| %CLO | 0.21 (0.067, 0.36) | 0.004 | | -0.0081 (-0.095,
0.079) | 0.86 | | 0.0080 (-0.068,
0.084) | 0.84 | |
| #CLO | 0.065 (0.011, 0.12) | 0.019 | | 0.10 (-0.053, 0.26) | 0.20 | | 0.14 (-0.069, 0.34) | 0.19 | |
| Multivariable | | | 2769.53* | | | 2775.38 | | | 2774.82 |
| %CLO | 0.15 (0.00029,
0.30) | 0.050 | | -0.022 (-0.096,
0.053) | 0.57 | | -0.022 (-0.090,
0.045) | 0.52 | |
| #CLO | 0.052 (-0.0020,
0.11) | 0.059 | | 0.047 (-0.085, 0.18) | 0.48 | | 0.10 (-0.088, 0.29) | 0.29 | |

 Table 2.4. Associations of absolute and relative density of CLO outlets with diet- and weight- related outcomes for different geographic areas (buffers)

	OR (95%CI)	p-value	AIC	OR (95%CI)	p-value	AIC	OR (95%CI)	p-value	AIC
Overweight/obese									
Univariate			1127.72*			1136.713			1136.59
%CLO	1.38 (1.09, 1.76)	0.008		1.03 (0.89, 1.18)	0.72		1.05 (0.93, 1.19)	0.39	
#CLO	1.09 (1.00, 1.19)	0.058		1.19 (0.93, 1.51)	0.16		1.21 (0.88, 1.67)	0.24	
Multivariable			1096.24*			1099.282			1098.69
%CLO	1.19 (0.95, 1.48)	0.14		0.99 (0.89, 1.10)	0.84		0.99 (0.90, 1.09)	0.85	
#CLO	1.06 (0.98, 1.15)	0.14		1.09 (0.91, 1.32)	0.35		1.19 (0.90, 1.57)	0.22	

1. β coefficients and 95%CI from multilevel mixed-effect linear regression models (multiplied by 10).

2. Odds ratios (OR) and 95%CI from multilevel mixed-effect logistic regression models (multiplied by 10).

3. Multivariable models adjusted for gender, total energy intake (or physical activity for models examining BMI/weight status), parental education, household income, and area-level material deprivation.

4. AIC: Akaike information criterion. * specifies the lower AIC value, indicative of a better model fit.

5. Y-HEI = Youth Healthy Eating Index; DQI-I = Diet Quality Index-International; VF = Vegetables and Fruit; BMI = Body Mass Index; %CLO = proportion of CLO food outlets relative to all; #CLO = number of CLO food outlets.

6. Bolded results are statistically significant (p < 0.05).

β (95%CI)	n-value	AIC			
	p , and	AIC	β (95%CI)	p-value	AIC
	•		• • • •	•	
		6198.066*			6205.349
-1.59 (-2.79, -0.39)	0.009		-0.059 (-0.45, 0.34)	0.77	
-0.13 (-0.31, 0.055)	0.17		0.44 (-0.39, 1.26)	0.30	
		6050.795			6048.653*
-0.70 (-2.11, 0.70)	0.33		0.11 (-0.23, 0.44)	0.54	
-0.054 (-0.25, 0.14)	0.59		0.70 (-0.051, 1.44)	0.068	
		6447.936			6447.681*
0.098 (-1.14, 1.33)	0.88		0.040 (-0.35, 0.43)	0.84	
-0.037 (-0.23, 0.15)	0.71		0.26 (-0.56, 1.08)	0.54	
		6151.593			6151.217*
0.24 (-0.90, 1.39)	0.68		0.15 (-0.15, 0.45)	0.33	
-0.051 (-0.21, 0.11)	0.53		0.12 (-0.57, 0.81)	0.74	
		4667.592*			4668.524
0.25 (-0.22, 0.72)	0.30		-0.014 (-0.16, 0.14)	0.85	
0.0018 (-0.071, 0.072)	1.00		0.045 (-0.27, 0.36)	0.78	
		3994.065			3993.34*
-0.0046 (-0.38, 0.70)	0.98		0.042 (-0.051, 0.14)	0.38	
-0.0075 (-0.059, 0.044)	0.78		0.038 (-0.17, 0.25)	0.72	
		2833.001*			2834.074
0.10 (-0.10, 0.30)	0.33		0.025 (-0.038, 0.088)	0.44	
0.014 (-0.016, 0.045)	0.35		0.026 (-0.10, 0.16)	0.70	
		2775.922*			2776.268
-0.062 (-0.26, 0.13)	0.53		0.0021 (-0.049, 0.053)	0.94	
-0.0027 (-0.029, 0.024)	0.85		0.0075 (-0.11, 0.12)	0.90	
OR (95%CI)	p-value	AIC	OR (95%CI)	р	AIC
		1137 274*			1137 372
	-1.59 (-2.79, -0.39) -0.13 (-0.31, 0.055) -0.70 (-2.11, 0.70) -0.054 (-0.25, 0.14) 0.098 (-1.14, 1.33) -0.037 (-0.23, 0.15) 0.24 (-0.90, 1.39) -0.051 (-0.21, 0.11) 0.25 (-0.22, 0.72) 0.0018 (-0.071, 0.072) -0.0046 (-0.38, 0.70) -0.0075 (-0.059, 0.044) 0.10 (-0.10, 0.30) 0.014 (-0.016, 0.045) -0.062 (-0.26, 0.13) -0.0027 (-0.029, 0.024) OR (95%CI)	-1.59 (-2.79, -0.39)0.009 -0.13 (-0.31, 0.055)0.17 -0.70 (-2.11, 0.70)0.33 -0.054 (-0.25, 0.14)0.59 0.098 (-1.14, 1.33)0.88 -0.037 (-0.23, 0.15)0.71 0.24 (-0.90, 1.39)0.68 -0.051 (-0.21, 0.11)0.53 0.25 (-0.22, 0.72)0.30 0.0018 (-0.071, 0.072)1.00 -0.0046 (-0.38, 0.70)0.98 -0.0075 (-0.059, 0.044)0.78 0.10 (-0.10, 0.30)0.33 0.014 (-0.016, 0.045)0.53 -0.062 (-0.26, 0.13)0.53 -0.0027 (-0.029, 0.024)0.85OR (95%CI)p-value	-1.59 (-2.79, -0.39)0.009 $-0.13 (-0.31, 0.055)$ 0.17 $-0.70 (-2.11, 0.70)$ 0.33 $-0.054 (-0.25, 0.14)$ 0.59 $-0.054 (-0.25, 0.14)$ 0.59 $-0.037 (-0.23, 0.15)$ 0.71 $0.24 (-0.90, 1.39)$ 0.68 $-0.051 (-0.21, 0.11)$ 0.53 $0.25 (-0.22, 0.72)$ 0.30 $0.0018 (-0.071, 0.072)$ 1.00 $-0.0046 (-0.38, 0.70)$ 0.98 $-0.0075 (-0.059, 0.044)$ 0.78 $2833.001*$ $0.10 (-0.10, 0.30)$ 0.33 $0.014 (-0.016, 0.045)$ 0.53 $-0.0027 (-0.029, 0.024)$ 0.53 $OR (95\%CI)$ p -value AIC $1137.274*$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Table 2.5. Associations of absolute and relative density of CLO outlets with diet- and weight- related outcomes for different standard geographic areas/boundaries (FSA and CT)

%CLO	1.18 (0.86, 1.62)	0.30	1.06 (0.96, 1.16)	0.27	
#CLO	1.01 (0.97, 1.06)	0.58	1.03 (0.84, 1.25)	0.81	
Multivariable			1098.365*		1099.961
%CLO	0.85 (0.66, 1.10)	0.23	1.02 (0.95, 1.09)	0.62	
#CLO	0.98 (0.95, 1.02)	0.37	0.98 (0.83, 1.16)	0.83	

1. β coefficients and 95%CI from multilevel mixed-effect linear regression models (multiplied by 10).

2. Odds ratios (OR) and 95%CI from multilevel mixed-effect logistic regression models (multiplied by 10).

3. Multivariable models adjusted for gender, total energy intake (or physical activity for models examining BMI/weight status), parental education, household income, and area-level material deprivation.

4. AIC: Akaike information criterion. * specifies the lower AIC value, indicative of a better model fit.

5. Y-HEI = Youth Healthy Eating Index; DQI-I = Diet Quality Index-International; VF = Vegetables and Fruit; BMI = Body Mass Index; %CLO = proportion of CLO food outlets relative to all; #CLO = number of CLO food outlets; FSA = Forward Sortation Area; CT = Census Tract.

6. Bolded results are statistically significant (p<0.05).

2.6 References

- Public Health Agency of Canada, Information, Canadian Institute for Health Information, Government of Canada, Public Health Agency of Canada. Obesity in Canada: A joint report from the Public Health Agency of Canada and the Canadian Institute for Health Information. *Public Heal Agency Canada*. November 2011:54. http://www.healthyenvironmentforkids.ca/sites/healthyenvironmentforkids.ca/files/Obesit y in Canada.pdf.
- Lieffers JRL, Ekwaru JP, Ohinmaa A, Veugelers PJ. The economic burden of not meeting food recommendations in Canada: The cost of doing nothing. Meyre D, ed. *PLoS One*. 2018;13(4):e0196333. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0196333
- 3. Statistics Canada. Canadian Health Measures Survey: Household and physical measures data, 2012 to 2013. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-625-x/2014001/article/14105-eng.htm. Published 2014. Accessed October 18, 2018.
- Statistics Canada. Table 13-10-0795-01 Measured children and youth body mass index (BMI) (World Health Organization classification), by age group and sex, Canada and provinces, Canadian Community Health Survey Nutrition. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310079401. Published 2015. Accessed November 3, 2018.
- Statistics Canada. Table 13-10-0096-12 Fruit and vegetable consumption, 5 times or more per day, by age group. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310009612. Accessed November 2, 2018.
- 6. World Health Organization. *Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases 2013-2020.* Geneva, Switzerland; 2013.
- 7. Health Canada. *Measuring the Food Environment in Canada*.; 2013.
- Mahendra A, Polsky JY, Robitaille É, Lefebvre M, McBrien T, Minaker LM. Status report - Geographic retail food environment measures for use in public health. *Heal Promot Chronic Dis Prev Canada*. 2017;37(10):357-362. doi:10.24095/hpcdp.37.10.06
- 9. Wilkins E, Radley D, Morris M, et al. A systematic review employing the GeoFERN framework to examine methods, reporting quality and associations between the retail food environment and obesity. *Health Place*. 2019;57:186-199. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2019.02.007
- Caspi CE, Sorensen G, Subramanian SV, Kawachi I. The local food environment and diet: A systematic review. *Health Place*. 2012;18(5):1172-1187. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2012.05.006
- 11. Cobb LK, Appel LJ, Franco M, Jones-Smith JC, Nur A, Anderson CAM. The relationship of the local food environment with obesity: A systematic review of methods, study quality, and results. *Obesity*. 2015;23(7):1331-1344. doi:10.1002/oby.21118
- 12. Statistics Canada. North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) Canada. https://www.statcan.gc.ca/eng/subjects/standard/naics/2017/index. Published 2017.
- Larsen K, Cook B, Stone MR, Faulkner GEJJ. Food access and children's BMI in Toronto, Ontario: assessing how the food environment relates to overweight and obesity. *Int J Public Health*. 2014;60(1):69-77. doi:10.1007/s00038-014-0620-4
- 14. He M, Tucker P, Irwin JD, Gilliland J, Larsen K, Hess P. Obesogenic neighbourhoods: the impact of neighbourhood restaurants and convenience stores on adolescents' food

consumption behaviours. *Public Health Nutr*. 2012;15(12):2331-2339. doi:10.1017/S1368980012000584

- 15. Feng X, Astell-Burt T, Badland H, Mavoa S, Giles-Corti B. Modest ratios of fast food outlets to supermarkets and green grocers are associated with higher body mass index: Longitudinal analysis of a sample of 15,229 Australians aged 45 years and older in the Australian National Liveability Study. *Health Place*. 2018;49:101-110. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2017.10.004
- 16. Paquet C, Coffee NT, Haren MT, et al. Food environment, walkability, and public open spaces are associated with incident development of cardio-metabolic risk factors in a biomedical cohort. *Health Place*. 2014;28:173-176. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2014.05.001
- 17. Polsky JY, Moineddin R, Glazier RH, Dunn JR, Booth GL. Foodscapes of southern Ontario: Neighbourhood deprivation and access to healthy and unhealthy food retail. *Can J Public Heal*. 2014;105(5):e369-e375. doi:10.17269/cjph.105.4541
- Clary C, Lewis DJ, Flint E, Smith NR, Kestens Y, Cummins S. The Local Food Environment and Fruit and Vegetable Intake: A Geographically Weighted Regression Approach in the ORiEL Study. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2016;184(11):837-846. doi:10.1093/aje/kww073
- 19. Mercille G, Richard L, Gauvin L, et al. The food environment and diet quality of urbandwelling older women and men: Assessing the moderating role of diet knowledge. *Can J Public Heal*. 2016;107(S1):eS34-eS41. doi:10.17269/CJPH.107.5309
- 20. Greer S, Schieb L, Schwartz G, Onufrak S, Park S. Association of the neighborhood retail food environment with sodium and potassium intake among US adults. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2014;11:130340. doi:10.5888/pcd11.130340
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Children's Food Environment State Indicator Report, 2011.*; 2011. https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/downloads/ChildrensFoodEnvironment.pdf.
- Engler-Stringer R, Le H, Gerrard A, Muhajarine N. The community and consumer food environment and children's diet: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*. 2014;14(1):522. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-522
- 23. Munasinghe LL, Willows N, Yuan Y, Veugelers PJ. The prevalence and determinants of use of vitamin D supplements among children in Alberta, Canada: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*. 2015;15(1):1063. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-2404-z
- 24. Willet W. *Nutritional Epidemiology, Third Edition*. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2012.
- 25. Rockett HRH, Breitenbach M, Frazier AL, et al. Validation of a Youth/Adolescent Food Frequency Questionnaire. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 1997;26(6):808-816. doi:10.1006/pmed.1997.0200
- 26. Rockett HR., Wolf AM, Colditz GA. Development and Reproducibility of a Food Frequency Questionnaire to Assess Diets of Older Children and Adolescents. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 1995;95(3):336-340. doi:10.1016/S0002-8223(95)00086-0
- 27. Feskanich D, Rockett HRH, Colditz GA. Modifying the healthy eating index to assess diet quality in children and adolescents. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2004;104(9):1375-1383. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2004.06.020
- 28. Kim S, Haines PS, Siega-Riz AM, Popkin BM. The Diet Quality Index-International (DQI-I) provides an effective tool for cross-national comparison of diet quality as illustrated by China and the United States. *J Nutr*. 2003;133(11):3476-3484.

doi:10.1093/jn/133.11.3476

- 29. de Onis M, Onyango AW, Borghi E, Siyam A, Nishida C, Siekmann J. Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. *Bull World Health Organ.* 2007;85(09):660-667. doi:10.2471/BLT.07.043497
- 30. Lee H. The role of local food availability in explaining obesity risk among young schoolaged children. *Soc Sci Med.* 2012;74(8):1193-1203. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.12.036
- Rummo PE, Guilkey DK, Ng SW, et al. Understanding bias in relationships between the food environment and diet quality: the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) study. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2017;71(12):jech-2017-209158. doi:10.1136/jech-2017-209158
- 32. Polsky JY, Moineddin R, Dunn JR, Glazier RH, Booth GL. Absolute and relative densities of fast-food versus other restaurants in relation to weight status: Does restaurant mix matter? *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2016;82:28-34. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.11.008
- 33. Laska MN, Hearst MO, Forsyth A, Pasch KE, Lytle L. Neighbourhood food environments: are they associated with adolescent dietary intake, food purchases and weight status? *Public Health Nutr*. 2010;13(11):1757-1763. doi:10.1017/S1368980010001564
- 34. Barrientos-Gutierrez T, Moore KAB, Auchincloss AH, et al. Neighborhood physical environment and changes in body mass index: Results from the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2017;186(11):1237-1245. doi:10.1093/aje/kwx186
- 35. Burgoine T, Forouhi NG, Griffin SJ, Wareham NJ, Monsivais P. Associations between exposure to takeaway food outlets, takeaway food consumption, and body weight in Cambridgeshire, UK: Population based, cross sectional study. *BMJ*. 2014;348(March):1-10. doi:10.1136/bmj.g1464
- 36. Christine PJ, Auchincloss AH, Bertoni AG, et al. Longitudinal associations between neighborhood physical and social environments and incident type 2 diabetes mellitus. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2015;175(8):1311. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.2691
- Spence JC, Cutumisu N, Edwards J, Raine KD, Smoyer-Tomic K. Relation between local food environments and obesity among adults. *BMC Public Health*. 2009;9(1):192. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-9-192
- Unger E, Diez-Roux A V., Lloyd-Jones DM, et al. Association of neighborhood characteristics with cardiovascular health in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes*. 2014;7(4):524-531. doi:10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.113.000698
- Babey SH, Diamant AL, Hastert TA, et al. Designed for disease: The link between local food environments and obesity and diabetes. UCLA Cent Heal Policy Res. 2008:1-10. doi:10.1093/analys/ant117
- 40. Hattori A, An R, Sturm R. Neighborhood food outlets, diet, and obesity among California adults, 2007 and 2009. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2013;10:120123. doi:10.5888/pcd10.120123
- 41. Mejia N, Lightstone AS, Basurto-Davila R, Morales DM, Sturm R. Neighborhood Food Environment, Diet, and Obesity Among Los Angeles County Adults, 2011. *Prev Chronic Dis*. 2015;12:150078. doi:10.5888/pcd12.150078
- 42. Alberta Government. Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth: A Childcare, School and Recreation/Community Centre Resource Manual. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/1c291796-4eb0-4073-be8ebce2d331f9ce/resource/3319786c-1df1-43ca-8693-067f733682dc/download/nutrition-

guidelines-ab-children-youth.pdf. Published 2012. Accessed September 25, 2018.

- 43. Statistics Canada. Forward Sortation Area—Definition. https://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/bsf-osb.nsf/eng/br03396.html.
- 44. Statistics Canada. Census Dictionary. *Cat no 98-301-X2011001*. 2012;(98):114-117. doi:92-566-X
- 45. Pampalon R, Hamel D, Gamache P, Philibert MD, Raymond G, Simpson A. An areabased material and social deprivation index for public health in Québec and Canada. *Can J Public Heal*. 2012;103(SUPPL.2):17-22. doi:10.17269/cjph.103.3156
- 46. An R, Sturm R. School and residential neighborhood food environment and diet among California youth. *Am J Prev Med.* 2012;42(2):129-135. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2011.10.012
- 47. Macridis S, Loitz C, Fraser S, Bengoechea EG. Using Walk Score® to aid understanding of walking patterns in Alberta: Patterns from 2010-2016 (poster). *J Transp Heal*. 2017;7(2017):S9-S10. doi:10.1016/j.jth.2017.11.016
- 48. Burgoine T, Forouhi NG, Griffin SJ, Brage S, Wareham NJ, Monsivais P. Does neighborhood fast-food outlet exposure amplify inequalities in diet and obesity? A crosssectional study. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2016;103(6):1540-1547. doi:10.3945/ajcn.115.128132
- 49. Charreire H, Casey R, Salze P, et al. Measuring the food environment using geographical information systems: a methodological review. *Public Health Nutr*. 2010;13(11):1773-1785. doi:10.1017/S1368980010000753
- Forsyth A, Lytle L, Van Riper D. Finding Food: Issues and challenges in using Geographic Information Systems to measure food access. *J Transp Land Use*. 2011;3(1):43-65. doi:10.5198/jtlu.v3i1.105
- 51. Powell LM, Han E, Zenk SN, et al. Field validation of secondary commercial data sources on the retail food outlet environment in the U.S. *Health Place*. 2011;17(5):1122-1131. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2011.05.010
- 52. Smoyer-Tomic KE, Spence JC, Raine KD, et al. The association between neighborhood socioeconomic status and exposure to supermarkets and fast food outlets. *Health Place*. 2008;14(4):740-754. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2007.12.001

Chapter 3: Associations of Absolute and Relative Density of 'Choose Least Often' Food Outlets with Diet Quality and Weight Status of Canadian Children

3.1 Introduction

In Canada, the prevalence of obesity has increased two-fold over the past 30 years, placing it at the forefront of the public health agenda. Approximately 60% of Canadian adults are overweight or obese, and one-third of Canadian children and youth are classified as overweight or obese.^{1,2} Childhood overweight and obesity persists into adulthood and is a risk factor for a number of chronic diseases, such as cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, hypertension, and some cancers.^{3–5} An unhealthy diet is a well-established risk factor for overweight and obesity.^{4–6} Consumption of healthy foods, such as vegetables, fruit, legumes and wholegrains, is emphasized as a priority for chronic disease and obesity prevention.⁶ Yet, approximately 70% of Canadians aged 12 years and older report consuming less than five servings of vegetables and fruits per day.⁷ Traditional strategies to combat the increasing prevalence of obesity and unhealthy eating focus on individual change; however, the continued surge in obesity suggests that innovative strategies that consider the broader environment are needed.⁸ Recent evidence has demonstrated associations of community food environments with both proximal outcomes, such as diet⁹⁻¹⁷, and distal outcomes, such as overweight and obesity^{13,18-23}, presenting a potential prevention target at the population level.

Studies investigating the effects of community food environments on diet- and healthrelated outcomes have increased over the past decade. While many have detected an association with diet and obesity, some report null or contradictory findings.^{9,24–26} We have previously demonstrated that improper classification of food retailers as healthy or less healthy based on store type may explain the inconsistencies observed in the literature (Chapter 2). In addition,

several studies employ measures of absolute density (number) and proximity, but few have used relative density (proportion) to assess the community food environment. Relative density refers to the availability of different food outlet types or categories in a geographic area, relative to all food outlets.²⁷ Researchers have suggested that relative density may be more important than absolute density when assessing the community food environments.^{23,28} Using data from the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS), Polsky et al. recently examined an interaction between the absolute and relative densities of fast food restaurants and found that living in an area with both high absolute and relative densities of fast food restaurants was associated with increased weight status among adults aged 18 years or older (n=10,199).¹⁹ However, there have been no such investigations in children.

While previous studies have examined the effect of absolute and relative densities on diet and weight outcomes separately^{9,24}, no study considered the effect of multiple dimensions of the community food environment 1) using CMO/CS/CLO to classify food retailers, 2) with dietary outcomes, 3) using a sample of Canadian children, 4) in the area surrounding schools. The present study examined the combined effect of the absolute and relative density of characteristically unhealthy food outlets within 1600m buffers around schools in Edmonton and Calgary with diet- and weight- related outcomes.

3.2.0 Methods

3.2.1 Study Design and Participants

We used data from a provincially representative sample of grade five students participating in the 2014 Raising healthy Eating and Active Living Kids in Alberta (REAL Kids Alberta) study. REAL Kids Alberta is a population-based health survey of grade five students,

their parents, and schools. A one-stage random sampling method was used to proportionally select 140 schools from urban, rural and metropolitan areas. All elementary schools in Alberta with grade five students, excluding private schools, francophone schools, on-reserve federal schools, charter school and colony schools, were eligible to participate. Participation was open to all fifth-grade students, their parents, and school principals of the selected schools. Of the 4,993 home surveys sent home with children, 3,284 were returned, and 2,958 students received parental consent to participate in the study.²⁹ For the present study, we worked with the subsample of students who reside in Edmonton and Calgary. Therefore, our sample was restricted to 989 students and 41 schools. Two schools each had only two students participate; multi-level analysis requires at least five students (units) per school (cluster), and therefore, students attending these two schools were excluded from our analysis, leaving 984 students from 39 schools. Additionally, 133 students who were missing exposure and/or outcome data were also eliminated from analyses, leaving 851 students from 39 schools. It is recommended that students with caloric intakes less than 500 or greater than 5,000 calories per day be excluded from analyses³⁰; exclusion of these participants yielded results that remained robust. Therefore, the present analyses are based on the sample regardless of calorie intake.

The REAL Kids Alberta study included a student survey on lifestyle behaviours and knowledge of existing health and wellness programs in Alberta, as well as a Canadian version of the Harvard Food Frequency Questionnaire for Children and Youth (YAQ).³¹ This extensive food frequency questionnaire assesses children's eating habits and nutrient intakes. Students completed both surveys under the supervision of research assistants. Research assistants also measured each child's standing height and weight using stadiometers and calibrated digital scales. Parent(s) of students enrolled in the study were asked to complete the home survey,

which included questions pertaining to the home environment and demographic information. School principals also completed a survey on the school food environment and school programs.

3.2.2 Outcome of Interest: Diet Quality, Vegetable and Fruit Consumption, and Body Weight Status

The outcomes of interest were diet quality, daily vegetables and fruit consumption, body mass index (BMI) and body weight status. We used a Canadian adapted version of the Youth Healthy Eating Index (Y-HEI) to assess children's diet quality.³² The Y-HEI assesses adherence to dietary guidelines for children and youth. Daily vegetables and fruit consumption was assessed as the number of servings consumed per day. BMI was derived from measured weight divided by measured height squared and then assigned WHO age- and sex- specific Z scores.³³ A dichotomous variable was created to categorize each student as either overweight/obese (>+1SD) or not.

3.2.3 Exposure of Interest: Community Food Environments

The Environmental Public Health Department of Alberta Health Services provided a list of all food retailers in Edmonton and Calgary in 2016. All food retailers known to serve or sell food, and were open for public access were retained, except for full-service restaurants. Food retailers were ranked according to Choose Most Often/Choose Sometimes/Choose Least Often (CMO/CS/CLO) criteria. The CMO/CS/CLO indicator was created by a Registered Dietician (RD) who ranked food retailers' menus according to the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth.³⁴ In the Nutrition Guidelines, foods are categorized as Choose Most Often (CMO), Choose Sometimes (CS), or Choose Least Often (CLO) based on the amount of total fat, saturated fat, sodium, sugar and fibre. Additionally, it is recommended that CMO foods are

consumed daily, CS foods are consumed only a few times throughout the week, and CLO foods are only consumed once a week or less. CMO food retailers included those that were most healthful, including sandwich outlets, smoothie outlets, grocery stores and salad bars. CS food retailers included those that served some healthy food options, including sit-down restaurants, cafeterias, coffee outlets, supplements and processed grocery stores. CLO food retailers included pizza outlets, Asian outlets, burger and taco outlets, ice cream shops, lounges/bars and food outlets that serve fried foods.

Each school's address was geocoded by a Geographic Information Systems (GIS) analysist to identify 1600m circular buffers around each individual school. Within each 1600m buffer, we derived the absolute (number) and relative (proportion) density of CLO outlets. The relative density of CLO outlets was calculated as: 100 x (number of CLO outlets / total number of outlets).

3.2.4 Statistical Analysis

Associations of community food environments with diet quality, vegetables and fruit consumption, and body weight status were assessed using multilevel mixed-effect regression models to account for the hierarchical nesting of students within schools. We examined the intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC) of null models and employed a series of likelihood ratio (LR) tests to assess whether 2-level multilevel mixed-effect regression models provided better fit compared to ordinary least squares regression models. Multilevel mixed-effect linear and logistic regression models with children nested in schools persisted.

Analyses included four models for each outcome variable: Model 1 examined associations of absolute and relative densities of CLO outlets within 1600m buffers around

schools. Model 2 examined associations of absolute number of total outlets and the relative density of CLO outlets within 1600m buffers around schools. Model 3 examined the associations of relative density of CLO outlets for each level of absolute exposure to CLO outlets. Absolute density of CLO outlets was divided into tertiles to distinguish between lower (0-20 outlets), medium (21-35 outlets), and higher (36+ outlets) exposure (Figures 3.1 and 3.2). Model 4 examined associations of relative density of CLO outlets for each level of absolute exposure to total food outlets. Absolute density of total outlets was divided into tertiles to separate lower (0-33 outlets), medium (34-54 outlets), and higher (55+ outlets) exposure. For each model, we first examined unadjusted associations. Then, multivariable mixed-effect linear and logistic regression models were used to adjust for potential confounders, including child's gender, child's total energy intake (for diet outcomes)³⁰, physical activity level (Physical Activity Questionnaire for Children score) (for weight status outcomes), parent's education (high school or less, college or university, graduate university), household income (<\$25,000, \$25,000-\$50,000, \$50,001-\$75,000, \$75,001-\$100,000, >\$100,000), and area-level material deprivation (quintile 1 being least deprived area, and quintile 5 being most deprived area).³⁵ Missing values combined with 'prefer not to answer' for the income confounding variable were considered as a separate category in regression analyses. All data analyses were performed with Stata/SE 15 statistical software package (Stata Corp., College Station, TX).

3.3 Results

Of the 851 participants with complete exposure and outcome information, the average Y-HEI score was 63.2, the average DQI-I score was 62.1, and the average number of vegetables

and fruits consumed per day was 4.98 (Table 3.1). The average BMI Z score was 0.69, and the prevalence of overweight or obesity was 40.2%.

Within 1600m of schools, there was an average of 56.3 total food outlets (Table 3.2). Moreover, there was an average of 10.8 CMO outlets, 8.15 CS outlets, and 37.5 CLO outlets. The average relative density of CLO outlets was 66.6%.

In models containing both the absolute and relative density of CLO food outlets within 1600m surrounding schools, the relative density of CLO outlets was significantly associated with decreased Y-HEI (p<0.01), increased BMI Z score (p<0.01), and an increased odds of overweight or obesity (p<0.01) (Table 3.2). After adjusting for potential confounding variables, none of the associations remained significant.

In models that examined the absolute density of total food outlets and the relative density of CLO food outlets, the relative density of CLO food outlets was significantly associated with decreased Y-HEI (p<0.001), increased BMI Z scores (p<0.01), and increased odds of overweight or obesity (p<0.01) (Table 3.3). After adjusting for potential confounding variables, the only association that remained significant was for BMI Z scores. Specifically, for every 10% increase in the proportion of CLO outlets within 1600m buffers around schools, BMI Z scores increased by 0.18 units (p<0.05), conditional on the random effect.

We also examined associations of the relative density of CLO food outlets with each diet and weight status outcome for each level of absolute exposure to 1) CLO food outlets, and 2) total food outlets. In the first set of stratified models, we examined the relative density of CLO food outlets for schools exposed to either lower, medium or higher density of CLO food outlets (Table 3.4). For students who attended schools with a higher number of CLO outlets within 1600m, the relative density of CLO food outlets was significantly associated with Y-HEI (β =-

3.85 [95%CI: -5.64, -2.07], p<0.001), vegetables and fruit consumption (β =-0.85 [95%CI: -1.36, -0.35], p<0.01), and BMI Z score (β =0.36 [95%CI: 0.10, 0.62], p<0.01), conditional on the random effect. The associations for DQI-I and overweight/obesity did not reach statistical significance, but the coefficients were in the expected direction. No significant associations were observed for students attending schools exposed to a lower or medium absolute density of CLO food outlets. In the second set of stratified models, we examined the relative density of CLO food outlets for schools exposed to either lower, medium or higher density of total food outlets (Table 3.5). For students who attended schools with a higher number of total food outlets within 1600m, the relative density of CLO food outlets was significantly associated with Y-HEI (β =-3.90 [95%CI: -5.66, -2.14], p<0.001) vegetables and fruit consumption (β =-0.88 [95%CI: -1.38, -0.37], p<0.01), and BMI Z score (β =0.35 [95%CI: 0.10, 0.60], p<0.01), conditional on the random effect. Again, this association was not evident for DQI-I or overweight/obesity, but the coefficients were in the expected direction. No significant associations were observed for students attending schools exposed to a lower or medium absolute density of total food outlets.

In sensitivity analyses, exclusion of children who reported consuming less than 500 or more than 5000 calories per day revealed similar findings to those in Table 3.3, Table 3.4, Table 3.5, and Table 3.6. Therefore, the present analyses are based on the full sample. Due to many participants with missing data on household income, the present analyses were also performed with household income removed as a covariate, which produced similar findings. Therefore, final models included income as a covariate.

3.4 Interpretation

This study demonstrated that attending a school in an area with a higher number of unhealthy food outlets or all food outlets, is associated with lower diet quality, lower vegetables and fruit consumption, and higher BMI, specifically where the proportion of unhealthy food outlets is also high. Put differently, being exposed to a higher number of food outlets (all types or unhealthy) in the area surrounding a school has the worst effect on diet and weight status outcomes when unhealthy food outlets are main type of food outlet available. This study also revealed that examining multiple dimensions of the food environment may better capture the association between the availability of unhealthy food outlets and diet quality.

The present study examined few associations when considering the number and proportion of unhealthy food outlets separately; this was not surprising. While several studies examining single dimensions of the community food environment have reported a relationship with diet- and obesity- related outcomes, findings have shown to be overall inconsistent.^{24,36,37} Cobb et al. conducted a systematic review of 71 studies (published between 2004 and 2013) from Canada and the United States, on the relationship between community food environments and obesity in children and adults.²⁴ This review reported that of the 21 studies that focused on children, 85% of all associations were null in final adjusted models. Wilkins et al. conducted an updated systematic review that extended upon the review by Cobb et al.^{24,36} They similarly examined the relationship between the community food environment and obesity in both children and adults, but included studies published between 2004-2017 from the United States, Canada, United Kingdom, Australia, Germany and New Zealand. Of the 113 studies included in the review, 76% of all associations were null.³⁶ Results from the present study were for the most part

in the expected direction. One statistically significant association persisted after adjustment in the main effect models, and the rest were null.

The majority of food environment research has focused on single dimensions of the community food environment, but researchers have suggested that relative density (proportion) may also be important.^{19,23,28} Polsky et al. used a representative sample of 10,199 Canadian adults drawn from the CCHS to examine the joint effect of the number and proportion of fast food restaurants (FFR) on weight status, in addition to considering them separately. The study found a significant association between the proportion of FFR with increased BMI and obesity, particularly in areas with a higher number of FFR. On the contrary, the number and proportion of FFR did not yield meaningful results in the expected direction when considered separately. We applied the same approach in this study, and examined significant associations between the proportion of unhealthy food outlets with diet quality, vegetables and fruit consumption, and BMI Z scores, in areas with both a higher number of unhealthy food outlets.

This study addresses several gaps identified in the literature. Researchers agree that food environment measurement requires improvements to achieve consistency and standardization.^{9,27,36,37} The CMO/CS/CLO indicator was developed by a Registered Dietician with consideration of the types of foods sold or served at an establishment. Most studies have either used North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) codes to classify retailers,^{24,38} or relied on its own categorization.^{39,40} Both approaches typically rely on classifying the food environment according to food retailer type (such as fast food or limited service, convenience, grocery, etc.) rather than the types of food being served or sold. Such approaches are prone to misclassification error since not all food retailers that are considered 'fast food' outlets are necessarily unhealthy. For example, Chopped Leaf and Freshii are fast food

restaurants that serve foods made with fresh and natural ingredients. Our study offers a novel indicator to classify food retailers, which considers the primary types of foods served or sold, and has been shown to perform better than the CDC's mRFEI. The CMO/CS/CLO indicator used in the present study aligns with existing provincial nutrition guidelines,^{34,41} and therefore lends itself to future revisions of the recommendations, in addition to other policy developments. Researchers have also suggested that more studies focused on children's diets are needed⁴², and that multiple dietary measures should be employed to establish convergent validity.⁹ Our study examined children's diets with three diet outcomes, in addition to BMI Z scores and weight status, which provides critical evidence to address these gaps.

Findings from our study should be interpreted with consideration of the potential limitations. Our study was cross-sectional and used exposure and outcome data that were not collected at the same time; therefore, we cannot establish temporal sequence. Food environment data was collected in 2016, and dietary and weight status data were collected in 2014. However, temporal lag of exposure and outcome data within 2 years is common in food environment research.^{43,44} We adjusted for several potential confounding variables that are commonly adjusted for in the literature, but residual confounding may have persisted. Dietary data was collected through self-report, which may be prone to measurement error; however, we used a validated FFQ to reduce the possibility of bias. REAL Kids Alberta is a population-based study, but we only included children from Edmonton and Calgary in our analyses, which precludes our ability to generalize findings. A final limitation is the relatively small sample size. We ran multiple statistical tests, which may have increased the likelihood of a type 1 error.

Our study has several strengths. We used data from a population-based survey that collected dietary data with a validated FFQ, and used standardized tools to measure each child's

height and weight. Our food environment indicator was derived from a food retailer list obtained from the public health inspector, which is preferred over business data lists.^{45,46} The food environment indicator used in our study is novel, and may offer greater precision compared with binary classifications based on store type. To assess children's weight status, we used age- and sex- specific Z scores from the WHO³³, which is the current standard for children. We used both relative and absolute densities among children's food environment to better capture their combined effect on diet and weight outcomes. Lastly, we adjusted for area- level socioeconomic status (SES) to account for clustering of unhealthy food outlets in lower SES neighbourhoods.⁴⁷ The area-level SES tool used in this study has been validated for use in Canada.³⁵

3.5 Conclusion

Study findings highlight the importance of the combined effect of absolute and relative densities of both unhealthy and all food outlets on diet and weight status outcomes. We found that attending a school in an area with both a higher number of unhealthy or all food outlets, and a high proportion of unhealthy outlets was associated with lower diet quality and increased body weights in children. To our knowledge, we are the first to examine this association with dietrelated outcomes in Canadian children. Our findings suggest that areas with a higher concentration of food outlets and few healthy options (high proportion of unhealthy outlets) are in need of public health intervention. Interventions should work to lower the proportion of unhealthy food outlets in these areas, by either increasing the number of healthy food outlets, or decreasing the number of unhealthy outlets. Other potential avenues for prevention may include implementing zoning laws or improving the nutritional quality of foods served at unhealthy food outlets.



Figure 3.1. Number of CLO food outlets within 1600m of schools in Edmonton



Figure 3.2. Number of CLO food outlets within 1600m of schools in Calgary

Dertiginant Characteristics	Total nonulation	Lower (0.20	Madium (21.25	Ligher (26+
Farticipant Characteristics	(n-951)	Lower (0-20	(21-33)	nigliel (50+
	(11-831)	(n-206)	(n-202)	(n=252)
	(0/)	(n=306)	(n=293)	(n=232)
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Gender				
Male	402 (47.2%)	151 (49.4%)	134 (45.7%)	117 (46.4%)
Female	449 (52.8%)	155 (50.7%)	159 (54.4%)	135 (53.6%)
Parental Education				
High school or less	167 (19.6%)	33 (10.8%)	55 (18.8%)	79 (31.4%)
College or university	465 (54.6%)	187 (61.1%)	166 (56.7%)	112 (44.4%)
Graduate university	180 (21.2%)	72 (23.5%)	57 (19.5%)	51 (20.2%)
Prefer not to	39 (4.6%)	14 (4.6%)	15 (5.1%)	10 (4.0%)
answer/missing				
Household Income				
Less than \$25,000	53 (6.2%)	11 (3.6%)	19 (6.5%)	23 (9.13%)
\$25,000 - \$50,000	92 (10.8%)	18 (5.9%)	32 (10.9%)	42 (16.7%)
\$50,001 - \$75,000	68 (8.0%)	21 (6.9%)	22 (7.5%)	25 (9.9%)
\$75,001 - \$100,000	78 (9.2%)	27 (8.8%)	30 (10.2%)	21 (8.3%)
> \$100,000	211 (24.8%)	119 (38.9%)	60 (20.5%)	32 (12.7%)
Prefer not to	349 (41.0%)	110 (36.0%)	130 (44.4%)	109 (43.3%)
answer/missing	()			· · · ·
Weight Status				
Overweight	204 (24.0%)	73 (23.9%)	72 (24.6%)	59 (23.3%)
Obese	138 (16.2%)	32 (10.5%)	48 (16.4%)	58 (23.0%)
Material Deprivation	100 (101270)			00 (2010/0)
O1 (least deprived)	125 (15.0%)	90 (29.4%)	0(0%)	35 (14.8%)
$\frac{1}{02}$	231 (27.7%)	91 (29.7%)	140 (47.8%)	0 (0%)
$\widetilde{O3}$	184 (22.0%)	49 (16.0%)	51 (17.4%)	84 (35.6%)
$\overline{\mathbf{O4}}$	135 (16.2%)	57 (18.6%)	39 (13 3%)	39 (16 5%)
O5 (most deprived)	160 (19.2%)	19 (6 2%)	63 (21 5%)	78 (33 1%)
	Mean+SD	Mean+SD	Mean+SD	
Diat Quality	Wiedii±5D	Wiedli±5D	Wiedli±5D	Medil±5D
V_HEI	63 2+9 3	63 7+9 3	62 8+9 3	63 2+0 3
	$62 1 \pm 10 7$	62.5 ± 0.8	61.0 ± 7.5	625+113
Doily VE sometings	02.1 ± 10.7 1.08 ± 2.8	02.3 ± 9.8	1.4 ± 11.0 1.08 ± 2.5	510 ± 2.5
Daily VF servings DML 7 Soono	4.90 ± 3.0 0.60 ± 1.2	4.90 ± 3.3	4.96 ± 3.3 0.72 ± 1.2	0.88 ± 1.4
	0.09 ± 1.3 2 20 ± 0 7	0.30 ± 1.2	0.72 ± 1.2 2 2±0.60	0.00 ± 1.4
ray-C Total daily anapay intaka	3.29 ± 0.7	3.4 ± 0.03	3.2 ± 0.09	3.3 ± 0.03
Total daily energy intake	1939.0±1101.0	1922.2±1001.0	1955.0±1281.0	1909.4±1134.3
Characteristics (1600m)	Marry	Merry	Merry	Mere)
HT at a set lat	$\frac{\text{IVIAX}}{5(2(11,124))}$	$\frac{1}{254(1142)}$	IVIAX)	$\frac{1}{1}$
# 1 otal outlets	56.3(11-124)	25.4 (11-43)	40.8 (30-51)	89.2 (55-124)
	10.8 (2-26)	5.18 (2-9)	6.92 (2-10)	17.6 (8-26)
	8.15 (1-33)	4.81 (1-19)	4.91 (1-11)	12.9 (5-33)
	37.3 (8-93)	15.4 (8-20)	28.9 (22-35)	58.7 (36-93)
%CLO (CLO/total)	66.6 (46.5-89.7)	62.4 (46.5-72.7)	71.3 (60.5-89.7)	66.0 (47.7-75)

Table 3.1. Characteristics of grade 5 students residing in Edmonton and Calgary participating in the 2014 REAL Kids Alberta Study (n=851) and food outlet availability around schools

1. CMO = choose least often; CS = choose sometimes; CLO = choose least often; %CLO = proportion of CLO food outlets; Y-HEI = Youth Healthy Eating Index; DQI-I = Diet Quality Index International; PAQ-C = Physical Activity Questionnaire for Children score; VF = Vegetables and Fruit Servings; BMI = Body Mass Index.

2. Stratified by categories of absolute exposure to CLO food outlets; Low refers to 1600m buffers with 0-20 CLO food outlets; Medium refers to 1600m buffers with 21-35 CLO food outlets; Higher refers to 1600m buffers with more than 36 CLO food outlets.

	Univariate		Multivariable	
	β (95%CI)	p-value	β (95%CI)	p-value
Y-HEI				
%CLO	-1.69 (-2.67, -0.70)	0.001	-0.96 (-2.07, 0.14)	0.088
#CLO	-0.17 (-0.54, 0.19)	0.35	0.071 (-0.33, 0.47)	0.73
DQI-I				
%CLO	-0.44 (-1.54, 0.65)	0.43	-0.085 (-1.06, 0.89)	0.86
#CLO	-0.14 (-0.54, 0.26)	0.49	-0.084 (-0.43, 0.26)	0.63
VF Consumption				
%CLO	-0.21 (-0.63, 0.21)	0.32	-0.25 (-0.55, 0.051)	0.10
#CLO	-0.0057 (-0.16, 0.15)	0.94	0.0047 (-0.10, 0.11)	0.93
BMI Z Score				
%CLO	0.21 (0.067, 0.36)	0.004	0.15 (0.00029, 0.30)	0.50
#CLO	0.065 (0.011, 0.12)	0.019	0.052 (-0.0020, 0.11)	0.059
	OR (95%CI)	p-value	OR(95%CI)	p-value
Overweight/obese				
%CLO	1.38 (1.09, 1.76)	0.008	1.19 (0.95, 1.48)	0.14
#CLO	1.09 (1.00, 1.19)	0.058	1.06 (0.98, 1.15)	0.14

Table 3.2. Associations of absolute and relative density of CLO food outlets within 1600m of schools with diet and weight status in the REAL Kids Alberta Study (n=851)

1. β coefficients and 95% confidence interval (95%CI) from multilevel mixed-effect linear regression models (multiplied by 10).

2. Odds ratios (OR) and 95%CI from multilevel mixed-effect logistic regression models (multiplied by 10).

3. Multivariable models adjusted for gender, total energy intake (or physical activity for models examining BMI/weight status), parental education, household income, and area-level material deprivation.

4. Y-HEI = Youth Healthy Eating Index; DQI-I = Diet Quality Index-International; VF = Vegetables and Fruit; BMI = Body Mass Index; %CLO = proportion of CLO food outlets relative to all; #CLO = number of CLO food outlets.

5. Bolded results are statistically significant (p<0.05).

6. Table with all covariate coefficients and p-values is in Appendix B.

Table 3.3. Associations of absolute density of all food outlets and relative density of CLO food outlets within 1600m of schools with diet and weight status in the REAL Kids Alberta study (n=851)

	Univariate		Multivariable	
	β (95%CI)	p-value	β (95%CI)	p-value
Y-HEI				
%CLO	-1.78 (-2.76, -0.79)	<0.001	-0.87 (-2.01, 0.26)	0.13
#Total	-0.070 (-0.32, 0.18)	0.58	0.099 (-0.17, 0.37)	0.47
DQI-I				
%CLO	-0.52 (-1.60, 0.57)	0.35	-0.090 (-1.11, 0.93)	0.86
#Total	-0.073 (-0.34, 0.20)	0.60	-0.025 (-0.26, 0.21)	0.83
VF Consumption				
%CLO	-0.21 (-0.63, 0.20)	0.31	-0.24 (-0.55, 0.073)	0.13
#Total	-0.00037 (-0.10, 0.10)	0.99	0.014 (-0.059, 0.086)	0.71
BMI Z Score				
%CLO	0.25 (0.10, 0.39)	0.001	0.18 (0.021, 0.33)	0.026
#Total	0.042 (0.0058, 0.079)	0.023	0.033 (-0.0033, 0.069)	0.075
	OR (95%CI)	p-value	OR(95%CI)	p-value
Overweight/obese				
%CLO	1.45 (1.14, 1.84)	0.002	1.22 (0.97, 1.53)	0.084
#Total	1.06 (1.00, 1.12)	0.059	1.04 (0.99, 1.10)	0.095

1. β coefficients and 95%CI from multilevel mixed-effect linear regression models (multiplied by 10).

2. Odds ratios (OR) and 95%CI from multilevel mixed-effect logistic regression models (multiplied by 10).

3. Multivariable models adjusted for gender, total energy intake (or physical activity for models examining BMI/weight status), parental education, household income, and area-level material deprivation.

4. Y-HEI = Youth Healthy Eating Index; DQI-I = Diet Quality Index-International; VF = Vegetables and Fruit; BMI = Body Mass Index; %CLO = proportion of CLO food outlets relative to all; #Total = number of total food outlets.

5. Bolded results are statistically significant (p<0.05).

	Lower (0-20)		Medium (21-35)		Higher (36+)	
	β (95%CI)	p-value	β (95%CI)	p-value	β (95%CI)	p-value
Y-HEI	1.05 (-1.20, 3.29)	0.36	0.27 (-1.15, 1.70)	0.71	-3.85 (-5.64, -2.07)	<0.001
DQI-I	0.23 (-2.07, 2.53)	0.84	1.10 (-0.36, 2.56)	0.14	-1.61 (-3.45, 0.24)	0.089
VF Consumption	-0.41 (-1.04, 0.22)	0.20	0.15 (-0.25, 0.54)	0.47	-0.85 (-1.36, -0.35)	0.001
BMI Z Score	0.17 (-0.15, 0.50)	0.29	0.099 (-0.11, 0.31)	0.35	0.36 (0.10, 0.62)	0.006
	OR (95%CI)	p-value	OR (95%CI)	p-value	OR (95%CI)	p-value
Overweight/Obese	1.40 (0.78, 2.50)	0.26	1.18 (0.86, 1.63)	0.31	1.55 (0.98, 2.46)	0.060

Table 3.4. Associations of %CLO with diet quality and weight status for each level of absolute exposure to #CLO outlets within 1600m buffers around schools

1. Lower refers to 1600m buffers with 0-20 CLO food outlets; Medium refers to 1600m buffers with 21-35 CLO food outlets; Higher refers to 1600m buffers with more than 36 CLO food outlets.

2. β coefficients and 95%CI from multilevel mixed-effect linear regression models (multiplied by 10).

3. Odds ratios (OR) and 95%CI from multilevel mixed-effect logistic regression models (multiplied by 10).

4. All models adjusted for gender, total energy intake (or physical activity for models examining BMI/weight status), parental education, household income, and area-level material deprivation.

5. Y-HEI = Youth Healthy Eating Index; DQI-I = Diet Quality Index-International; VF = Vegetable and Fruit; BMI = Body Mass Index.

6. Bolded results are statistically significant (p < 0.05).

	Low (0-33)		Medium (34-54)		High (55+)	
	β (95%CI)	p-value	β (95%CI)	p-value	β (95%CI)	p-value
Y-HEI	2.21 (-0.17, 4.59)	0.069	-0.055 (-1.29, 1.18)	0.93	-3.90 (-5.66, -2.14)	<0.001
DQI-I	1.81 (-0.68, 4.30)	0.15	0.44 (-0.86, 1.74)	0.51	-1.69 (-3.54, 0.16)	0.073
V+F Consumption	0.14 (-0.54, 0.82)	0.68	-0.034 (-0.39, 0.32)	0.85	-0.88 (-1.38, -0.37)	0.001
BMI Z Score	0.13 (-0.21, 0.47)	0.45	0.13 (-0.044, 0.31)	0.14	0.35 (0.10, 0.60)	0.006
	OR (95%CI)	p-value	OR (95%CI)	p-value	OR (95%CI)	p-value
Overweight/Obese	1.28 (0.72, 2.28)	0.40	1.22 (0.90, 1.66)	0.21	1.55 (0.98, 2.47)	0.062

Table 3.5. Associations of %CLO with diet quality and weight status for each level of absolute exposure to #Total outlets within1600m buffers around schools

1. Low refers to 1600m buffers with 0-33 total food outlets; Medium refers to 1600m buffers with 34-54 total food outlets; High refers to 1600m buffers with more than 55 total food outlets.

2. β coefficients and 95%CI from multilevel mixed-effect linear regression models (multiplied by 10).

3. Odds ratios (OR) and 95%CI from multilevel mixed-effect logistic regression models (multiplied by 10).

4. All models adjusted for gender, total energy intake (or physical activity for models examining BMI/weight status), parental education, household income, and area-level material deprivation.

5. Y-HEI = Youth Healthy Eating Index; DQI-I = Diet Quality Index-International; VF = Vegetables and Fruit; BMI = Body Mass Index.

6. Bolded results are statistically significant (p < 0.05).

3.6 References

- Statistics Canada. Table 13-10-0795-01 Measured children and youth body mass index (BMI) (World Health Organization classification), by age group and sex, Canada and provinces, Canadian Community Health Survey - Nutrition. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310079401. Published 2015. Accessed November 3, 2018.
- 2. Roberts K, Shields M, de Groh M, Gilbert J. Overweight and Obesity in Children and Adolescents: Canadian Health Survey. *Heal Reports*. 2012;23(3):37-41.
- 3. Janssen I. The public health burden of obesity in Canada. *Can J Diabetes*. 2013;37(2):90-96. doi:10.1016/j.jcjd.2013.02.059
- 4. Tjepkema M. Measured Obesity. Adult obesity in Canada: Measured height and weight. *Stat Canada Cat.* 2005;(82-620-MWE2005001):1-32.
- 5. Public Health Agency of Canada, Information, Canadian Institute for Health Information, Government of Canada, Public Health Agency of Canada. Obesity in Canada: A joint report from the Public Health Agency of Canada and the Canadian Institute for Health Information. *Public Heal Agency Canada*. November 2011:54. http://www.healthyenvironmentforkids.ca/sites/healthyenvironmentforkids.ca/files/Obesit y in Canada.pdf.
- 6. World Health Organization. *Diet, Nutrition and the Prevention of Chronic Diseases.*; 2003.

http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubmed&id=12768890&ret mode=ref&cmd=prlinks%5Cnpapers3://publication/uuid/734F6B31-260B-4545-A8E4-57F7D35DDEB8. Accessed October 18, 2018.

- Statistics Canada. Table 13-10-0096-12 Fruit and vegetable consumption, 5 times or more per day, by age group. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310009612. Accessed November 2, 2018.
- 8. Egger G, Swinburn B. An "ecological" approach to the obesity pandemic. *BMJ*. 1997;315(7106):477-480. doi:10.1136/bmj.315.7106.477
- 9. Caspi CE, Sorensen G, Subramanian SV, Kawachi I. The local food environment and diet: A systematic review. *Health Place*. 2012;18(5):1172-1187. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2012.05.006
- Lind PL, Jensen P V., Glümer C, Toft U, Glumer C, Toft U. The association between accessibility of local convenience stores and unhealthy diet. *Eur J Public Health*. 2016;26(4):634-639. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckv242
- Gustafson A, Lewis S, Perkins S, Wilson C, Buckner E, Vail A. Neighbourhood and consumer food environment is associated with dietary intake among Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) participants in Fayette County, Kentucky. *Public Health Nutr.* 2013;16(7):1229-1237. doi:10.1017/S1368980013000505
- 12. Clary C, Lewis DJ, Flint E, Smith NR, Kestens Y, Cummins S. The Local Food Environment and Fruit and Vegetable Intake: A Geographically Weighted Regression Approach in the ORiEL Study. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2016;184(11):837-846. doi:10.1093/aje/kww073
- 13. Burgoine T, Forouhi NG, Griffin SJ, Wareham NJ, Monsivais P. Associations between exposure to takeaway food outlets, takeaway food consumption, and body weight in

Cambridgeshire, UK: Population based, cross sectional study. *BMJ*. 2014;348(March):1-10. doi:10.1136/bmj.g1464

- 14. Rummo PE, Guilkey DK, Ng SW, et al. Understanding bias in relationships between the food environment and diet quality: the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) study. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2017;71(12):jech-2017-209158. doi:10.1136/jech-2017-209158
- Skidmore P, Welch A, van Sluijs E, et al. Impact of neighbourhood food environment on food consumption in children aged 9–10 years in the UK SPEEDY (Sport, Physical Activity and Eating behaviour: Environmental Determinants in Young people) study. *Public Health Nutr*. 2010;13(07):1022-1030. doi:10.1017/S1368980009992035
- 16. Timperio A, Ball K, Roberts R, Campbell K, Andrianopoulos N, Crawford D. Children's fruit and vegetable intake: Associations with the neighbourhood food environment. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2008;46(4):331-335. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2007.11.011
- 17. Van Hulst A, Barnett TA, Gauvin L, et al. Associations between children's diets and features of their residential and school neighbourhood food environments. *Can J Public Heal*. 2012;103(SUPPL. 3):S48-S54. doi:10.2307/canajpublheal.103.2012.0s48
- Hollands S, Campbell MK, Gilliland J, Sarma S. Association between neighbourhood fast-food and full-service restaurant density and body mass index: A cross-sectional study of Canadian adults. *Can J public Heal*. 2014;105(3):e172-e178. doi:10.17269/cjph.105.4287
- 19. Polsky JY, Moineddin R, Dunn JR, Glazier RH, Booth GL. Absolute and relative densities of fast-food versus other restaurants in relation to weight status: Does restaurant mix matter? *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2016;82:28-34. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.11.008
- 20. Spence JC, Cutumisu N, Edwards J, Raine KD, Smoyer-Tomic K. Relation between local food environments and obesity among adults. *BMC Public Health*. 2009;9(1):192. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-9-192
- Laska MN, Hearst MO, Forsyth A, Pasch KE, Lytle L. Neighbourhood food environments: are they associated with adolescent dietary intake, food purchases and weight status? *Public Health Nutr*. 2010;13(11):1757-1763. doi:10.1017/S1368980010001564
- 22. Fitzpatrick C, Datta GD, Henderson M, Gray-Donald K, Kestens Y, Barnett TA. School food environments associated with adiposity in Canadian children. *Int J Obes*. 2017;41(7):1005-1010. doi:10.1038/ijo.2017.39
- 23. Mehta NK, Chang VW. Weight status and restaurant availability: A multilevel analysis. *Am J Prev Med*. 2008;34(2):127-133. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2007.09.031
- 24. Cobb LK, Appel LJ, Franco M, Jones-Smith JC, Nur A, Anderson CAM. The relationship of the local food environment with obesity: A systematic review of methods, study quality, and results. *Obesity*. 2015;23(7):1331-1344. doi:10.1002/oby.21118
- McInerney M, Csizmadi I, Friedenreich CM, et al. Associations between the neighbourhood food environment, neighbourhood socioeconomic status, and diet quality: An observational study. *BMC Public Health*. 2016;16(1):984. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3631-7
- 26. Rahmanian E, Gasevic D, Vukmirovich I, Lear SA. The association between the built environment and dietary intake a systematic review. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr*. 2014;23(2):183-196. doi:10.6133/apjcn.2014.23.2.08
- 27. Mahendra A, Polsky JY, Robitaille É, Lefebvre M, McBrien T, Minaker LM. Status report

- Geographic retail food environment measures for use in public health. *Heal Promot Chronic Dis Prev Canada*. 2017;37(10):357-362. doi:10.24095/hpcdp.37.10.06

- 28. Clary CM, Ramos Y, Shareck M, Kestens Y. Should we use absolute or relative measures when assessing foodscape exposure in relation to fruit and vegetable intake? Evidence from a wide-scale Canadian study. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2015;71:83-87. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.11.023
- 29. Munasinghe LL, Willows N, Yuan Y, Veugelers PJ. The prevalence and determinants of use of vitamin D supplements among children in Alberta, Canada: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*. 2015;15(1):1063. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-2404-z
- 30. Willet W. *Nutritional Epidemiology, Third Edition*. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2012.
- Rockett HRH, Breitenbach M, Frazier AL, et al. Validation of a Youth/Adolescent Food Frequency Questionnaire. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 1997;26(6):808-816. doi:10.1006/pmed.1997.0200
- 32. Feskanich D, Rockett HRH, Colditz GA. Modifying the healthy eating index to assess diet quality in children and adolescents. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2004;104(9):1375-1383. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2004.06.020
- de Onis M, Onyango AW, Borghi E, Siyam A, Nishida C, Siekmann J. Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. *Bull World Health Organ.* 2007;85(09):660-667. doi:10.2471/BLT.07.043497
- 34. Alberta Government. Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth: A Childcare, School and Recreation/Community Centre Resource Manual. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/1c291796-4eb0-4073-be8ebce2d331f9ce/resource/3319786c-1df1-43ca-8693-067f733682dc/download/nutritionguidelines-ab-children-youth.pdf. Published 2012. Accessed September 25, 2018.
- 35. Pampalon R, Hamel D, Gamache P, Raymond G. A deprivation index for health planning in Canada. *Chronic Dis Can.* 2009;29(4):178-191. http://www.kflaphi.ca/wp-content/uploads/DeprivationIndex.pdf.
- 36. Wilkins E, Radley D, Morris M, et al. A systematic review employing the GeoFERN framework to examine methods, reporting quality and associations between the retail food environment and obesity. *Health Place*. 2019;57:186-199. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2019.02.007
- Lytle LA, Sokol RL. Measures of the food environment: A systematic review of the field, 2007–2015. *Health Place*. 2017;44(November 2016):18-34. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2016.12.007
- 38. Statistics Canada. North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) Canada. https://www.statcan.gc.ca/eng/subjects/standard/naics/2017/index. Published 2017.
- 39. Polsky JY, Moineddin R, Glazier RH, Dunn JR, Booth GL. Relative and absolute availability of fast-food restaurants in relation to the development of diabetes: A population-based cohort study. *Can J Public Heal*. 2016;107(S1):eS27-eS33. doi:10.17269/CJPH.107.5312
- 40. Larsen K, Cook B, Stone MR, Faulkner GEJJ. Food access and children's BMI in Toronto, Ontario: assessing how the food environment relates to overweight and obesity. *Int J Public Health*. 2014;60(1):69-77. doi:10.1007/s00038-014-0620-4
- 41. Alberta Government. Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Adults. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/0c8528b1-0e53-4c80-810c-

8aacdf525621/resource/5ef8873f-a41f-445c-806e-8de424897fdf/download/nutritionguidelines-ab-adults.pdf. Published 2012. Accessed September 25, 2018.

- 42. Engler-Stringer R, Le H, Gerrard A, Muhajarine N. The community and consumer food environment and children's diet: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*. 2014;14(1):522. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-522
- 43. Burgoine T, Forouhi NG, Griffin SJ, Brage S, Wareham NJ, Monsivais P. Does neighborhood fast-food outlet exposure amplify inequalities in diet and obesity? A cross-sectional study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2016;103(6):1540-1547. doi:10.3945/ajcn.115.128132
- 44. Charreire H, Casey R, Salze P, et al. Measuring the food environment using geographical information systems: a methodological review. *Public Health Nutr*. 2010;13(11):1773-1785. doi:10.1017/S1368980010000753
- 45. Forsyth A, Lytle L, Van Riper D. Finding Food: Issues and challenges in using Geographic Information Systems to measure food access. *J Transp Land Use*. 2011;3(1):43-65. doi:10.5198/jtlu.v3i1.105
- 46. Powell LM, Han E, Zenk SN, et al. Field validation of secondary commercial data sources on the retail food outlet environment in the U.S. *Health Place*. 2011;17(5):1122-1131. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2011.05.010
- 47. Smoyer-Tomic KE, Spence JC, Raine KD, et al. The association between neighborhood socioeconomic status and exposure to supermarkets and fast food outlets. *Health Place*. 2008;14(4):740-754. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2007.12.001

4.0 Discussion

4.1 Summary

In this thesis, we examined the associations of community food environments, defined using two different food environment indicators and varying areas sizes (or buffer distances) surrounding schools, with individual diet- and weight- related outcomes in a sample of Canadian school-aged children. Results from the first study were used to inform the second study.

In the first study (Chapter 2), we examined the absolute (number) and relative (proportion) densities of unhealthy food retailers for two food environment indicators: the mRFEI, developed by the CDC, and the CMO/CS/CLO, a recently developed food environment indicator. We also examined the number and proportion of unhealthy food outlets within different geographic areas around schools, including 1600m, 1000m, 800m, FSAs, and CTs. The first part of the study demonstrated that the availability of unhealthy food outlets was associated with lower diet quality and higher weight status when defined with the CMO/CS/CLO indicator, and lower vegetables and fruit consumption when defined with the mRFEI. After adjustment for potential confounders, these associations were no longer evident. Using the mRFEI to assess the community food environment yielded several counterintuitive associations with diet quality and weight status. Compared to the mRFEI, the CMO/CS/CLO indicator was better able to capture the associations with diet and body weight status (based on model fit statistics, which assess how well the model aligns with the data). The second part of the study revealed that within larger areas surrounding schools (i.e. 1600m and FSA), the availability of unhealthy food outlets was associated with lower diet quality and increased body weight status before accounting for potential confounders. Comparison of different geographic areas suggested that 1600m

geographic areas around schools were better able to capture associations compared to smaller areas.

The second study (Chapter 3) used CMO/CS/CLO, the novel food environment indicator, and a larger geographic area to examine the joint effects of the number and proportion of unhealthy food outlets or all food outlets with diet and weight status outcomes. We found that the number of both unhealthy food outlets and all food outlets modified the effect of the proportion of unhealthy food outlets on diet and weight status outcomes. Namely, attending a school in an area saturated with a higher number of unhealthy or any kind of food outlet combined with a higher proportion of unhealthy outlets, resulted in decreased diet quality and vegetables and fruit consumption. These findings suggest that the community food environment plays a role in the development of poor diets and unhealthy weights in children who attend schools in areas with a higher number of unhealthy or any outlets, with unhealthy outlets being the primary type of available outlet within the area.

4.2 Embedding in Existing Literature

A key observation identified in the food environment literature is the abundance of null findings, as well as results that are in the opposite of the hypothesized direction.^{1–4} Even so, community food environments are continuously emphasized as a potential predictor of poor diets and increased weight.^{5,6} A number of methodological issues exist in the food environment literature, which may be contributing to the lack of consistent findings.

The mRFEI and other indicators based on food outlet type do not consider the type of food served or sold at an establishment, which may generate substantial misclassification. The

CDC measure, the mRFEI, defines a less healthy retailer as any fast food restaurant or convenience store.⁷ These food outlet types are typically defined according to NAICS codes, which offer very broad categories.⁸ Existing food retailers have started to change their menus and introduce healthier food options^{9,10}, and new food outlets focused on serving and selling healthy foods have emerged.^{11,12} With these changes, grouping food retailers together based on the amount of service received may be dated. Outlets such as Subway, Chopped Leaf, and Freshii are all considered fast food restaurants, but they offer healthy food options. Classifying these food outlets as less healthy or 'fast food' may dilute or reverse the associations of food environments with diet and weight status outcomes. Indeed, models based on the mRFEI in the first study of this thesis produced coefficients that were in the opposite of the hypothesized direction. Classifying food outlets based on outlet type may be an important culprit that underlies inconsistent or null findings in previous studies.^{1,2,4} Evaluating food retailers at the population level is challenging and using approximations is often the solution. The downside of using approximations or simplifications is the large amount of error that is introduced. Reviewing menus offers improvement and potentially improves precision. However, it is not possible to eliminate the potential for error.

Several studies focused on children have assessed the community food environment using more than one food environment measure (absolute density, relative density, and proximity),^{13–17} but to our knowledge, no study has used two different indicators to classify food retailers and then compared them. In addition, there are no studies in children that include absolute density with relative density. We did this to account for the fact that an area with 2 unhealthy outlets and 2 healthy outlets has a relative density of 1; this is also true for an area that has 50 unhealthy outlets and 50 healthy outlets. However, the potency of the exposure is not the

same. This approach provides a more sophisticated assessment of the food environment than prior studies based on one aspect only.

Many studies have employed multiple geographic areas and boundaries. However, Caspi et al. suggests that some studies may not have found an association because the chosen buffer or boundary was not relevant to the population participating in the study.¹ They suggest rationalizing the buffer distance used. While we compared multiple buffers and boundaries, ultimately, we limited the analyses to larger buffers, as most Albertans reside in car-dependent neighbourhoods, and families often drive within a larger area to source their food.¹⁸ Further, the systematic review by Cobb et al. found that studies that employed a larger geographic area to assess the food environment were more likely to find expected associations compared to using smaller buffers.² Therefore, they suggested that the broader neighbourhood may be more important than immediate surroundings. Both studies within this thesis corroborate these earlier conclusions. Although we conducted our analyses with a sample of school-aged children (10-11 years of age) who may not have the opportunity to walk to and from school, we assumed that children reside in the same neighbourhood as their school, and their parents may source food from food outlets in the surrounding neighbourhood. For this reason, findings may not be easily replicated in other population groups, such as adolescents who are more independent, and adults.

4.3 Strengths and Limitations

This research contains several strengths and limitations that must be considered. Both studies presented in this thesis were cross-sectional, which hinders our ability to establish temporal sequence. Likewise, exposure and outcome data were not collected at the same time; the exposure of interest was derived using a public health inspector's food list from 2016, while
the dietary and weight status outcomes were collected in 2014. However, temporal lag of exposure and outcome data within 2 years is common in food environment research.^{19,20}

The results presented in this thesis considerably differed between univariate and multivariate analyses. Previous studies have adjusted for confounding variables similar to those adjusted for in the present studies. The first study of this thesis examined statistically significant associations before adjusting for confounders. After adjustment, associations were no longer statistically significant. Previous food environment studies have reported null findings after adjustment for confounding variables.^{2,4} Despite adjustment for potential confounders, residual confounding may have persisted.

While the REAL Kids Alberta study collects data from schools across Alberta, we limited our analyses to Edmonton and Calgary, as data on food retailers was only available to us for these two cities. Limiting analyses to children who reside in Edmonton and Calgary precludes the generalizability of our findings. Urban food environments differ greatly from rural food environments, and food environment measures may not be applicable in both urban and rural settings.²¹

Information bias may be present in both studies. Dietary intake was based on self-report, which may be prone to measurement error. Measurement error may have hindered us from capturing the true levels of food intake. Individuals may simply have poor recall and are not able to recall the type and amount of foods that they consume accurately.²² FFQs typically ask participants to recall the types and frequencies of foods consumed over the past year. This may be difficult to remember and quantify, especially for children. Social desirability bias is another type of information bias that should be considered when using self-report data; some participants may regard their diets a sensitive topic and underestimate unhealthy eating or overestimate

98

healthy eating.²³ Regardless of the potential limitations attached to self-report dietary data, use of a validated FFQ remains a cost-effective way to collect complex dietary data and is the primary dietary assessment tool in large epidemiological studies.^{22,24}

A final limitation is that our sample size is relatively small. Food retailer data was only available for Edmonton and Calgary, and once children missing exposure and/or outcome information were removed, the final sample size was 851 students from 39 schools. We ran multiple statistical tests, which may have increased the likelihood of a type 1 error. Despite the smaller sample size, the ICCs obtained from the unconditional null models revealed that heterogeneity existed between schools, but it was low. Therefore, a larger sample size may not be necessary.

While a number of potential limitations exist, this thesis also has a several strengths. Both studies used data from the REAL Kids Alberta population-based study, which collects comprehensive dietary data with a validated FFQ, as well as measured height and weight. It has been suggested that including more than one dietary measure is essential for establishing convergent validity.¹ We assessed the relationship between community food environments with multiple dietary and nutritional outcomes, including the Y-HEI (adapted for the Canadian context), DQI-I (an internationally used index), daily vegetables and fruit consumption, BMI Z scores, and weight status. To assess children's weight status, we used age- and sex- specific Z scores from the WHO, which is the current standard for children.^{25,26} Both studies used a food retailer list from the public health inspector to create exposure variables. This is recommended over business data lists, which are known to be inaccurate.^{27,28} We used both relative and absolute density to capture the food environment, and in the second study we assessed the combined effect of them on diet and weight outcomes. In the first study of this thesis, we

employed a novel food environment indicator comprised of three categories, which was developed in Alberta by a Registered Dietician (RD) who ranked food retailers' menus, and compared it with the CDC's mRFEI, which has only two categories and is more prone to misclassification. We also used several buffer and boundary sizes and compared them to assess which one better captures associations. Lastly, in order to account for clustering of unhealthy food outlets in lower socioeconomic status (SES) neighbourhoods²⁹, we adjusted for area-level SES using a well-established and validated tool.³⁰

4.4 General Implications

The prevalence of unhealthy eating, overweight/obesity, and chronic disease have continued to increase despite healthy eating recommendations.³¹ Obesogenic environments have hindered individual-level interventions from reducing unhealthy eating, overweight/obesity, and chronic disease. Knowledge from the studies presented in this thesis support the notion that surrounding food environments play a role in the quality of food people consume, which thereby influences their weight status. This information can inform policies at the population level, thus contributing to primary prevention of unhealthy eating and increased body weights. Shifting the population distribution through the creation of more leptogenic environments is a promising solution. The CMO/CS/CLO indicator used in this thesis aligns with existing provincial healthy eating recommendations,^{32,33} and therefore lends itself to future revisions of these recommendations and policy developments in general. In addition, it facilitates contextualization of results within existing recommendations, which could be used by policy- and decision-makers.

100

Results from the second study of this thesis suggest that children attending schools in areas with both a higher number and proportion of unhealthy food outlets have worse diets and higher BMIs; therefore, population level interventions are urgently needed. Potential avenues to create healthier food environments may focus on zoning laws, and specifically changing the distribution of unhealthy food outlets. Research from this thesis corroborates recent Canadian research in adults to support the notion that adding healthy food outlets to an area containing an abundance of unhealthy food outlets may lead to changes in healthy eating and weight status by improving the availability healthy food.³⁴ Another strategy is to develop and implement policies that improve the nutrition of foods served at unhealthy food outlets.⁶ Addressing the high prevalence of unhealthy eating, overweight and obesity, and chronic disease is critical to reduce the high levels of premature mortality due to these conditions, and the economic burden that these conditions put on the healthcare system.

Previous studies that focused on one element of the food environment have yielded inconsistent or null findings.^{2,35} Therefore, future research should work to examine the joint effect of both absolute and relative densities of surrounding food environments. Moreover, future studies should not rely on food environment indicators based solely on the type of outlet, and should incorporate information about the foods being served or sold. This thesis focused on a sample of Canadian school-aged children but examined food environment surrounding their schools. Future studies should assess the effect of the food environment surrounding children's residences to corroborate our study findings. Lastly, future studies should assess these relationships in adolescents, who are generally more independent than school-aged children.

101

4.5 Conclusion

The two studies conducted within this thesis provide contributions to the growing food environment literature. Efforts to reduce the prevalence of unhealthy eating, overweight and obesity, and chronic disease in Canada have primarily focused on individual prevention. The creation of health-promoting environments, as suggested by the WHO⁶, offers an important approach that may intensify the effect of the individual level interventions. Making healthy diet changes while surrounded by unhealthy food outlets hinders an individual's ability to make healthy food choices. Local governments should target areas with a higher number of unhealthy food outlets, specifically where there are few alternative healthy options available (high relative proportion of unhealthy outlets) to create supportive food environments where the healthy choice is the easy choice. This thesis contributes important evidence to help build Canadian consensus on effective approaches to reduce the high prevalence of unhealthy eating and excess body weight among Canadian children.

4.6 References

- Caspi CE, Sorensen G, Subramanian SV, Kawachi I. The local food environment and diet: A systematic review. *Health Place*. 2012;18(5):1172-1187. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2012.05.006
- 2. Cobb LK, Appel LJ, Franco M, Jones-Smith JC, Nur A, Anderson CAM. The relationship of the local food environment with obesity: A systematic review of methods, study quality, and results. *Obesity*. 2015;23(7):1331-1344. doi:10.1002/oby.21118
- 3. Rahmanian E, Gasevic D, Vukmirovich I, Lear SA. The association between the built environment and dietary intake a systematic review. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr*. 2014;23(2):183-196. doi:10.6133/apjcn.2014.23.2.08
- 4. Wilkins E, Radley D, Morris M, et al. A systematic review employing the GeoFERN framework to examine methods, reporting quality and associations between the retail food environment and obesity. *Health Place*. 2019;57:186-199. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2019.02.007
- 5. Public Health Agency of Canada, Information, Canadian Institute for Health Information, Government of Canada, Public Health Agency of Canada. Obesity in Canada: A joint report from the Public Health Agency of Canada and the Canadian Institute for Health Information. *Public Heal Agency Canada*. November 2011:54. http://www.healthyenvironmentforkids.ca/sites/healthyenvironmentforkids.ca/files/Obesit y_in_Canada.pdf.
- 6. World Health Organization. *Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases 2013-2020.* Geneva, Switzerland; 2013.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Children's Food Environment State Indicator Report, 2011.*; 2011. https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/downloads/ChildrensFoodEnvironment.pdf.
- Statistics Canada. North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) Canada. https://www.statcan.gc.ca/eng/subjects/standard/naics/2017/index. Published 2017.
- Pisani J. McDonald's puts Happy Meal on a diet as it ditches cheeseburger, chocolate milk options. *The Associated Press*. https://business.financialpost.com/news/retailmarketing/mcdonalds-slims-down-happy-meal-by-banishing-cheeseburgers. Published 2018.
- 10. Sagan A. Canadian Fast-Food Chains Expanding Vegetarian, Vegan Options. *Huffington Post.* https://www.huffingtonpost.ca/2018/08/20/fast-food-chains-vegetarian-options_a_23505433/. Published 2018.
- 11. Worldwide health food chain Freshii coming to Winnipeg. *CBC News*. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/worldwide-health-food-chain-freshii-coming-to-winnipeg-1.3049002. Published 2015.
- 12. Li S. Bye-bye, burgers: New fast-food chains bet on healthy eating. *Los Angeles Times*. https://www.latimes.com/business/la-fi-healthy-fast-food-20141102-story.html. Published 2014.
- 13. Barrett M, Crozier S, Lewis D, et al. Greater access to healthy food outlets in the home and school environment is associated with better dietary quality in young children. *Public Health Nutr.* 2017;20(18):3316-3325. doi:10.1017/S1368980017002075
- 14. Skidmore P, Welch A, van Sluijs E, et al. Impact of neighbourhood food environment on food consumption in children aged 9–10 years in the UK SPEEDY (Sport, Physical

Activity and Eating behaviour: Environmental Determinants in Young people) study. *Public Health Nutr.* 2010;13(07):1022-1030. doi:10.1017/S1368980009992035

- 15. Van Hulst A, Barnett TA, Gauvin L, et al. Associations between children's diets and features of their residential and school neighbourhood food environments. *Can J Public Heal*. 2012;103(SUPPL. 3):S48-S54. doi:10.2307/canajpublheal.103.2012.0s48
- 16. Miller LJ, Joyce S, Carter S, Yun G. Associations between childhood obesity and the availability of food outlets in the local environment: A retrospective cross-sectional study. *Am J Heal Promot.* 2014;28(6):e137-e145. doi:10.4278/ajhp.130214-QUAN-70
- 17. Larsen K, Cook B, Stone MR, Faulkner GEJJ. Food access and children's BMI in Toronto, Ontario: assessing how the food environment relates to overweight and obesity. *Int J Public Health*. 2014;60(1):69-77. doi:10.1007/s00038-014-0620-4
- Macridis S, Loitz C, Fraser S, Bengoechea EG. Using Walk Score® to aid understanding of walking patterns in Alberta: Patterns from 2010-2016 (poster). *J Transp Heal*. 2017;7(2017):S9-S10. doi:10.1016/j.jth.2017.11.016
- Charreire H, Casey R, Salze P, et al. Measuring the food environment using geographical information systems: a methodological review. *Public Health Nutr.* 2010;13(11):1773-1785. doi:10.1017/S1368980010000753
- 20. Burgoine T, Forouhi NG, Griffin SJ, Brage S, Wareham NJ, Monsivais P. Does neighborhood fast-food outlet exposure amplify inequalities in diet and obesity? A cross-sectional study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2016;103(6):1540-1547. doi:10.3945/ajcn.115.128132
- Mahendra A, Polsky JY, Robitaille É, Lefebvre M, McBrien T, Minaker LM. Status report

 Geographic retail food environment measures for use in public health. *Heal Promot* Chronic Dis Prev Canada. 2017;37(10):357-362. doi:10.24095/hpcdp.37.10.06
- 22. Shim J-S, Oh K, Kim HC. Dietary assessment methods in epidemiologic studies. *Epidemiol Health.* July 2014:e2014009. doi:10.4178/epih/e2014009
- 23. Althubaiti A. Information bias in health research: definition, pitfalls, and adjustment methods. *J Multidiscip Healthc*. 2016;9:211. doi:10.2147/JMDH.S104807
- 24. Rockett HRH, Breitenbach M, Frazier AL, et al. Validation of a Youth/Adolescent Food Frequency Questionnaire. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 1997;26(6):808-816. doi:10.1006/pmed.1997.0200
- World Health Organization. The WHO Child Growth Standards. https://www.who.int/childgrowth/standards/en/. Published 2006. Accessed February 14, 2019.
- 26. de Onis M, Onyango AW, Borghi E, Siyam A, Nishida C, Siekmann J. Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. *Bull World Health Organ.* 2007;85(09):660-667. doi:10.2471/BLT.07.043497
- 27. Powell LM, Han E, Zenk SN, et al. Field validation of secondary commercial data sources on the retail food outlet environment in the U.S. *Health Place*. 2011;17(5):1122-1131. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2011.05.010
- Forsyth A, Lytle L, Van Riper D. Finding Food: Issues and challenges in using Geographic Information Systems to measure food access. *J Transp Land Use*. 2011;3(1):43-65. doi:10.5198/jtlu.v3i1.105
- 29. Smoyer-Tomic KE, Spence JC, Raine KD, et al. The association between neighborhood socioeconomic status and exposure to supermarkets and fast food outlets. *Health Place*. 2008;14(4):740-754. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2007.12.001
- 30. Pampalon R, Hamel D, Gamache P, Raymond G. A deprivation index for health planning

in Canada. *Chronic Dis Can.* 2009;29(4):178-191. http://www.kflaphi.ca/wp-content/uploads/DeprivationIndex.pdf.

- 31. Tjepkema M. Measured Obesity. Adult obesity in Canada: Measured height and weight. *Stat Canada Cat.* 2005;(82-620-MWE2005001):1-32.
- 32. Alberta Government. Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth: A Childcare, School and Recreation/Community Centre Resource Manual. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/1c291796-4eb0-4073-be8ebce2d331f9ce/resource/3319786c-1df1-43ca-8693-067f733682dc/download/nutritionguidelines-ab-children-youth.pdf. Published 2012. Accessed September 25, 2018.
- Alberta Government. Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Adults.
 https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/0c8528b1-0e53-4c80-810c-8aacdf525621/resource/5ef8873f-a41f-445c-806e-8de424897fdf/download/nutritionguidelines-ab-adults.pdf. Published 2012. Accessed September 25, 2018.
- 34. Polsky JY, Moineddin R, Dunn JR, Glazier RH, Booth GL. Absolute and relative densities of fast-food versus other restaurants in relation to weight status: Does restaurant mix matter? *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2016;82:28-34. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.11.008
- Lytle LA, Sokol RL. Measures of the food environment: A systematic review of the field, 2007–2015. *Health Place*. 2017;44(November 2016):18-34. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2016.12.007

Bibliography

- 1. Alberta Government. Alberta Community Health Survey (ACHS) Telephone conducted. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/alberta-community-health-survey-achs-telephoneconducted#detailed. Published 2016. Accessed September 25, 2018.
- Alberta Government. Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Adults. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/0c8528b1-0e53-4c80-810c-8aacdf525621/resource/5ef8873f-a41f-445c-806e-8de424897fdf/download/nutritionguidelines-ab-adults.pdf. Published 2012. Accessed September 25, 2018.
- 3. Alberta Government. Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth: A Childcare, School and Recreation/Community Centre Resource Manual. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/1c291796-4eb0-4073-be8ebce2d331f9ce/resource/3319786c-1df1-43ca-8693-067f733682dc/download/nutritionguidelines-ab-children-youth.pdf. Published 2012. Accessed September 25, 2018.
- 4. Alberta Policy Coalition for Chronic Disease Prevention. *Alberta's 2018 Nutrition Report Card on Food Environments for Children and Youth.*; 2018. http://abpolicycoalitionforprevention.ca/evidence/albertas-nutrition-report-card/.
- 5. Althubaiti A. Information bias in health research: definition, pitfalls, and adjustment methods. *J Multidiscip Healthc*. 2016;9:211. doi:10.2147/JMDH.S104807
- 6. An R, Sturm R. School and residential neighborhood food environment and diet among California youth. *Am J Prev Med.* 2012;42(2):129-135. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2011.10.012
- 7. Anis AH, Zhang W, Bansback N, Guh DP, Amarsi Z, Birmingham CL. Obesity and overweight in Canada: an updated cost-of-illness study. *Obes Rev.* 2010;11(1):31-40. doi:10.1111/j.1467-789X.2009.00579.x
- 8. Babey SH, Diamant AL, Hastert TA, et al. Designed for disease: The link between local food environments and obesity and diabetes. *UCLA Cent Heal Policy Res.* 2008:1-10. doi:10.1093/analys/ant117
- 9. Barrett M, Crozier S, Lewis D, et al. Greater access to healthy food outlets in the home and school environment is associated with better dietary quality in young children. *Public Health Nutr.* 2017;20(18):3316-3325. doi:10.1017/S1368980017002075
- 10. Barrientos-Gutierrez T, Moore KAB, Auchincloss AH, et al. Neighborhood physical environment and changes in body mass index: Results from the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2017;186(11):1237-1245. doi:10.1093/aje/kwx186
- 11. Bodicoat DH, Carter P, Comber A, et al. Is the number of fast-food outlets in the neighbourhood related to screen-detected type 2 diabetes mellitus and associated risk factors? *Public Health Nutr*. 2015;18(09):1698-1705. doi:10.1017/S1368980014002316
- 12. Britten P, Marcoe K, Yamini S, Davis C. Development of Food Intake Patterns for the MyPyramid Food Guidance System. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2006;38(6):S78-S92. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2006.08.007
- 13. Burgoine T, Forouhi NG, Griffin SJ, Brage S, Wareham NJ, Monsivais P. Does neighborhood fast-food outlet exposure amplify inequalities in diet and obesity? A cross-sectional study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2016;103(6):1540-1547. doi:10.3945/ajcn.115.128132
- 14. Burgoine T, Forouhi NG, Griffin SJ, Wareham NJ, Monsivais P. Associations between exposure to takeaway food outlets, takeaway food consumption, and body weight in Cambridgeshire, UK: Population based, cross sectional study. *BMJ*. 2014;348(March):1-10. doi:10.1136/bmj.g1464

- Caspi CE, Sorensen G, Subramanian SV, Kawachi I. The local food environment and diet: A systematic review. *Health Place*. 2012;18(5):1172-1187. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2012.05.006
- Center for Health Statistics N. Table 58. Normal weight, overweight, and obesity among adults aged 20 and over, by selected characteristics: United States, selected years 1988–1994 through 2013–2016. 2017:9. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/hus/contents2017.htm#058.
- 17. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Census Tract Level State Maps of the Modified Retail Food Environment Index (mRFEI). 2011;(April):1-54.
- 18. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Children's Food Environment State Indicator Report, 2011.*; 2011.

https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/downloads/ChildrensFoodEnvironment.pdf.

- Cetateanu A, Jones A. Understanding the relationship between food environments, deprivation and childhood overweight and obesity: Evidence from a cross sectional England-wide study. *Health Place*. 2014;27:68-76. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2014.01.007
- Charreire H, Casey R, Salze P, et al. Measuring the food environment using geographical information systems: a methodological review. *Public Health Nutr.* 2010;13(11):1773-1785. doi:10.1017/S1368980010000753
- 21. Christine PJ, Auchincloss AH, Bertoni AG, et al. Longitudinal associations between neighborhood physical and social environments and incident type 2 diabetes mellitus. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2015;175(8):1311. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.2691
- 22. Clary C, Lewis DJ, Flint E, Smith NR, Kestens Y, Cummins S. The Local Food Environment and Fruit and Vegetable Intake: A Geographically Weighted Regression Approach in the ORiEL Study. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2016;184(11):837-846. doi:10.1093/aje/kww073
- 23. Clary C, Matthews SA, Kestens Y. Between exposure, access and use: Reconsidering foodscape influences on dietary behaviours. *Health Place*. 2017;44(January):1-7. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2016.12.005
- 24. Clary CM, Ramos Y, Shareck M, Kestens Y. Should we use absolute or relative measures when assessing foodscape exposure in relation to fruit and vegetable intake? Evidence from a wide-scale Canadian study. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2015;71:83-87. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.11.023
- 25. Cobb LK, Appel LJ, Franco M, Jones-Smith JC, Nur A, Anderson CAM. The relationship of the local food environment with obesity: A systematic review of methods, study quality, and results. *Obesity*. 2015;23(7):1331-1344. doi:10.1002/oby.21118
- 26. Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. *BMJ*. 2000;320(7244):1240-1240. doi:10.1136/bmj.320.7244.1240
- 27. de Onis M, Onyango AW, Borghi E, Siyam A, Nishida C, Siekmann J. Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. *Bull World Health Organ.* 2007;85(09):660-667. doi:10.2471/BLT.07.043497
- 28. DeClercq V, Cui Y, Forbes C, et al. Association between diet quality and adiposity in the Atlantic PATH cohort. *Nutrients*. 2017;9(10):1155. doi:10.3390/nu9101155
- 29. Dietitians of Canada, Canadian Paediatric Society, College of Family Physicians of Canada, et al. Promoting optimal monitoring of child growth in Canada: using the new WHO growth charts. *Can J Diet Pract Res.* 2010;71(1):e1-e3. doi:10.3148/71.1.2010.e1
- 30. Egger G, Swinburn B. An "ecological" approach to the obesity pandemic. BMJ.

1997;315(7106):477-480. doi:10.1136/bmj.315.7106.477

- Engler-Stringer R, Le H, Gerrard A, Muhajarine N. The community and consumer food environment and children's diet: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*. 2014;14(1):522. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-522
- 32. Feng X, Astell-Burt T, Badland H, Mavoa S, Giles-Corti B. Modest ratios of fast food outlets to supermarkets and green grocers are associated with higher body mass index: Longitudinal analysis of a sample of 15,229 Australians aged 45 years and older in the Australian National Liveability Study. *Health Place*. 2018;49:101-110. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2017.10.004
- 33. Feskanich D, Rockett HRH, Colditz GA. Modifying the healthy eating index to assess diet quality in children and adolescents. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2004;104(9):1375-1383. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2004.06.020
- Fitzpatrick C, Datta GD, Henderson M, Gray-Donald K, Kestens Y, Barnett TA. School food environments associated with adiposity in Canadian children. *Int J Obes*. 2017;41(7):1005-1010. doi:10.1038/ijo.2017.39
- Forsyth A, Lytle L, Van Riper D. Finding Food: Issues and challenges in using Geographic Information Systems to measure food access. *J Transp Land Use*. 2011;3(1):43-65. doi:10.5198/jtlu.v3i1.105
- 36. Fryar CD, Carroll MD, Ogden CL. *Prevalence of Overweight, Obesity, and Extreme Obesity among Adults Aged 20 and over: United States, 1960–1962 through 2013–2014.*; 2016.
- 37. Garriguet D. Canadians' Eating Habits. *Heal Reports*. 2007;18(2).
- 38. Garriguet D. Diet quality in Canada. *Heal Reports*. 2009;20(3):41-52. doi:10.14419/ijbas.v3i3.3081
- Ghenadenik AE, Kakinami L, Van Hulst A, Henderson M, Barnett TA. Neighbourhoods and obesity: A prospective study of characteristics of the built environment and their association with adiposity outcomes in children in Montreal, Canada. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2018;111(September 2017):35-40. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2018.02.018
- 40. Glanz K, Sallis JF, Saelens BE, Frank LD. Healthy nutrition environments: concepts and measures. *Am J Health Promot*. 2005;19(5):330-ii. doi:10.4278/0890-1171-19.5.330
- 41. Green MA, Radley D, Lomax N, Morris MA, Griffiths C. Is adolescent body mass index and waist circumference associated with the food environments surrounding schools and homes? A longitudinal analysis. *BMC Public Health*. 2018;18(1):482. doi:10.1186/s12889-018-5383-z
- 42. Greer S, Schieb L, Schwartz G, Onufrak S, Park S. Association of the neighborhood retail food environment with sodium and potassium intake among US adults. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2014;11:130340. doi:10.5888/pcd11.130340
- 43. Gustafson A, Lewis S, Perkins S, Wilson C, Buckner E, Vail A. Neighbourhood and consumer food environment is associated with dietary intake among Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) participants in Fayette County, Kentucky. *Public Health Nutr.* 2013;16(7):1229-1237. doi:10.1017/S1368980013000505
- 44. Hales CM, Carroll MD, Fryar CD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of Obesity Among Adults and Youth: United States, 2015–2016. *NCHS Data Brief*. 2017;20(8):1452-1460. doi:10.1017/S1368980017000088
- 45. Hattori A, An R, Sturm R. Neighborhood food outlets, diet, and obesity among California adults, 2007 and 2009. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2013;10:120123. doi:10.5888/pcd10.120123

- 46. Hawkesworth S, Silverwood RJ, Armstrong B, et al. Investigating the importance of the local food environment for fruit and vegetable intake in older men and women in 20 UK towns: a cross-sectional analysis of two national cohorts using novel methods. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2017;14(1):128. doi:10.1186/s12966-017-0581-0
- 47. He M, Tucker P, Irwin JD, Gilliland J, Larsen K, Hess P. Obesogenic neighbourhoods: the impact of neighbourhood restaurants and convenience stores on adolescents' food consumption behaviours. *Public Health Nutr*. 2012;15(12):2331-2339. doi:10.1017/S1368980012000584
- 48. Health Canada. *Canada's Food Guide*.; 2019. https://food-guide.canada.ca/en/. Accessed March 21, 2019.
- 49. Health Canada. Canadian Guidelines for Body Weight Classification in Adults. Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada.
- 50. Health Canada. *Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide*.; 2011. https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/hc-sc/migration/hc-sc/fn-an/alt_formats/hpfbdgpsa/pdf/food-guide-aliment/print_eatwell_bienmang-eng.pdf. Accessed September 25, 2018.
- 51. Health Canada. *Healthy Eating Strategy*.; 2016.
- 52. Health Canada. Measuring the Food Environment in Canada.; 2013.
- 53. Hollands S, Campbell MK, Gilliland J, Sarma S. A spatial analysis of the association between restaurant density and body mass index in Canadian adults. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2013;57(4):258-264. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2013.07.002
- 54. Hollands S, Campbell MK, Gilliland J, Sarma S. Association between neighbourhood fast-food and full-service restaurant density and body mass index: A cross-sectional study of Canadian adults. *Can J public Heal*. 2014;105(3):e172-e178. doi:10.17269/cjph.105.4287
- 55. Janssen I. The public health burden of obesity in Canada. *Can J Diabetes*. 2013;37(2):90-96. doi:10.1016/j.jcjd.2013.02.059
- Jessri M, Ng AP, L'Abbé MR. Adapting the Healthy Eating Index 2010 for the Canadian Population: Evidence from the Canadian Community Health Survey. *Nutrients*. 2017;9(8):910. doi:10.3390/nu9080910
- 57. Kakinami L, Henderson M, Delvin EE, et al. Association between different growth curve definitions of overweight and obesity and cardiometabolic risk in children. *CMAJ*. 2012;184(10):539-550. doi:10.1503/cmaj.110797
- 58. Keane E, Cullinan J, Perry CP, et al. Dietary quality in children and the role of the local food environment. *SSM Popul Heal*. 2016;2(April):770-777. doi:10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.10.002
- 59. Kim S, Haines PS, Siega-Riz AM, Popkin BM. The Diet Quality Index-International (DQI-I) provides an effective tool for cross-national comparison of diet quality as illustrated by China and the United States. *J Nutr*. 2003;133(11):3476-3484. doi:10.1093/jn/133.11.3476
- Kirk SFL, Kuhle S, McIsaac J-LD, et al. Food security status among grade 5 students in Nova Scotia, Canada and its association with health outcomes. *Public Health Nutr*. 2015;18(16):2943-2951. doi:10.1017/S1368980014001414
- 61. Kirkpatrick SI, Reedy J, Butler EN, et al. Dietary assessment in food environment research: A systematic review. *Am J Prev Med.* 2014;46(1):94-102. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2013.08.015

- 62. Kuczmarski RJ, Ogden CL, Grummer-Strawn LM, et al. *CDC Growth Charts: US. Advance Data from Vital and Health Statistics No. 314. NCHS.* Vol 314. Hyattsville, MD, MD; 2000.
- 63. Kuhle S, Veugelers PJ. Why does the social gradient in health not apply to overweight? *Heal Reports*. 2008;19(4):7-15.
- 64. Larsen K, Cook B, Stone MR, Faulkner GEJJ. Food access and children's BMI in Toronto, Ontario: assessing how the food environment relates to overweight and obesity. *Int J Public Health*. 2014;60(1):69-77. doi:10.1007/s00038-014-0620-4
- 65. Laska MN, Hearst MO, Forsyth A, Pasch KE, Lytle L. Neighbourhood food environments: are they associated with adolescent dietary intake, food purchases and weight status? *Public Health Nutr*. 2010;13(11):1757-1763. doi:10.1017/S1368980010001564
- 66. Ledikwe JH, Blanck HM, Khan LK, et al. Dietary energy density is associated with energy intake and weight status in US adults. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2006;83:1362-1368.
- 67. Lee H. The role of local food availability in explaining obesity risk among young schoolaged children. *Soc Sci Med.* 2012;74(8):1193-1203. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.12.036
- 68. Li S. Bye-bye, burgers: New fast-food chains bet on healthy eating. *Los Angeles Times*. 2014.
- 69. Liebman M, Pelican S, Moore SA, et al. Dietary intake, eating behavior, and physical activity-related determinants of high body mass index in rural communities in Wyoming, Montana, and Idaho. *Int J Obes*. 2003;27(6):684-692.
- Lieffers JRL, Ekwaru JP, Ohinmaa A, Veugelers PJ. The economic burden of not meeting food recommendations in Canada: The cost of doing nothing. Meyre D, ed. *PLoS One*. 2018;13(4):e0196333. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0196333
- Lind PL, Jensen P V., Glümer C, Toft U, Glumer C, Toft U. The association between accessibility of local convenience stores and unhealthy diet. *Eur J Public Health*. 2016;26(4):634-639. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckv242
- Lytle LA, Sokol RL. Measures of the food environment: A systematic review of the field, 2007–2015. *Health Place*. 2017;44(November 2016):18-34. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2016.12.007
- Macridis S, Loitz C, Fraser S, Bengoechea EG. Using Walk Score® to aid understanding of walking patterns in Alberta: Patterns from 2010-2016 (poster). *J Transp Heal*. 2017;7(2017):S9-S10. doi:10.1016/j.jth.2017.11.016
- 74. Mahendra A, Polsky JY, Robitaille É, Lefebvre M, McBrien T, Minaker LM. Status report

 Geographic retail food environment measures for use in public health. *Heal Promot* Chronic Dis Prev Canada. 2017;37(10):357-362. doi:10.24095/hpcdp.37.10.06
- 75. Malik VS, Schulze MB, Hu FB. Intake of sugar-sweetened beverages and weight gain: a systematic review. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2006;84(2):274-288. doi:10.1093/ajcn/84.1.274
- 76. McInerney M, Csizmadi I, Friedenreich CM, et al. Associations between the neighbourhood food environment, neighbourhood socioeconomic status, and diet quality: An observational study. *BMC Public Health*. 2016;16(1):984. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3631-7
- 77. McInerney M, Ho V, Koushik A, et al. Addition of food group equivalents to the Canadian Diet History Questionnaire II for the estimation of the Canadian Healthy Eating Index-2005. *Heal Promot Chronic Dis Prev Canada*. 2018;38(3):125-134. doi:10.24095/hpcdp.38.3.03

- 78. Mehta NK, Chang VW. Weight status and restaurant availability: A multilevel analysis. *Am J Prev Med.* 2008;34(2):127-133. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2007.09.031
- 79. Mejia N, Lightstone AS, Basurto-Davila R, Morales DM, Sturm R. Neighborhood Food Environment, Diet, and Obesity Among Los Angeles County Adults, 2011. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2015;12:150078. doi:10.5888/pcd12.150078
- Mercille G, Richard L, Gauvin L, et al. Associations between residential food environment and dietary patterns in urban-dwelling older adults: results from the VoisiNuAge study. *Public Health Nutr*. 2012;15(11):2026-2039. doi:10.1017/S136898001200273X
- 81. Mercille G, Richard L, Gauvin L, et al. The food environment and diet quality of urbandwelling older women and men: Assessing the moderating role of diet knowledge. *Can J Public Heal*. 2016;107(S1):eS34-eS41. doi:10.17269/CJPH.107.5309
- 82. Mezuk B, Li X, Cederin K, Rice K, Sundquist J, Sundquist K. Beyond access: Characteristics of the food environment and risk of diabetes. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2016;183(12):1129-1137. doi:10.1093/aje/kwv318
- Minaker LM, Shuh A, Olstad DL, Engler-Stringer R, Black JL, Mah CL. Retail food environments research in Canada: A scoping review. *Can J Public Heal*. 2016;107(S1):eS4-eS13. doi:10.17269/CJPH.107.5344
- 84. Munasinghe LL, Willows N, Yuan Y, Veugelers PJ. The prevalence and determinants of use of vitamin D supplements among children in Alberta, Canada: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*. 2015;15(1):1063. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-2404-z
- 85. OECD. Obesity Update 2017.; 2017. doi:10.1007/s11428-017-0241-7
- 86. Ogden CL, Fakhouri TH, Carroll MD, et al. Prevalence of obesity among adults, by household income and education United States, 2011–2014. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2017;66(50):1369-1373. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6650a1
- 87. Ogilvie KK, Eggleton A. Obesity in Canada: A whole-of-society approach for a healthier Canada. http://www.parl.gc.ca/content/sen/committee/421/SOCI/Reports/2016-02-25_Revised_report_Obesity_in_Canada_e.pdf. Published 2016. Accessed October 14, 2018.
- 88. Pampalon R, Hamel D, Gamache P, Philibert MD, Raymond G, Simpson A. An areabased material and social deprivation index for public health in Québec and Canada. *Can J Public Heal*. 2012;103(SUPPL.2):17-22. doi:10.17269/cjph.103.3156
- 89. Pampalon R, Hamel D, Gamache P, Raymond G. A deprivation index for health planning in Canada. *Chronic Dis Can.* 2009;29(4):178-191. http://www.kflaphi.ca/wp-content/uploads/DeprivationIndex.pdf.
- 90. Paquet C, Coffee NT, Haren MT, et al. Food environment, walkability, and public open spaces are associated with incident development of cardio-metabolic risk factors in a biomedical cohort. *Health Place*. 2014;28:173-176. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2014.05.001
- 91. Pisani J. McDonald's puts Happy Meal on a diet as it ditches cheeseburger, chocolate milk options. *The Associated Press*. 2018.
- 92. Polsky JY, Moineddin R, Dunn JR, Glazier RH, Booth GL. Absolute and relative densities of fast-food versus other restaurants in relation to weight status: Does restaurant mix matter? *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2016;82:28-34. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.11.008
- 93. Polsky JY, Moineddin R, Glazier RH, Dunn JR, Booth GL. Foodscapes of southern Ontario: Neighbourhood deprivation and access to healthy and unhealthy food retail. *Can J Public Heal*. 2014;105(5):e369-e375. doi:10.17269/cjph.105.4541

- 94. Polsky JY, Moineddin R, Glazier RH, Dunn JR, Booth GL. Relative and absolute availability of fast-food restaurants in relation to the development of diabetes: A population-based cohort study. *Can J Public Heal*. 2016;107(S1):eS27-eS33. doi:10.17269/CJPH.107.5312
- 95. Powell LM, Han E, Zenk SN, et al. Field validation of secondary commercial data sources on the retail food outlet environment in the U.S. *Health Place*. 2011;17(5):1122-1131. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2011.05.010
- 96. Public Health Agency of Canada, Information, Canadian Institute for Health Information, Government of Canada, Public Health Agency of Canada. Obesity in Canada: A joint report from the Public Health Agency of Canada and the Canadian Institute for Health Information. *Public Heal Agency Canada*. November 2011:54. http://www.healthyenvironmentforkids.ca/sites/healthyenvironmentforkids.ca/files/Obesit v in Canada.pdf.
- 97. Public Health Agency of Canada. *How Healthy Are Canadians? A Trend Analysis of the Health of Canadians from a Healthy Living and Chronic Disease Perspective.*; 2016. doi:82-003-SPE
- 98. Rahmanian E, Gasevic D, Vukmirovich I, Lear SA. The association between the built environment and dietary intake a systematic review. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr*. 2014;23(2):183-196. doi:10.6133/apjcn.2014.23.2.08
- 99. Rideout K, Mah CL, Minaker L. Food Environments: An Introduction for Public Health Practice.; 2015.
 http://www.ncceh.ca/sites/default/files/Food_Environments_Public_Health_Practice_Dec 2015.pdf.
- 100. Roberts KC, Rao DP, Bennett TL, Loukine L, Jayaraman GC. Prevalence and patterns of chronic disease multimorbidity and associated determinants in Canada. *Heal Promot Chronic Dis Prev Canada*. 2015;35(6):87-94. doi:10.24095/hpcdp.35.6.01
- 101. Rockett HR., Wolf AM, Colditz GA. Development and Reproducibility of a Food Frequency Questionnaire to Assess Diets of Older Children and Adolescents. J Am Diet Assoc. 1995;95(3):336-340. doi:10.1016/S0002-8223(95)00086-0
- 102. Rockett HRH, Breitenbach M, Frazier AL, et al. Validation of a Youth/Adolescent Food Frequency Questionnaire. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 1997;26(6):808-816. doi:10.1006/pmed.1997.0200
- 103. Rummo PE, Guilkey DK, Ng SW, et al. Understanding bias in relationships between the food environment and diet quality: the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) study. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2017;71(12):jech-2017-209158. doi:10.1136/jech-2017-209158
- 104. Sagan A. Canadian Fast-Food Chains Expanding Vegetarian, Vegan Options. *Huffington Post.* 2018.
- 105. Setayeshgar S, Maximova K, Ekwaru JP, et al. Diet quality as measured by the Diet Quality Index–International is associated with prospective changes in body fat among Canadian children. *Public Health Nutr*. 2017;20(03):456-463. doi:10.1017/S1368980016002500
- 106. Shields M, Gorber SSC, Tremblay MS, et al. Estimates of obesity based on self-report versus direct measures. *Stat Canada Cat.* 2008;19(2):1-16. doi:10.5848/dos.978-1-909293-44-1_8
- 107. Shim J-S, Oh K, Kim HC. Dietary assessment methods in epidemiologic studies.

Epidemiol Health. July 2014:e2014009. doi:10.4178/epih/e2014009

- 108. Skidmore P, Welch A, van Sluijs E, et al. Impact of neighbourhood food environment on food consumption in children aged 9–10 years in the UK SPEEDY (Sport, Physical Activity and Eating behaviour: Environmental Determinants in Young people) study. *Public Health Nutr*. 2010;13(07):1022-1030. doi:10.1017/S1368980009992035
- 109. Smoyer-Tomic KE, Spence JC, Raine KD, et al. The association between neighborhood socioeconomic status and exposure to supermarkets and fast food outlets. *Health Place*. 2008;14(4):740-754. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2007.12.001
- 110. Spence JC, Cutumisu N, Edwards J, Raine KD, Smoyer-Tomic K. Relation between local food environments and obesity among adults. *BMC Public Health*. 2009;9(1):192. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-9-192
- 111. Statistics Canada. Canadian Health Measures Survey: Household and physical measures data, 2012 to 2013. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-625-x/2014001/article/14105eng.htm. Published 2014. Accessed October 18, 2018.
- 112. Statistics Canada. Census Dictionary. *Cat no 98-301-X2011001*. 2012;(98):114-117. doi:92-566-X
- 113. Statistics Canada. Forward Sortation Area—Definition. https://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/bsf-osb.nsf/eng/br03396.html.
- 114. Statistics Canada. Fruit and vegetable consumption, 2016. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-625-x/2017001/article/54860-eng.htm. Published 2017. Accessed October 18, 2018.
- 115. Statistics Canada. *Healthy People Healthy Places: Adult Body Mass Index (BMI)*.; 2010:29-33.
- 116. Statistics Canada. North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) Canada. https://www.statcan.gc.ca/eng/subjects/standard/naics/2017/index. Published 2017.
- Statistics Canada. Table 13-10-0096-12 Fruit and vegetable consumption, 5 times or more per day, by age group. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310009612. Accessed November 2, 2018.
- 118. Statistics Canada. Table 13-10-0795-01 Measured children and youth body mass index (BMI) (World Health Organization classification), by age group and sex, Canada and provinces, Canadian Community Health Survey - Nutrition. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310079401. Published 2015. Accessed November 3, 2018.
- 119. Swinburn BA, Egger G, Raza F, et al. Dissecting obesogenic environments: The development and application of a framework for identifying and prioritizing environmental interventions for obesity. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 1999;29(6):563-570. doi:10.1006/pmed.1999.0585
- 120. Swinburn BA, Sacks G, Hall KD, et al. The global obesity pandemic: shaped by global drivers and local environments. *Lancet*. 2011;378(9793):804-814. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60813-1
- 121. The GBD 2015 Obesity Collaborators, Afshin A, MH. F, MB. R, et al., Collaborators G 2015 O. Health effects of overweight and obesity in 195 countries over 25 years. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(1):13-27. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1614362
- 122. Timperio A, Ball K, Roberts R, Campbell K, Andrianopoulos N, Crawford D. Children's fruit and vegetable intake: Associations with the neighbourhood food environment. *Prev*

Med (Baltim). 2008;46(4):331-335. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2007.11.011

- 123. Timperio AF, Ball K, Roberts R, Andrianopoulos N, Crawford DA. Children's takeaway and fast-food intakes: associations with the neighbourhood food environment. *Public Health Nutr*. 2009;12(10):1960. doi:10.1017/S1368980009004959
- 124. Tjepkema M. Measured Obesity. Adult obesity in Canada: Measured height and weight. *Stat Canada Cat.* 2005;(82-620-MWE2005001):1-32.
- 125. Unger E, Diez-Roux A V., Lloyd-Jones DM, et al. Association of neighborhood characteristics with cardiovascular health in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes*. 2014;7(4):524-531. doi:10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.113.000698
- 126. Van Hulst A, Barnett TA, Gauvin L, et al. Associations between children's diets and features of their residential and school neighbourhood food environments. *Can J Public Heal*. 2012;103(SUPPL. 3):S48-S54. doi:10.2307/canajpublheal.103.2012.0s48
- 127. Vanderlee L, Goorang S, Karbasy K, Schermel A, L'Abbé M. Creating Healthier Food Environments in Canada: Current Policies and Priority Actions.; 2017. http://labbelab.utoronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/FoodEPI_SK_Report_WEB-FINAL.pdf.
- 128. Wark PA, Hardie LJ, Frost GS, et al. Validity of an online 24-h recall tool (myfood24) for dietary assessment in population studies: comparison with biomarkers and standard interviews. *BMC Med.* 2018;16(1):136. doi:10.1186/s12916-018-1113-8
- 129. Wilkins E, Radley D, Morris M, et al. A systematic review employing the GeoFERN framework to examine methods, reporting quality and associations between the retail food environment and obesity. *Health Place*. 2019;57:186-199. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2019.02.007
- 130. Willet W. *Nutritional Epidemiology, Third Edition*. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2012.
- 131. Wirt A, Collins CE. Diet quality what is it and does it matter? *Public Health Nutr*. 2009;12(12):2473. doi:10.1017/S136898000900531X
- 132. World Health Organization. *Diet, Nutrition and the Prevention of Chronic Diseases.*; 2003.

http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubmed&id=12768890&ret mode=ref&cmd=prlinks%5Cnpapers3://publication/uuid/734F6B31-260B-4545-A8E4-57F7D35DDEB8. Accessed October 18, 2018.

- 133. World Health Organization. *Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases 2013-2020.* Geneva, Switzerland; 2013.
- 134. World Health Organization. Non Communicable Diseases Progress Monitor 2017.; 2017. doi:10.2766/120051
- 135. World Health Organization. Obesity and Overweight: Key Facts. World Health Organization. doi:10.1364/AO.50.004115
- World Health Organization. The WHO Child Growth Standards. https://www.who.int/childgrowth/standards/en/. Published 2006. Accessed February 14, 2019.
- 137. World Health Organization. *World Health Statistics 2018: Monitoring Health for the SDGs.*; 2018. https://www.who.int/gho/publications/world_health_statistics/2018/en/. Accessed October 18, 2018.
- 138. Worldwide health food chain Freshii coming to Winnipeg. CBC News. 2015.

- 139. Wu XY, Ohinmaa A, Veugelers PJ. Diet quality, physical activity, body weight and health-related quality of life among grade 5 students in Canada. *Public Health Nutr*. 2012;15(1):75-81. doi:10.1017/S1368980011002412
- 140. Yu ZM, DeClercq V, Cui Y, et al. Fruit and vegetable intake and body adiposity among populations in Eastern Canada: the Atlantic Partnership for Tomorrow's Health Study. *BMJ Open.* 2018;8(4):e018060. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018060

Appendix A: Food Retailer Classifications for CMO/CS/CLO and mRFEI



	mRFEI	CMO/CS/CLO
岩 CHOPPEDLEAF [™]	Less Healthy	Choose Most Often
McDonald's	Less Healthy	Choose Least Often
Tim Hortons.	Less Healthy	Choose Sometimes
Sobeys	Healthy	Choose Most Often

	β (95%CI)	p-value
Y-HEI	· · · · ·	
%CLO	-0.096 (-0.21, 0.014)	0.088
#CLO	0.0071 (-0.033, 0.047)	0.73
Gender	-1.49 (-2.70, -0.28)	0.016
Total energy	0.0014 (0.00084, 0.0019)	<0.001
Education		
High school or less	1.47 (-1.66, 4.60)	0.36
College/University	1.79 (-1.21, 4.79)	0.24
Graduate university	2.56 (-0.60, 5.73)	0.11
Income		
Less than \$25,000	-1.76 (-4.35, 0.84)	0.19
\$25,000-\$50,000	-3.84 (-5.96, -1.72)	<0.001
\$50,001=\$75,000	0.048 (-2.32, 2.42)	0.97
\$75,001-\$100,000	0.97 (-1.27, 3.20)	0.40
>\$100,000	0.82 (-0.83, 2.48)	0.33
Material Deprivation		
Q2	-1.78 (-4.48, 0.92)	0.20
Q3	-1.80 (-4.69, 1.10)	0.22
Q4	-2.80 (-5.82, 0.21)	0.068
Q5	-3.07 (-6.28, 0.14)	0.061
DQI-I		
%CLO	-0.0085 (-0.11, 0.089)	0.86
#CLO	-0.0084 (-0.043, 0.026)	0.63
Gender	-0.50 (-1.79, 0.79)	0.45
Total energy	0.0041 (0.0036, 0.0047)	<0.001
Education		
High school or less	0.059 (-3.28, 3.40)	0.97
College/University	0.38 (-2.82, 3.57)	0.82
Graduate university	2.42 (-0.95, 5.80)	0.16
Income		
Less than \$25,000	0.85 (-1.91, 3.61)	0.54
\$25,000-\$50,000	-2.21 (-4.46, 0.053)	0.056
\$50,001=\$75,000	1.54 (-0.98, 4.07)	0.23
\$75,001-\$100,000	-0.92 (-3.31, 1.46)	0.45
>\$100,000	-0.19 (-1.95, 1.57)	0.83
Material Deprivation		
Q2	-2.0 (-4.16, 0.17)	0.071
Q3	-0.84 (-3.30, 1.62)	0.50
Q4	-1.55 (-4.12, 1.03)	0.24
Q5	-2.27 (-5.11, 0.58)	0.12
VF consumption		
%CLO	-0.025 (-0.055, 0.0051)	0.10
#CLO	0.00047 (-0.010, 0.011)	0.93

Appendix B: Fully adjusted associations of %CLO and #CLO food outlets with dietary and weight status outcomes within 1600m of schools in the REAL Kids Alberta Study (n=851)

Gender	0.029 (-0.32, 0.38)	0.87
Total energy	0.0023 (0.0022, 0.0025)	<0.001
Education		
High school or less	0.51 (-0.40, 1.43)	0.27
College/University	0.098 (-0.78, 0.97)	0.83
Graduate university	0.30 (-0.63, 1.22)	0.53
Income		
Less than \$25,000	0.0075 (-0.75, 0.76)	0.98
\$25,000-\$50,000	-0.41 (-1.03, 0.21)	0.20
\$50,001=\$75,000	-0.16 (-0.86, 0.53)	0.64
\$75.001-\$100.000	-0.075 (-0.73, 0.58)	0.82
>\$100,000	0.30 (-0.18, 0.79)	0.22
Material Deprivation		
O2	-0.24 (-0.96, 0.48)	0.51
Õ3	-0.18 (-0.97, 0.60)	0.65
04	0.11 (-0.71, 0.92)	0.80
05	-0.27 (-1.15, 0.61)	0.55
BMI Z Score		
%CLO	0.015 (0.000029, 0.030)	0.50
#CLO	0.0052 (-0.00020, 0.011)	0.059
Gender	0.22 (0.043, 0.39)	0.014
РАО-С	-0.14 (-0.27, -0.011)	0.034
Education		
High school or less	-0.14 (-0.58, 0.30)	0.53
College/University	-0.056 (-0.48, 0.36)	0.79
Graduate university	0.13 (-0.31, 0.58)	0.56
Income		
Less than \$25,000	0.26 (-0.10, 0.62)	0.16
\$25,000-\$50,000	-0.024 (-0.32, 0.27)	0.87
\$50,001=\$75,000	-0.00062 (-0.33, 0.33)	0.99
\$75,001-\$100,000	-0.035 (-0.35, 0.28)	0.83
>\$100,000	-0.24 (-0.47, -0.0083)	0.042
Material Deprivation		
Q2	0.39 (0.029, 0.75)	0.034
Q3	0.35 (-0.040, 0.74)	0.079
Q4	0.24 (-0.16, 0.64)	0.25
Q5	0.35 (-0.084, 0.78)	0.12
	OR(95%CI)	p-value
Overweight/obese		
%CLO	1.02 (0.99, 1.04)	0.14
#CLO	1.01 (1.00, 1.01)	0.14
Gender	1.53 (1.14, 2.07)	0.005
PAQ-C	0.73 (0.58, 0.91)	0.005
Education		
High school or less	0.95 (0.45, 1.98)	0.89
College/University	0.96 (0.48, 1.96)	0.92

Graduate university	1.37 (0.65, 2.89)	0.41
Income		
Less than \$25,000	1.35 (0.73, 2.49)	0.33
\$25,000-\$50,000	0.86 (0.53, 1.41)	0.56
\$50,001=\$75,000	1.12 (0.64, 1.96)	0.68
\$75,001-\$100,000	0.99 (0.58, 1.68)	0.97
>\$100,000	0.70 (0.46, 1.05)	0.082
Material Deprivation		
Q2	3.02 (1.71, 5.35)	<0.001
Q3	2.84 (1.51, 5.32)	0.001
Q4	2.67 (1.40, 5.08)	0.003
Q5	2.71 (1.35, 5.44)	0.005

1. β coefficients and 95% confidence interval (95%CI) from multilevel mixed-effect linear regression models.

2. Odds ratios (OR) and 95%CI from multilevel mixed-effect logistic regression models.

3. Y-HEI = Youth Healthy Eating Index; DQI-I = Diet Quality Index-International; VF = Vegetables and Fruit; BMI = Body Mass Index; PAQ = Physical Activity Questionnaire for Children score; %CLO = proportion of CLO food outlets relative to all; #CLO = number of CLO food outlets.

4. Reference groups for income and education are 'missing/prefer not to answer'; Reference group for gender is 'female; Reference group for material deprivation is 'Q1'.

5. Bolded results are statistically significant (p < 0.05).